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China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited promotes brand repositioning,
highlighting the quality of its beers and showcasing the innovative beer-making
techniques the Company uses to ensure customers enjoy its products’ unique
flavours and heritage. Meanwhile, the Company’s brand “ZE%& Snow” introduces
new products that cater to the needs of young consumers. In order to achieve
sustainable development in the future, “E4& Snow” strives to redefine beer culture
in China, keeps classic flavours and sense of craftsmanship, while setting trends
through innovation.
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COMPANY PROFILE AND GROUP STRUCTURE
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CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLD
COMPANY LIMITED

China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limi e i
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), listed "j-
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock' code:
00291), is a beer listed subsidiary company of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”). The Group focuses on the
manufacturing, sales and distribution of beer products.

In 2015, the Company successfully completed its business
restructuring and transformed itself into a beer-focused
enterprise, and was renamed from “China Resources Enterprise,
Limited” to “China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited”.
In October 2016, the Company completed the acquisition of 49%
stake of China Resources Snow Breweries Limited (“CRSB”),
which became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

The Group has been in the beer business in China since 1994. Its
total beer sales volume ranked number one in the China market
since 2006. The flagship brand “EJE Snow” is the largest beer
brand by volume worldwide.

As a member of China Resources Group, we are dedicated to
leading the business progress and building a better life together
with our consumers, shareholders, staff and business partners,
and make the Group a trusted and beloved beer enterprise.

EH (EME) AT
CHINA RESOURCES

(HOLDINGS)
COMPANY LIMITED

3 W (4 RO A R 2
CHINA RESOURCES BEER
(HOLDINGS) COMPANY
LIMITED

>

FHEEREWARA G
CHINA RESOURCES
SNOW BREWERIES
LIMITED

>

51.91%* 100%*

*(RZE—+tF+=-A=+—8H)
(As at 31 December 2017)
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MILESTONES IN 2017

3HAMARCH

EHIZEEEHILRIVETHREAREEBRIER @ TRIRFEFLL100
The relocation project for CRSB Wuhan factory in Hubei commenced.
annual production capacity will be approximately 1 million kilolit
the completion.

b
[REBABMIERBAEE ] HEEDHEREMD  ERARMEES + SF8
M ISHEBRRE] RF)JEF - 6828 - 23 RBABTHINE E—EURER
HEBENGING, 155 KMMARE ABTENILIE - ZBE S EEE [ER - k8 8l
1 BB AR '
The flagship campaign “Snow Great Expedition, Challenge the Unclimbed by
College Student” kicked-off across the country, marking the launch of “Snow
Great Expedition” for the thirteenth consecutive year. On 2 June, 23 brave
undergraduates conquered an unclimbed 5,155-meter-high peak in Diging in
Yunnan Province. The campaign conveys the spirit of “ambitious, challenge
and innovative”.

4 HAPRIL

MR R AR Chnbrand 346 [ 2017 F Bl aa b 7138 8(C-BPI®) | midHE& - [E
1€ Snow | EBBEEMFALE BB REHITHEE—F] -

Chnbrand, a brand rating agency, released “2017 China Brand Power Index
(C-BPI®)”, “E7E Snow” beer ranked number one on the “Beer Brand List” for
the fourth consecutive years.

6HJUNE

St Snow | BB MR ERERHEBYNTIEE ST A [2017FHB500
RABERE] REEEHIERAREK1,228.36(87T - BIIFE 280 °
“E1E Snow” was named the “China’s 500 Most Valued Brands Top 2017” by
The World Brand Laboratory and its independent judge panel. It ranked 28th
and its brand value was accessed at RMB122,836 million.

10HOCTOBER

EHSERARERTREESHEBEEN [2017FEESRNEES T8& - FEMEEERD ] - AXS
[E1E Snow | BWBEHFBEESITEELOER

CRSB was awarded the “2017 China Advertising Great-wall Awards - The Best Branding Case Study of
the Year” organized by the China Advertising Association, which recognized the contribution of “Z7&
Snow” beer to the advertising industry in China.

MR ET AR REChnbrand 345 [ 2017 F R BRI EE R M B E 5 EU(C-CSI®) | mnhgHES - [T Snow| EEE=F
REBRRITHEE % °

“ETE Snow” was named the top beer brand in the “2017 China Consumer Satisfaction Index (C-CSI®)”
by Chnbrand, a brand rating agency, for the third consecutive year.

HEPE (k) M AE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
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MILESTONES IN 2017

1TANOVEMBER

TETENERELGEEMRRT OREBN CO6FHEETERE) 216 T161E
ERTENTERTEREY  EHSIEREUSSHUIIRMITEE —F -

The Research Centre for Social Responsibility of Chinese Academy of Social
Sciences released the “2016 Blue Book of Corporate Social Responsibility”
and revealed the social responsibility development index of 16 key
industries. CRSB scored 83 marks and ranked second in the food industry.

RS EL [BR0 ] FER - BE [ RRATERIOEE  WIEHXE]

[fE ] [kl R [EE | NERBERBBRRETEEREA - NRRRERREE

BEFB® -

CRSB launched its new product line, “Concept Series”, which enhanced the overall
style of various products including “Brave the World”, “Draft Beer”, “Male Opera
Mask” and “Female Opera Mask” with the theme “You Define Your Future” The new
product line enhanced the brand image and diversified customer experience.

EBRREEGDM [BBEELENE] BRLE - EHSLWHE (/) R
REIREESIEEE (W)I) BRETAFTDNEARETFRRICESHE [F
BRELPERE - BHRRTIER (KRB - ¥ —EEE] - UXRHHEH
BITRERBRNHES KR -

China Resources Snow Breweries (Henan) Co., Ltd. and China Resources
Snow Breweries (Sichuan) Co., Ltd. were awarded the “Hong Kong Green
Awards - Green Management Award (Large Corporation) — Corporate —
Merit” for the first time by the Hong Kong Green Council in recognition of
their efforts in implementing environmental protection policy.

12A DECEMBER

REBFARMNTILENRES TRIRERERIAR EXRE - FERL208ETH -
The relocation and expansion project of Qinhuangdao factory under Tianjin
regional company in Hebei Province commenced operation. The annual
production capacity will be approximately 0.2 million kiloliters.

BATISENARRIRERS - R2017F12 ARHKMEAE28.057T  TE
BB EEIO0ETT - W2016F L REBMBE0% + IEALR AN 20155 BT EH %
BeOREMNTENS °

The Company’s share price closed at HK$28.05 as at the end of December
2017, with a market capitalization of over HK$90 billion, a growth of over
80% compared to 2016. It marks a record high in both the share price and
market capitalization since the Company focused on beer business in 2015.
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China Financial Market
2016 EIRME LT AR KK
China Financial Market Listed
Company Awards 2016

R RE
AWARDS AND RECOGNITION IN 2017

2HFEBRUARY

MerComm, Inc.

Mercury Awards

20155 F ] — BERR ¢

HE M RIR 5

Annual Report 2015 - Overall
Presentation: Silver (Consumer

HARIMEEE Goods)
Most Valuable Brand Award

3 A MARCH

— (THERER) M (THLEER) B

feieh E’“"‘““ Corporate Corporate Governance
Governance Asia Asia
2016 FEEM i 2016 FEEMBEERRERE
EERG AR Corporate Governance Asia
Corporate Director of the Recognition Awards 2016
Year Award 2016 TN DB L 8E
TENEESR Asia’s Icon on Corporate

4 H AP RI L Asian Corporate Director Governance

(ENBT) 55 (HE#)

Yazhou Zhoukan The Mirror

2 HRER 10008171 ERERECELESEER
Global Chinese Business  The 6th Outstanding

1000 Ranking Corporate Social
2016FEZAERR Responsibility Award

R E A B RING R & BT

The Largest Food and Outstanding Corporate Social
Beverage Company Responsibility Award

Award 2016

Ortam Corperste Dot hwaid
LLEL TR T L]

ira P

ERenERERLY |

IR Awards 2017

CEMREER) M

Corporate Governance Asia

S HMAY

ERREEEELe 2017 FEBNERRRRB AR

. Asian Excellence Recognition
Hong I.(orl'ng Investor Relations 6 H ]UNE Dwarde 2017
Association i TMBAEEENTE REERER)
B EEBRESEREAE HinE Asia’s Best CEO (Investor Relations)
HKIRA 3rd Investor Relations Awards Oxfam TNREERMEE (REERMER)

Asia’s Best CFO (Investor Relations)

RERBEEBERIR — PR

U ECEEHTTE2016-2017
Best IR Company — Mid Cap -

Corporate Donor Programme REREEBERLE
EREEBRENH — R AR 2016-2017 Best Investor Relations Company
Best IR Presentation Collaterals — Mid Cap G DS EEEAEMEAS
Oxfam Corporate Donor Award Best Investor Relations Professional

HEPE (k) M AE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
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TOP BR ASIA-PACIFIC

REERE SRR
League of American

Communications
Professionals LLC (LACP)

2016 VisionE 3R L B K 42
2016 Vision Awards Annual
Report Competition
SHEMAER ¢ REE
Consumer Consumables
Category: Silver Award

AR F #8058 HE 4 F65L
Ranked 65th in Top 80 Winners
Reports — Asia-Pacific Region

T B F 4058
Top 40 Chinese Reports

1TANOVEMBER

EERESMMAGE

The Hong Kong Institute

of Financial Analysts and
Professional Commentators
Limited

2017 FEEEBRESMAHE LT AR
R

IFAPC Outstanding Listed Company
Award 2017

ERRARFEEAR

Outstanding Listed Company of the Year

(MEPE) M

Fortune China

P EI5005R ¥
Fortune China 500

B5I|E 22201
Ranked 222nd

(BBRESE) MR

Institutional Investor

2017 SNEAREREERRAE
The All-Asia Executive Team
Survey 2017
TNEZEHEEZ —

One of Asia’s Most Honored
Companies

BEREEBEEAE (BEHE—
ZCBARERE=F - HEH
EmER)

Best Investor Relations
Professional (Sell Side first
place, Buy Side and Sell Side
third place — Consumer staple
sector)

FEHRREZMNAER
Hong Kong Economic
Journal and PR Asia

e ETARIKIE2017

Listed Company Award of
Excellence 2017

R ETARE (R — AME)
Listed Company Award of
Excellence (Main Board - Large
Market Capitalization)

TR -LEBRERRE

AWARDS AND RECOGNITION IN 2017

8HAUGUST

MerComm, Inc.
BIMXARCE $} A 82

International Annual Report
Competition (ARC) Awards

B BEE S ZURER - 5
(HEB fH&&ET)
Beer/Wine/Spirits Category: Gold
Award (Cover Photo/Design)

R BEE ZUEER - R
(ENRI R 244E)

Beer/Wine/Spirits Category: Silver
Award (Printing & Production)

SLER DA - R

(BHRFR)

Manufacturing & Distributing
Category: Silver Award (Traditional
Annual Report)

BUER o HAER - 5T
(HER A &)
Manufacturing & Distributing
Category: Bronze Award (Cover
Photo/Design)

MTERMAT IC)I‘E}.&_I
2017 WINMER

dNOYS IHLLNOFY
(AT

BE - R RR@AR : R
(ENRI R 841%)

Tobacco, Food & Beverage
Category: Bronze Award (Printing &
Production)

R BEE S ZUEER
(ERB%)

Beer/Wine/Spirits Category:

Honors Award (Infographics)

BUE RS HAER - BRE
(REHR)

Manufacturing & Distributing
Category: Honors Award (Interior
Design)

BRLE

10HOCTOBER

MerComm, Inc.

El#tGalaxy €18

International Galaxy Awards

FHR R C £E - HER

D IERTAE R & 12

Gold Award for Annual Reports - Print:
Beer Manufacturing, Sales & Distribution

FiR— R - R& S BERER

BRE

Honors Award for Annual Reports — Print:
Food/Packaged Goods

12ADECEMBER

IR Magazine

IR Magazine#218 — 2017F Kh Eitt B
IR Magazine Awards — Great China 2017
REBRBKREERRK

Best Overall Investor Relations

REREEHRR - SREEE

Best IR by a Senior Management Team
RERBERE - FERE

Best in Country — Hong Kong
RERBEWR - LHHER

Best in Sector - Consumer Staples

RERAEEBRAS (REDRZE)

Best Investor Relations Officer (Large Cap)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

HE-_T—tF+-A=+—HILFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2017

E
TURNOVER

FEREE XK

Continuing operations

BREXAR#ERR

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS

PER SHARE
RELE XK

Continuing operations

tiliiiiiiiiil“ii“i“ii“

Q 29,732
@iii‘i‘il“lliiiii‘illiii

o

S 28,694
miii‘i'iii'lli‘ii“iilii

53 27,959

SO ..
bbb

o

N 0.22
Shhbbiii

. 0.25

ARKEBEIT RMB million AR¥EIT RMB
—E—+tF ZE-RF —E—hF
2017 2016 2015
ARBEBEER AR®BET AREBAET
RMB million RMB million RMB million
S Turnover
— RBEEE 2 EB - continuing operations 29,732 28,694 27,959
— BRI E 2 ¥ - discontinued operations’ - - 79,021
HIEEBHE RS Elimination of inter-segment
transactions - - (108)
29,732 28,694 106,872
RARREEMEEF Profit/(loss) attributable to
(E#E) shareholders of the Company
— FHERE ¥ - continuing operations 1,175 629 667
— ERIEEE 2 EE - discontinued operations’ - - (4,785)
1,175 629 (4,118)
BREARREERTF Basic and diluted earnings/
(E18) 2 (loss) per share?
— HECE ET - continuing operations RMBO0.36 RMBO.22 RMBO.25
— BRI 2 ¥R - discontinued operations’ - - RMB(1.81)
RMBO0.36 RMBO0.22 RMB(1.56)
=N g Dividend per share
— - interim RMBO0.07 - -
— R - final RMBO0.07 RMBO0.08 -
RMBO0.14 RMBO0.08 -
— R 5l - special - - HK$12.30
(RMB10.08)

HEPE (k) M AE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED

4] 2017 ANNUAL REPORT




Bt 5 g

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

R-ZZE—+tF+=-A=+—8 Asat31 December 2017

RATRREGER BREEFE : REE
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO NET ASSETS PER SHARE:
HAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY BOOK VALUE

“‘il“““““'t
18,421 Q
iiiiiiiiiiiiiii©

o

17,601 «
iiiiiiiiim

10,056 .

iil“liﬁiiilii“““““:
5.68 Q
'll‘i“i‘iiiiiiiiiiiiii@

o

5.43 1Y
ii“liiiiiiiiiiiiim

413 8

RS

dNOYD FHL LNOV

AR EE T RMB million ARHETT RMB
RZE—tF RZT—RF RIZT—8F
t=ZR=+—-H +ZA=+—H +ZA=+—H
As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December
2017 2016 2015
ARBEBEERL ARKEET ARKEER
RMB million RMB million RMB million
AR RIREEE RS Equity attributable to shareholders
of the Company 18,421 17,601 10,056
FEre AR R AR Non-controlling interests 64 66 9,264
BiEn Total equity 18,485 17,667 19,320
IREETFE Consolidated net borrowings 1,030 3,677 2,690
BEL &S Gearing ratio® 5.6% 20.8% 13.9%
mELL R Current ratio 0.49 0.53 0.59
BRAEEFE Net assets per share:
- REE - book value RMB5.68 RMB5.43 RMB4.13
Bt E Notes:

s AEBR-_ZT-RAFNA-BHEHFBRAEEX 1
%o ZEEBEREBUBRELAERIIED
RS 2 5T -

The Group disposed of its non-beer businesses on 1 September 2015. These
businesses are presented as discontinued operations according to the Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standard 5.

2 R ALFZEREAREEANDRR T~ 2
RETAT-RURBERSERBERRALI%
BREFRmARMER R TR FRRNTE -

Basic and diluted earnings per share for 2017 reflected the benefit of the
acquisition of 49% stake in China Resources Snow Breweries Limited on 11
October 2016 and the effect of rights issue in 2016.

3. BELERBGSEIOFREEERNLLO - 3. Gearing ratio represents the ratio of consolidated net borrowings to total
equity.
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ANALYSIS OF TURNOVER AND EARNINGS

BEFORE INTEREST AND TAXATION

HEZZ—tF+=-A=+—HILFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2017

2017 2016
25%
BEOM Y B BB EXBIEL
Y Turnover proportion Turnover proportion
by segment by segment
23%
RiE il ]

Eastern region

Central region

Southern region

2017 2016
45% 54%
BoBWZ KRR B2 ARETRE
7% B memmBAMSL 42% RBUEA BRI L
EBIT proportion EBIT proportion
by segment by segment
3%
HE R B
Eastern region Central region Southern region
—E—tF  —F-AF HNSORD)
2017 2016 Increased/
ARBEERT ARKEBET (Decreased)
B EXE Turnover by segment RMB million  RMB million %
R Eastern region 15,605 15,445 1.0%
FE Central region 6,971 6,636 5.0%
&)= Southern region 7,893 7,374 7.0%
30,469 29,455 3.4%
N HE RS Elimination of inter-segment
transactions (737) (761) (3.2%)
FEE Total 29,732 28,694 3.6%
—E—+tF ZT—REF Em R
2017 2016 Increased/
ERWzRAFER Earnings before interest and AREBEERT AR®BE®ET  (Decreased)
BIE AT 2 F taxation by segment RMB million  RMB million %
R Eastern region 877 1,007 (12.9%)
HE Central region 63 73 (13.7%)
)= Southern region 1,014 772 31.3%
1,954 1,852 5.5%
NaEBEE R Net corporate expenses (103) (95) 8.4%
B Total 1,851 1,757 5.4%

HEPE (k) M AE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
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New product “Brave the World superX was launched nationally on 18 M

13










1

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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FEERBE-STBRMRN MERES
%ﬁm%ﬁ%smﬁﬁﬁmA¢—@%%
A e ]

“The Group will advance its expansion by way
of organic growth, by grasping appropriate
acquisition and co-operation opportunities,
as well as by one of the most important
strategies — premiumization.”

BREA CHEN LANG
Z & Chairman

FINAL RESULTS

In 2017, the Group continued to make steady progress in
business, while striving to accelerate its transformation
and upgrade by implementing strategic measures such as
innovative development and marketing, capacity optimization
and efficiency improvement. As a result, the Group is on path

to further strengthen its competitive edge in the Chinese
beer industry and construct a solid foundation to reward its
shareholders in the long term.

FWRE ) AMR2AE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

The Company successfully completed the acquisition of a
49% stake in CRSB in October 2016, the benefit of which was
fully reflected in 2017. Upon completion of the acquisition,
the Company’s share of CRSB’s profit increased from 51%
before 11 October 2016 to 100% in 2017. For the year ended 31
December 2017, the Group’s consolidated turnover and profit
attributable to the Company’s shareholders were approximately
RMB29,732,000,000 and RMB1,175,000,000 respectively,
representing an increase by 3.6% and 86.8% respectively
compared with 2016. The Group’s earnings before interest
and taxation in 2017 increased by 5.4% to RMB1,851,000,000
compared with 2016.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) recommends a final
dividend of RMB0.07 per share for the year ended 31 December
2017 (2016: RMBO0.08 per share), payable on or around 15 June
2018 to shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 30 May 2018. Together with the
interim dividend of RMBO0.07 per share, the total dividend for
2017 will amount to RMBO0.14 per share (2016: RMB0.08 per
share), to show its appreciation to shareholders for their support
of the Group.

STRATEGY IMPLEMENTATION

In 2017, the Chinese beer market volume steadied and the
industrial structure on product mix gradually transformed
as sales of mid- to high-end beer became the main
driver for the industry’s revenue growth. Focused on the
growth opportunities brought about by the consumption
upgrade, the Group focused on three main management
themes - “quality growth, transformation and upgrade,
innovative development” The Group also implemented
organizational restructuring, brand repositioning, capacity
optimization, lean sales, channel renovation, operational
reform, etc. The Group has achieved a sales increase in
mid- to high-end beer through brand repositioning as well
as an improvement in channel competitiveness through
solidifying measures. The Group enjoyed continuous
increase in both beer sales volume and average selling
price with a higher market share. The national brand
“EJE Snow” accounted for approximately 90% of the total beer
sales volume of the Group.

17
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

AEE-HEEREBBRERNRET - REEF
ER - ARENSERE2ER - EENET

MEE e o AEEMEEEEREE
Tt RCEBERERE - ARUBCREDMYR
RAZSEERERNTE  BRHEAENER
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The Group has always focused on the improvement of
operational efficiency. During the year under review, the Group
primarily established an unified national operation and digital
logistics platform. In addition, the Group boosted its production
efficiency and enhanced the strategy on energy conservation
and consumption reduction, which effectively absorbed the
effects brought about by the rising cost of packaging materials
and logistics, and managed to maintain the gross profit margin.
In terms of lean sales, the Group set up a lean sales team to
strengthen its sales capacity and improve efficiency. In terms of
capacity optimization, the Group executed a series of capacity
improvement plans, including consolidating and shutting down
beer plants with low efficiency in order to raise the medium to
long term production efficiency.

PROSPECTS

In 2017, the Chinese economy steadily improved and moved
from “high-speed growth” towards a new phase of “high-quality
development”. 2018 will be the first full year the spirit of the
19th National Congress of the Communist Party of China has
been implemented. The Chinese economy is expected to grow at
a steady pace. The country’s economic structure will continue to
progress and consumption will be the main spur for the growth
of the economy.

The sales volume of the beer market in China has started
to stabilize after experiencing a downturn. Consumers also
increasingly prefer mid- to high-end beer products and the
Group believes that there is still room for growth in the market.
Therefore, the Group is fully confident in the future development
of the market and will advance its expansion by way of organic
growth, by grasping appropriate acquisition and co-operation
opportunities, as well as by one of the most important strategies
- premiumization.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

To cope with the rising costs of raw materials, packaging
materials, labour and other costs in 2018, the Group has adopted
different measures, such as lean marketing, lean production,
product refinement and premiumization to absorb the cost
pressure. The Group is also committed to improving efficiency
in various ways including reserving certain raw materials for
an appropriate time and implementing electronization and
automation in certain work processes. In the meantime, the
Group moderately adjusts the prices of some of its products in
certain regions to mitigate the heightened cost pressure.

In the medium to long term, the Group will endeavor to improve
the impact of its brand and mid- to high-end products by
utilizing continuously the three main management themes
- “quality growth, transformation and upgrade, innovative
development” and by further implementing organizational
restructuring, brand repositioning, capacity optimization, lean
sales, channel renovation, operational reform, etc. The Group
will also create a digital sales and marketing model and upgrade
its information platform, improve organizational efficiency, as
well as reinforce its corporate culture and team building. The
implementation of the aforementioned measures will help
the Group’s business development in the future and boost
profitability.

As a leading beer enterprise in China, the Group strives to move
into its new era and lead the advancement in the beer industry.
The Company achieved a good performance in stock price in
2017, which indicates the shareholders appreciate the Group’s
development direction and the management’s execution. We
look forward to working together with all stakeholders to create
higher corporate values and to make the Group a trusted and
beloved beer enterprise.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my gratitude to our shareholders, management and
employees for their support, commitment and contributions, as
well as to our customers and business partners for their long
term trust. Looking ahead, we will continue to offer more quality
products and services to our customers and deliver attractive
returns to our shareholders.

CHEN LANG
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2018
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The Group strives to maintain the highest standards of corporate
governance, along with active communication with shareholders
and investors. The Group uses an advanced communication
mechanism and various effective channels to ensure
information is distributed accurately and timely to guarantee
investors are well informed of the Group’s latest developments
and business strategy. The Group also listens carefully to the
views and suggestions made by investors, which help enhance
its operational performance and bring better returns for
shareholders.

The Group stays in touch with shareholders and investors
through a number of different channels. Apart from results
announcements, there are numerous one-on-one meetings,
luncheons, forums and telephone conferences arranged
by financial institutions. In 2017, the Group conducted
approximately 380 meetings with more than 1,300 fund
managers and analysts.

AARABE-—F-=FE-F-tFNFRETERTE
YEAR-END CLOSING PRICE AND MARKET CAPITALIZATION OF THE COMPANY FOR 2013-2017

B R & IT HKS million

(T {& Market capitalization)
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| | | | |
2017 28.05 90,999
2016
2015" 18.22%
2014 7725
2013 12.2423
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EEETT HKS (Y71 1E Closing price)

I fE Closing price
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Rl - TREREEBR-—"REEE]-
[(REREEBAE -BBR] [HREREE

i 18 Market capitalization

During the year under review, the Group’s efforts in corporate
governance and investor relations won various industry
accolades. In view of its outstanding performance in the capital
market, the Company has won a number of authoritative awards,
including “Best Overall Investor Relations”, “Best IR by a Senior
Management Team”, “Best in Country — Hong Kong”, “Best in
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

Sector — Consumer Staples” and “Best Investor Relations Officer
(Large Cap)” by IR Magazine; “Best IR Company - Mid Cap”
and “Best IR Presentation Collaterals — Mid Cap” by the Hong
Kong Investor Relations Association; “Asia’s Icon on Corporate
Governance”, “Asian Corporate Director Recognition Award”,
“Best Investor Relations Company”, “Asia’s Best CEO (Investor
Relations)”, “Asia’s Best CFO (Investor Relations)” and “Best
Investor Relations Professional” by Corporate Governance Asia;
and “One of Asia’s Most Honored Companies” and “Best Investor
Relations Professional” by Institutional Investor. Moreover,
the Company was again commended for the high quality of its
annual reports at the “International Annual Report Competition
(ARC) Awards” and “International Galaxy Awards” organized by
MerComm, Inc.

Looking to the future, the Group will continue to be committed
to the highest level of standards, transparency and efficiency in
corporate governance to create greater value for shareholders
and to promote the Group’s healthy development.

ARFAH-ZF-—=FEZ_FT-tFNERBIRERERE
EARNINGS AND DIVIDEND PER SHARE OF THE COMPANY FOR 2013-2017

0.36
4013 0.14
4
2016 022
0.08
-1.56
2015’
-0.05
2014
0.22(HK$0.27)
2013 .58
; O.21(HK$O.2I7)
2 0 2
AR¥T RMB
FREMN (BEEESHRHE
FRVEE/REVE)
Earnings per share (including the effect
of asset revaluation and major disposal of
non-core assets/investment)
B SE
Notes:

1. AEBAR-_ZF-AFNAA-AHEEFERBET -
The Group disposed of its non-beer businesses on 1
September 2015.

2. BT REFHREHEAE -
Adjusted upon rights issue in 2016.

3. BT —AFIRMNFHHIRESSREE12.30TRBEE -
Adjusted upon distribution of special dividend at HK$12.30
per share in 2015.

10.08(HK$12.30)

B snrm . mopesgeen

Total of interim, final and special dividend per share

4 ERARAR T —RFETA+—BZRKBERSIERBL0%RE  —T—NEFNBRELLE
SHRFIRIRARRFERB AR R AR AR B (EEAT51% RUEER100%)5HE ©
Since the Company completed the acquisition of 49% stake in CRSB on 11 October 2016,
basic and diluted earnings per share for the year was calculated according to the Company’s
shareholdings before and after the acquisition (51% before acquisition and 100% after the
acquisition).
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SHARE PERFORMANCE

The Company’s closing share price surged by 82.14%
year-on-year to HK$28.05 as of 31 December 2017, which
surpassed the performance of the Hang Seng Index. The market
capitalization amounted to around HK$91.00 billion from
HK$49.96 billion at the end of 2016.

DIVIDEND PAYOUT RATIO

The Group is committed to creating and improving value to pay
back shareholders. The total dividend of the Company reached
RMBO.14 per share, with a dividend payout ratio of 39%. The
Company will endeavor to maintain a respectable dividend
payout level while preserving healthy cash levels to promote the
sustainable growth of its business.

FWRE ) AMR2AE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED

44 2017 ANNUAL REPORT



g o w0

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

7% ol B8

FEER-_ZT—tFNGEAEEEAAR
#29,732,000,0000 - BT —NFER
3.6% ° ARRR_TE—R"F+H+—HFE
UK B 2 B T 8 T 4 0% A% HE BT S R By 48
ERITE-EFEEXME - EAWEE - &K
AREEERSIEEENFNER T —
F+HA+ BRI %ENE - —+4F
#9100% * F = F —HF AR A BREE(LER
BB T —NFEHBSNEN AR
1,175,000,0007C - AEER T —tFH
Rt FIERBRERANR - —F L
5.4%% AR#1,851,000,0007T °

REBEFER  BEBETSIEEMT
[ - HEBEEREFTRESmEER  £WE
MZEMGEAME( PREWELER

TR -

AEBR-—Z—+tFNREHESR_FT—X
F FF0.9%ZE 4911,819,000F 7+ + RIBEK
TEFHKTEAET  MBHAERE—FR
& EEZEBEPHSEEEREDG T/ HE
EXRE  RAESHEBNRHEZSER
B URBBERREENRE  REREX
K RAREBRF N EFTHZENIE
€ Snow] BB EMAEE R HAEEL
90% c REER T+ FRERIEEL -
YEEMEE  RBEFMMtREEENTS

R ERTSEEEHERFER F-
Tt FNEBERIOHEHEERR _T—RF
EFH2.7% ° BLIN - AERERBHEEEER

KIZF - RIEETBEFERFE - DUBEEH DA -
MBEYER LRATRANTZE - FEFX
BURERBAEKTE - BN AEER =T —
tEHERBREEEE  BLEERE N RIE
FHERE  E—SEEHEERASL A
HogENTMERE RN REESRECT
WEREBES FTEEBEEERAR_T—X
FERH49% o

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The consolidated turnover of the Group in 2017 was
RMB29,732,000,000. This represents an increase of 3.6%
compared with 2016. The Company completed the acquisition of
a 49% stake in CRSB on 11 October 2016, and the benefit of the
acquisition was fully reflected in 2017. Upon completion of the
acquisition, the Company’s share of CRSB’s profit increased from
51% before 11 October 2016 to 100% in 2017. Thus the Group’s
consolidated profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders
increased by 86.8% to RMB1,175,000,000 compared with 2016.
The Group’s earnings before interest and taxation in 2017
increased by 5.4% to RMB1,851,000,000 compared with 2016.

During the year under review, the overall beer market capacity
slightly decreased. Consumers’ growing demand for high quality
products boosted the change of product mix in the beer market,
which increased the share of mid- to high-end products.

In 2017, the Group’s beer sales volume increased by 0.9%
to approximately 11,819,000 kilolitres compared with
2016, outperforming the industry average and capturing a
larger market share. This was mainly contributed to CRSB’s
tailored sales strategies to the local market that improved
an established long-standing co-operative relationship with
distributors; and a revamp of its channels for the construction
of a channel management system to improve efficiency and
competitiveness. The national brand “EfE Snow” accounted for
approximately 90% of the total beer sales volume of the Group.
In 2017, the Group started the campaign to reposition its
brand, which diversified its product portfolio; and continued to
deepen its brand promotion and market expansion, to help the
growth of the overall sales volume of mid- and high-end beers,
which leads to an increase of approximately 2.7% in the overall
average selling price in 2017 compared with 2016. Moreover,
by increasing its production efficiency, improving its energy
conservation and reducing its consumption to absorb the impact
of certain rising costs, such as packaging materials, the Group
was able to maintain its gross profit margin to an adequate level.
The Group also carried out lean sales management, reinforced
its sales capability and increased its sales efficiency in 2017
to further control sales expenses. However, increases in other
operating costs, such as transportation, and the impairment and
provision for production capacity optimization, resulted in an
increase of 4.9% in overall operating expenses compared with
2016.
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During the year under review, CRSB concentrated its resources
on adequate investments in targeted promotions and
advertisements on products to increase its brand recognition.
For the Group’s mid-end “Brave the World” series of products,
the event “Snow Great Expedition, Challenge the Unclimbed by
College Students” strengthened the promotion of the series,
which sustained a robust growth in sales volume. In order to
grasp long term development trends in the industry, the Group
continued to partner with large domestic e-commerce platform
providers during the year under review, to expand its boundaries
into online sales and marketing channels.

The Group continued to endorse its deployment of the
production capacity during the year under review, including the
consolidation of regional production capacity and assets, to
improve profitability in the medium to long term. The impairment
loss recognized for 2017 increased by RMB275,000,000 to
RMB739,000,000 compared with 2016. At the end of 2017,
the Group operated 91 breweries in 25 provinces, directly
administered municipalities and autonomous regions in
Mainland China, with an aggregate annual production capacity
of approximately 22,000,000 kiloliters.

Looking ahead, the beer market will see a continuous upgrade in
consumption, while the high-end beer market will grow rapidly,
with fierce competition expected to continue in the industry.
The Group will proceed with brand repositioning exercises to
enhance its brand portfolio and the competitiveness of its
high-end brands in order to pursue a quality sales growth.
With the increased possibility of abnormal weather conditions,
the Group will take a proactive approach to manage the sales
and production plans to cope with a volatile market capacity
caused by extreme weather conditions. The Group will continue
to examine the competitive environment and market conditions
and carry on with lean sales to enhance the effectiveness
of selling expenses. The Group will also proceed with
organizational restructuring, reinforcing central procurement,
optimizing logistics management and formulating appropriate
medium to long term production capacity optimization plans
to enhance operational efficiency. In some areas, the prices of
certain products will be adjusted moderately to alleviate the
pressure from expected rises in costs, such as the costs of raw
materials, packaging materials and labour. Moreover, the Group
will continue to grow the business organically and through the
evaluation of suitable potential acquisition opportunities, which
will boost synergy effects through mergers and acquisitions. This
will further bolster the Group’s leading position in the market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
CAPITAL AND FUNDING

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s consolidated cash and
bank deposits amounted to RMB2,440,000,000. The Group’s
borrowings as at 31 December 2017 were RMB3,470,000,000 with
RMB2,383,000,000 repayable within 1 year, RMB1,086,000,000
repayable after 1 year but within 5 years and RMB1,000,000
repayable after 5 years.

On the basis of the Group’s net borrowings relative to the
shareholders’ funds and non-controlling interests, the Group’s
gearing ratio was approximately at 5.6% as at 31 December
2017 (31 December 2016: 20.8%).

The Group’s principal assets, liabilities, revenue and payments
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and US
dollars. As at 31 December 2017, 2.3% of the Group’s cash and
bank deposit balance was held in Hong Kong dollars, 96.0% in
Renminbi and 1.7% in US dollars; whereas more than 99.9% of
the Group’s borrowings was denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
The Group’s borrowings are principally on a floating rate basis.
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With healthy operating cash flow, available banking fac e
and standby shareholder’s loans, the Group is able to fulfill its
liquidity requirement.

In 2016, the Company raised approximately HK$9,514,000,000,
before expenses, by way of a rights issue of 811,044,226
shares on the basis of one rights share for every three ordinary
shares at a subscription price of HK$11.73 per rights share.
Approximately HK$9,000,000,000 of the net proceeds was used
up to 31 December 2016. The remaining balance was used during
the year for the settlement of loans from a holding company.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2017, assets with a carrying value of
RMB79,000,000 (31 December 2016: RMB103,000,000) were
pledged for notes payable.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2017.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had a staff size of around
52,000, amongst which more than 99% were employed in the
Chinese Mainland, whilst the rest were mainly in Hong Kong.
Remuneration packages are assessed in accordance with
the nature of job duties, individual performance and market
trends with built-in merit components, paid in the form of cash
bonuses.

By order of the Board
CHEN LANG
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2018
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GEOGRAPHICAL DISTRIBUTION OF
THE GROUP'S BREWERIES
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BREASEE
Mr. Chen Lang

MR. CHEN LANG AGED 52

has been appointed as Chairman of the Board of the Company in August
2012. Mr. Chen was Chief Executive Officer (previously named as Managing
Director) of the Company from January 2009 to August 2012. He is Executive
Director of the Company, Executive Vice President of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited, Director of CRH (Beer) Limited, Director and
Chairman of China Resources Enterprise, Limited as well as the Chairman
of China Resources Snow Breweries (China) Investment Co., Ltd., China
Resources Ng Fung Limited and China Resources Cestbon Beverage (China)
Co., Ltd. He was previously the Director of China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited and China Resources Company Limited (formerly known
as China Resources National Corporation), the Chief Executive Officer of
China Resources Vanguard Co., Ltd., and Vice Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of China Resources Logic Limited (now renamed as China Resources
Gas Group Limited). Prior to that, he was Chairman and General Manager
of China Resources Development and Investment Co., Limited and was in
charge of a number of substantial investments in Canada and Thailand of
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor of
Economics degree from Anhui University, China and a Master of Business
Administration degree from the University of San Francisco, USA. He is
currently the visiting professor of Anhui University, China, Chairman of
China Resources Association for Science and Technology, and Chairman of
Committee on Innovation, Development and Intellectual Property Rights of
China Resources Group. He joined China Resources Company Limited and
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1986 and 1989 respectively.
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MR. HOU XIAOHAI AGED 49

has been appointed as Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company
in April 2016. He was appointed as general manager of China Resources Snow
Breweries (China) Co., Ltd. in March 2016 and was the director of its sales and
marketing departments from December 2001 to December 2007. He was appointed
as general manager and assistant general manager (also a general manager of its
distribution headquarter) of the branch of China Resources Snow Breweries (China)
Co., Ltd. in Guizhou Province and a general manager of its branch in Sichuan Province
from January 2009 to February 2016. Mr. Hou has a Bachelor of Statistics Degree from
the People’s University of China. He has previously worked in Shougang Corporation,
Gallup Poll and Pepsico. Mr. Hou joined China Resources Group in 2001.
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MR. LAI PO SING, TOMAKIN AGED 51

has been appointed as an Executive Director, the Chief Financial Officer and the
Company Secretary of the Company in June 2016. He was appointed as the Finance
Director of the Company in June 2014. He was previously the Audit Director of the
Company. He joined the Company in September 2008. He is currently the Vice President,
the Chief Financial Officer and the Company Secretary of China Resources Enterprise,
Limited. Prior to joining the Group, he had worked for international accounting firms in
Hong Kong, and also acted as the financial controller and company secretary of Zhong
An Real Estate Limited, China Oriental Group Company Limited and Hon Po Group
(Lobster King) Limited (now known as China Energy Development Holdings Limited),
which are listed companies on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Mr. Lai has extensive experience in internal and external auditing, finance
and accounting, regulatory and compliance and company secretarial matters. Mr. Lai
holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong and a Master of Business Administration degree from the University of
Manchester, UK. He is a Fellow Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England & Wales. He is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators in the UK and of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. He
is a Certified Internal Auditor and holds a Certificate in Risk Management Assurance
conferred by the Institute of Internal Auditors. He is also a Certified Information
Systems Auditor of ISACA.
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MR. CHEN RONG AGED 45

has been appointed as Non-executive Director of the Company in April 2016. Mr. Chen
was appointed as Director of China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited, in May
2016 and designated as its Non-executive Director in June 2016, and was appointed as
Non-executive Director of China Resources Land Limited in April 2017, both are listed
companies on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He was
also appointed as General Manager of the Finance Department of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in February 2016 and was the head of tax management of
the same department. Mr Chen was deputy general manager and chief financial officer
of China Resources Vanguard Company Limited. Mr. Chen has previously worked in
Epson Technical Limited, Walmart China Investment Limited and Fuji Electric Technical
Services Limited. Mr. Chen joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in May
2007. Mr. Chen holds MBA degree from Xi’an Jiaotong University. He is an Intermediate
Accountant and a Certified Tax Agent in China. He is also a non-practicing member of
the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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MR. LAI NI HIUM, FRANK AGED 56

has been re-designated from an Executive Director to a Non-Executive Director of
the Company since June 2016. He was an Executive Director and the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company between June 2009 and May 2016, and the Company Secretary
between August 2009 and May 2016. Mr. Lai was previously the Executive Director,
Non-executive Director, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of China
Resources Microelectronics Limited. Prior to that, he served as the Chief Financial
Officer of Eagle Brand Holdings Ltd. (now known as Nam Cheong Limited), which is a
company listed on the Singapore Exchange and before then, he served as the Executive
Director and Chief Executive Officer of Logic International Holdings Ltd. (now known
as China Resources Gas Group Limited). He was appointed as Executive Director and
Deputy Chief Executive Officer of Dah Chong Hong Holdings Limited, which is a listed
company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, in June 2016
and became its Chief Executive Officer in March 2017. Mr. Lai obtained a Bachelor of
Commerce degree from the University of Western Australia and a Graduate Diploma
in Business and Administration from the Curtin University of Technology of Western
Australia. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a fellow member of CPA Australia.
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MR. HOUANG TAI NINH AGED 64

has been a Director of the Company since 1988. He is also a Director and Chairman of
Sino Resources and Energy Holdings Limited, Sino Petrochem Development Limited,
Sino Mining Investments Limited and a Director of China & Overseas Resources
Limited. Mr. Houang obtained his Bachelor of Business Studies degree from the
Polytechnic of North Staffordshire, United Kingdom.

ZRE/L HEEFRSHE  SRAEE - RFHAEEHE -
AFE#HET mESTDHR

RIZE=F=-ARZERARANES - RRFT ZRETMEBMEFE S
BEPBEARBGHEEEE T —E2EEZESEZ 8 YEHEFERRIT
HESNAEZE FHELITREZHLETRARNES - BENBEMERR
BRAF - EERTERAR  BEBEAEERR AR - SBEBRERE
RARREIREREEAERAR - FEL LERFABERARAFTNES -

=

DR. LI KA CHEUNG, ERIC FCPA(PRACTISING), GBS, OBE, JP
AGED 64

has been a Director of the Company since March 2003. He is Senior Partner of Li,
Tang, Chen & Co., Certified Public Accountants (Practising), member of the Thirteenth
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
and former member of the Legislative Council of the Hong Kong SAR. Dr. Li holds
directorships in a number of listed companies including Sun Hung Kai Properties
Limited, Hang Seng Bank Limited, SmarTone Telecommunications Holdings Limited,
Transport International Holdings Limited and Wong's International Holdings Limited. Dr.
Liwas a Director of RoadShow Holdings Limited.
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WP i DR. CHENG MO CHI, MOSES GBM, GBS, OBE, JP AGED 68

Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses has been a Director of the Company since November 2005. Dr. Cheng is a practicing
solicitor and a consultant of Messrs. PC. Woo & Co. after serving as its senior partner
from 1994 to 2015. Dr. Cheng was a member of the Legislative Council of Hong Kong. He
is the founder chairman of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors of which he is now the
Honorary President and Chairman Emeritus. He is now also serving as chairman of the
Insurance Authority and chairman of the Process Review Panel for the Securities and
Futures Commission. Dr. Cheng currently holds directorships in K. Wah International
Holdings Limited, China Mobile Limited, Towngas China Company Limited, Kader
Holdings Company Limited, Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited, Guangdong Investment
Limited and Tian An China Investments Company Limited, all being listed companies in
Hong Kong. He was an Independent Non-Executive Director of ARA Asset Management
Limited, a company whose shares were formerly listed on the Singapore Exchange.
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MR. BERNARD CHARNWUT CHAN GBS, JP AGED 53

has been a Director of the Company since November 2006. He is the Executive Director
BREEELE and President of Asia Financial Holdings Limited and Asia Insurance Company
Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan Limited. He acts as an Advisor of Bangkok Bank (China) Company Limited. Apart from
the roles in the business community, Mr. Chan serves as a Hong Kong Deputy to The
National People’s Congress of the People’s Republic of China and the Convenor of the
Non-official Members of the Executive Council of the Hong Kong SAR. He is a former
member of the Legislative Council of the Hong Kong SAR. Mr. Chan is the Chairman of
the Hong Kong-Thailand Business Council, the Committee on Reduction of Salt and
Sugar in Food and the Steering Committee on Restored Landfill Revitalisation Funding
Scheme. He also serves as the Chairperson of The Hong Kong Council of Social Service
and a council member of the Oxfam Hong Kong. In addition, Mr. Chan holds directorship
in Chen Hsong Holdings Limited and Yau Lee Holdings Limited which are listed in Hong
Kong. Mr. Chan was a Director of City e-solutions Limited.
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MR. SIU KWING CHUE, GORDON GBS, CBE, JP AGED 72

has been a Director of the Company since November 2006. He had been a career civil
servant for over 36 years before retiring from the civil service in 2002. Mr. Siu rose to
the rank of Secretary, Government Secretariat in 1993 and served a number of high
ranking government positions, namely the Secretary for Economic Services, Secretary
for Transport, Head of Central Policy Unit and eventually retired from his last posting
as Secretary for Planning, Environment & Lands. Mr. Siu was an Independent Non-
Executive Director of Television Broadcasts Limited and Transport International
Holdings Limited.
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STEP 1:
Risk ldentification

Risk Analysis, Evaluation

MANAGEMENT PHILOSOPHY

The Board believes that risk management is an integral part
of corporate governance. Effective and efficient corporate risk
management will facilitate the Group’s business development
and operation by setting the appropriate risk appetite,
maintaining an acceptable risk level and more importantly,
proactively responding to risks. It therefore helps protect
shareholder value and safeguard the Group’s reputation. Through
putting in place proper risk management control over the
Group’s business and carrying out regular reviews and updates,
the Group strives to reduce the likelihood and the effect of risks
before they occur, and deal with problems effectively when they
arise. While the Group’s risk management is the responsibility
of every management team member and is embedded in the
business planning and daily operation of the Group’s business,
our risk management process is based on a decentralized model
with a centralized monitoring system. The Group’s strategy is to
maintain a streamlined risk management process to identify,
analyze and mitigate various risks in an efficient and effective
manner.

CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Risk monitoring
Reporting on regular and ad hoc basis

BUSINESS UNIT

v \4
v v

B

ST R 4 R B
STEP 2 :

55
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STEP 3 :
Risk Monitoring and
Performance Evaluation

DT

and Mitigation
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CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT

STEP ONE: RISK IDENTIFICATION

We identify and assess risks both at the Group and business
unit levels, and incorporate risk management into our business
planning. At the end of each year, the Group’s business unit
undertakes a review of potential risks which fall within its
business and operation area. The Group’s business unit then
performs risk reviews including risk mapping, analysis and
evaluation of their probability of occurrence and impact.
Identified risks are reported together with the explanation of its
nature and proposed risk management strategies to the Group
during the business plan review session at the beginning of each
year. In addition to the annual exercise, our regular reporting
system of the Group’s business unit also facilitates ongoing risk
identification and the reporting of risks.

STEP TWO: RISK ANALYSIS, EVALUATION AND
MITIGATION

When risks are identified, the assigned risk owner is responsible
for analyzing the probability of their occurrence and potential
impact. Priority will be given to risks with high probability
and serious negative impact. The risk owner then designs
appropriate procedures and actions for risk mitigation and acts
accordingly. Implementation cost is also taken into account
when devising the action plan. During the implementation, we
also emphasize the balance of risks and benefits to ensure long
term business success.

STEP THREE: RISK MONITORING AND PERFORMANCE
EVALUATION

After risk identification, analysis, evaluation and mitigation,
evaluation reports are submitted to the Group through the
regular reporting mechanism. To prevent the same risks from
occurring again, preventive actions and procedures to improve
operational efficiency are also incorporated into the risk
management and internal control systems. In addition, our
Internal Audit Function undertakes independent reviews on risk
management and internal control systems, and our management
is responsible for ensuring appropriate actions which are taken
to rectify any control deficiencies highlighted in the audit reports
within a reasonable period of time.
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The Group believes sustainable development is the cornerstone
of a company’s success. As a leading beer enterprise in China,
we consistently carry out development together with our
country and society, placing great emphasis on corporate
social responsibility which is fully integrated into our corporate
strategies, major decisions and daily business operations.
While delivering quality products, we spare no effort in making
contributions to various aspects like the social economy, the
community and the environment. We are committed to becoming
a trusted and beloved beer enterprise, and endeavoring to create
a better future.

The Group believes that its concept of “Better Life Together”
goes beyond achieving an outstanding operating performance.
The Group will continue to evolve and make better changes
for stakeholders, society and the environment. In June 2017,
the Company published its first Environmental, Social and
Governance Report, which disclosed relevant information about
the Group’s performance in social, environmental and other
aspects for 2016.

COMMUNITY CARE

The Group places great emphasis on community services
and social welfare activities. With its business strength
and extensive business network, the Group encourages its
customers, staff and suppliers to work together to care for the
community in need and to build a caring and inclusive society.

In March 2017, the Group’s flagship campaign “Snow Great
Expedition, Challenge the Unclimbed by College Students” was
launched across the country. This campaign was part of the “Snow
Great Expedition” series organized by the Group for the 13th
year in a row. In June 2017, a total of 23 brave undergraduates
successfully conquered an unclimbed 5,155-metre-high peak in
Diging in Yunnan Province. The campaign conveyed the spirit of
“ambitious, challenging and innovative”.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

In order to enhance the knowledge of the Group’s staff about
reforestation and its ecological value, the Group participated in
a tree planting activity at Kadoorie Farm and Botanic Garden in
Hong Kong in April 2017. Through planting tree seedlings on the
hillside, the staff increased their awareness of environmental
protection and realized the ambition of nature conservation.

In June 2017, the Company was granted the “Oxfam Corporate
Donor Award” by Oxfam, a Hong Kong charity organization. The
Group was recognized for its work as a corporate donor of Oxfam
in helping impoverished people become self-reliant.

In November 2017, around 80 staff of the Group and their relatives
participated in a charity walk at Tseung Kwan O Waterfront
Promenade in Hong Kong for children with congenital heart
disease. The charity walk encouraged children and their families
to overcome challenges and to build a better and a more inclusive
society together. The event helped to promote a healthy lifestyle
with exercises support for the Group’s staff and the participants.

ENVIRONMENT, HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group has always placed great emphasis on the management
and control of its environment, health and safety (“EHS”). The
Group has a designated department to continuously strengthen
awareness towards potential safety hazards and prevent
underlying risks. In 2017, the Group published eight sets of in-
house rules to further enhance the management of relevant
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organizational structure and to specify rights and responsibilities.
The Group also started a project to establish an information-based
platform to conduct on-line, real-time monitoring and control of
key risks, process control of key sections and emergency-aided
decision making for major events in the long run.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION, ENERGY CONSERVATION
AND EMISSION REDUCTION

The Group has always been committed to protecting the
environment and continuously applying internal control indicators
that are stricter than the national or local government pollution
emission standards. The Group has a sound accountability system
for environmental protection, energy conservation and emission
reduction for fulfilling its responsibilities.

In 2017, CRSB carried out over 200 environmental protection,
energy conservation and emission reduction projects and
invested over RMB87 million, such as phasing out coal-burning
boilers to switch to natural gas and steam from external
sources (“coal-to-gas conversion”), sewage deodorization and
noise control. By carrying out efficient energy conservation and
emission reduction management, the Group achieved a decrease
of over 10% year-on-year in comprehensive energy consumption
per unit in 2017. In terms of pollutant emissions, the Group kept
emissions below the standard level, and also strived to further
reduce emissions. The proportion of clean energy use was
increased by phasing out polluting and high-energy-consuming
equipment and by adjusting the structure of energy use.

Since 2015, the Group has been working on implementing coal-
to-gas conversion projects. By the end of 2017, the Group had
invested over RMB130 million in the relevant special projects,
and over 80 coal-burning boilers at more than 30 production
plants were phased out. In 2017, the emissions in sulfur dioxide
(S02), nitrogen oxide (NOx) and carbon dioxide (CO2) were reduced
by approximately 35%, 20% and over 10% respectively compared
with 2016.

To further improve the management standard of environmental
protection, energy conservation and emission reduction, the
Group conducts systematic assessments and unannounced
inspections on an ongoing basis. Besides carrying out self-
inspections by regional companies and factories, the designated
department of the Group also conducted unannounced
inspections on the EHS aspects at its subsidiaries of 15 regional
companies and 26 production factories, as well as the on-site
EHS inspections for certain factories relocation projects.
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PROMOTION OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group believes that promotion is another important topic
of environmental protection. During the year under review, the
Group organized the “Open Days of Breweries”, inviting teachers
and students from Xichang University in Sichuan Province and
Liaocheng University in Shandong Province to visit CRSB’s
local production factories so they could learn more about
the Group’s procedures for beer production and waste water
treatment. In addition, to raise the awareness of environmental
protection among its staff, the Group participated in a number of
nationwide environmental protection campaigns in 2017, such as
“World Environment Day”, “National Energy Conservation Week”
and “National Low-Carbon Day”.

In November 2017, China Resources Snow Breweries (Henan)
Co., Ltd. and China Resources Snow Breweries (Sichuan) Co.,
Ltd. were awarded the “Hong Kong Green Awards - Green
Management Award (Large Corporation) — Corporate — Merit” for
the first time by the Hong Kong Green Council in recognition of
the Group’s efforts in implementing environmental protection

policy.
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OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH

The Group continues to apply the management philosophy
to production operations, which features a people-oriented
approach and development in a safe manner. During the year
under review, there were no new occupational diseases. To
enhance the accountability of respective responsibilities on
EHS and the establishment of a sound EHS accountability
system, staff at different levels were required to sign a letter
of accountability on EHS in 2017. The letter clearly outlined the
production safety indicators and the responsibilities of each
position and staff member. Moreover, all staff participated in
safety observation activities related to identification of hazard
sources and factors as well as dangerous behaviour to remind
them how to follow procedural control and to regulate their
safety practices. By carrying out unannounced inspections
and reviewing video surveillance and inspections, the Group
investigated and rectified potential safety hazards. During the
year under review, the designated department of the Group’s
headquarter conducted investigations and inspections for safety
management of liquid ammonia, forklift, hazardous chemical
substances, transportation logistics, construction projects,
etc., to improve the corresponding management standard in the
breweries. The Group kept improving, optimizing and upgrading
its work on the management system for safety production, the
facilities of protection against occupational hazards and further
improved the working environment. In 2017, CRSB set-up a
special fund of approximately RMB37.6 million for production
safety to improve the overall standards of safety production
management and technical equipment.

Regarding occupational health, CRSB is dedicated to
protecting the health of its staff, and the Group implemented
an accountability system for human resources units and
improved the system for the monitoring, prevention and control
of occupational hazards. In 2017, the Group reported and
regularly monitored dangerous hazards such as noise and dust
in the working environment. Various technical initiatives were
taken to improve the working environment and create a healthy
workplace for staff. Moreover, a wide range of publicity and
education programs on occupational health were launched,
aimed at enhancing staff’s sense of law and social responsibility
as well as raising their awareness of self-protection. When
new staff signed a labour contract, the Group fulfilled all
of its duties by informing them of the potential hazards of
occupational diseases and buying work-related injury insurance
for them in accordance with the law. For those staff who were
engaged in operations that could cause occupational diseases,
occupational health examinations were conducted before, during
and after their employment.
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The Group attaches great importance on safety education. In
2017, CRSB organized more than 5,200 training sessions on
safety education, attracting more than 170,000 attendees.
More than 550 emergency drills were conducted with more
than 17,000 attendees. A total of 210 training sessions on
occupational safety and health were organized, attracting
approximately 17,000 attendees. The Group enhanced its
rescue capability through daily exercises, trainings, technical
competitions, experience exchanges and simulated combat
exercises. A “one-file-per-staff” occupational health record was
also set up. During the year under review, CRSB attained 100%
in the coverage of training sessions on safety education, health
examinations for the prevention and treatment of occupational
diseases, notifications of occupational hazards in the workplace
and the setting of warning signs. Moreover, the Group continued
the training, appraisal and certification of key personnel.
Business executives and safety management staff at different
levels at CRSB have all obtained qualification certificates in
safety management. At the end of 2017, approximately 130 staff
were certified as PRC registered safety engineers, and all staff
who engaged in special operations possessed valid qualification
certificates.

FOOD SAFETY AND PRODUCT QUALITY

The Group improves quality standard system and food safety
system on an ongoing basis by ensuring production follows
stringent technical quality standards to guarantee product
quality. In 2017, 18 technical quality standards were revised and
more than 100 new standards were established as accumulated.
During the year under review, the designated department of the
Group’s headquarter carried out food safety inspections among
certain breweries. The inspections focused on disqualified
products management, products return management, customer
complaints management, etc.

CRSB is committed to the research and development of
diversified and specialty products. In 2017, the Group launched
its new product line, “Concept Series”, which enhanced the
overall style of various products including “Brave the World”,
“Draft Beer”, “Male Opera Mask” and “Female Opera Mask”
with the theme “You Define Your Future” The new product line
enhanced the overall brand image and diversified customer
experience. Moreover, “Snow Ale Beer” was selected as one
of the Top 10 New Wine Products (Beer Category) at the 2016
“Qingzhuo Awards” by the China Alcoholic Drinks Association
during the year under review.
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To ensure systematic, scientific and standardized management,
the Group continuously carried out certifications to its
management systems, including the quality management system
(1IS09001), environmental management certification (1S014000)
and food safety management system (1S022000).

Moreover, the Group facilitated extended quality management
policies during the year under review to ensure product quality
at the source, and to stabilize and manage product quality
through the technical quality control points involved in the
suppliers’ production chains as well as the management of
factories’ production quality feedback and improvement. The
Group also introduced real-time monitoring of the key control
points in the production process to make sure the production
process complied with food safety standards. To continuously
improve the product quality, the Group completed self-developed
projects, which have been successfully applied for patents,
involving “the research on the precise quality control technology
in constant valves for beer bottling and the development of
supporting platform system” and “automatic elimination of
hyperoxia beer system”.

During the year under review, the Group’s beer products had a
100% pass rate both in the quality test and the spot tests by
the National Safety Supervision and Inspection, respectively.
Regarding the quality management system of our internal
control, the comparable quality, outlook and integrated quality
were again at the forefront among Chinese domestic enterprises,
which fully reflected the Group’s excellent quality management
level.

HUMAN RESOURCES

Staff is one of the most valuable assets of the Group and a core
driving force for the successful development of the business.
The Group takes a proactive approach to recruiting and retaining
competent people; stringently executes national and local
laws, regulations and local policies related to remuneration
management; moves forward with the establishment of a
market-oriented remuneration mechanism; and improves the
management of internal remuneration in an impartial manner.
Various sets of internal labour and employment policies were
formulated and enhanced in 2017.
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TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

The Group is committed to promoting staff training and career
development by organizing a wide range of staff training
activities. During the year under review, CRSB’s average staff
training hours reached 18 hours, more than the average of 17
hours in 2016, and the coverage rate of full-time employee
training was 100%. The Group offered training programs covering
various aspects. For example, the Group once again organized
the “Rising Stars” training program for staff who were newly
recruited graduates. The training program helped the graduates
adjust to work life. In addition, training programs focusing on
sales, finance and other functions were organized in support
of the Group’s strategic transformation. A series of mid-level
training programs were also organized for professional staff in
key positions to strengthen their specialization, professional
skills and business support capabilities. Moreover, to enhance
the work skills of junior staff, various training programs were
organized, including the management system on channel,
distribution, sales and marketing, and apprenticeship schemes.
All these training programs fully reflected the Group’s emphasis
on upgrading the skills of staff at all levels.

To increase the efficiency and scope of training, an online
training management system and a mobile learning system were
introduced during the year under review to cover all the business
staff, in addition to the continuous optimization of “i-Learning”,
an online learning system.

Staff Care

The Group places great emphasis on creating an inclusive and
caring working environment. Since its establishment in 20086,
“Snow Relief Fund” has been assisting staff and their families
who have difficulties with their livelihood or health by way
of internal donations. During the year under review, the fund
provided aids to about 30 staff.

The Group’s senior management continued their interaction with
frontline staff and conducted in-depth communications with
them to find out about their needs, strengthen team building
and deepen the management of staff care. In addition, the Group
carried out a “Cool Gift” campaign during the peak production
period in the summer, where heat stroke prevention products
were distributed to frontline production workers. Meanwhile, the
“Running Health” campaign helped promote a work-life balance
to improve the physical and mental health of all staff.
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SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

To ensure the high service level of suppliers, through the
knowledge and compliance test, site visits and annual integrated
assessments, the Group continued to optimize the phase-
out mechanism for suppliers. Suppliers who do not pass the
assessment will be prohibited from co-operation with the Group
for 5 years. The Group has evaluated and renewed the supplier
list based on the assessment results. During the year under
review, about 200 suppliers were phased out and about 170 new
suppliers were introduced. In addition to updating the supplier
list, stringent internal guidelines were established for supply
chain management. The process for co-operation with suppliers
are assessed monthly with regard to seven indicators: quality,
timeliness, accuracy, declined orders, returned goods, violation
behaviours and flawed products.

CUSTOMER SATISFACTION AND CONSUMER
DATA PROTECTION

To enhance its customer service quality, the Group established
a rapid market complaint response system, utilizing a unified
national customer service hotline to standardize the process
of handling customer complaints. The Group also improved its
factory production information management, to trace production
information rapidly and accurately. Consumers can enjoy high
quality services from the Group’s excellent customer service
system.

The Group constantly improves production quality as well as
service standards to continuously raise customer satisfaction.
In recent years, the Group improved the recycling method and
optimized the management of the sources of beer bottles.
The Group also enhanced the supervision of the production
process and reduced the chances of producing beer containing
impurities. In 2017, the Group once again carried out the “No
Inverted Bottles in Packaging Lines” scheme to minimize the risk
of gas leakage during the production process.

Protection of consumer privacy forms an integral part of
the customer relationship management and an essential
section of the service process. In 2017, the Group continued
to optimize its customer relationship management system,
and revised and supplemented relevant rules and procedures.
By means of information encryption and permission settings,
an information isolation strategy was executed in different
regions and departments and at different management levels
in the process of using information to make sure no consumer
information was disclosed or lost. Relevant staff are required to
comply with China’s confidentiality legislation and the “System
Governing Confidentiality”, and to sign a “Letter of Undertaking
on Confidentiality” to fulfill their duty of confidentiality and to
ensure information security.
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MAJOR HIGHLIGHTS OF THE COMPANY’S
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE:

1. A balanced portfolio of Board members by age and length
of Board services. Besides, the directors draw a vast
experience and diversified knowledge across different
disciplines, including the areas of trading and commerce,
accounting and finance, legal, banking and civil services.

EZERBEY

Length of Board services

105 AR 5

less than 10 years: 5

106 AE - 5

10 years or above: 5

2. Board committees are a vital part of the Board
effectiveness. To facilitate more professional advices
of various areas in the committees, the members of
Nomination Committee, Compensation Committee and
Audit Committee are mainly constituted by independent
non-executive directors and each committee is chaired by
a different independent non-executive director.

3.  In 2017, a majority of the independent non-executive
directors, together with executive director and Chief
Financial Officer and management, have been arranged
a site visit to a brewery in Beijing to discuss about risk
management at operational level.
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It is the firm belief of the Company that a good and solid
corporate governance framework is essential to the successful
growth of the Company and the enhancement of shareholder
value. The Company is committed to attaining and maintaining
high standards of corporate governance and adopts principles
of corporate governance emphasising a quality Board,
accountability to all stakeholders, open communication and fair
disclosure.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

On 8 April 2005, the Company adopted the Corporate Governance
Practice Manual (“CG Manual”). The CG Manual which was
revised on 31 March 2009, 18 November 2010, 21 March 2012,
7 December 2015 and 18 March 2016, incorporates almost
all the Code Provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
(“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) (“Listing Rules”) and includes the
implementation details for the Code Provisions and, where
appropriate, the Recommended Best Practices. The CG Manual
can be downloaded from the Company’s website and copies are
available on request to the Company Secretary.

The Company has complied with the Code Provisions set out in
the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2017, save
and except the following:

In respect of Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, all the
non-executive directors are not appointed for a fixed term.
The Board does not believe in any arbitrary term of office. The
current arrangement will give the Company sufficient flexibility
to organize the composition of the Board to serve the needs of
the Group. Further, the Articles of Association of the Company
requires that one third of the directors (including executive
and non-executive directors) shall retire each year and every
director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years. The directors to retire each year shall be those
appointed by the Board during the year and those who have been
longest in office since their election or re-election. A retiring
director is eligible for re-election.

In respect of Code Provision A.5.6 of the CG Code, the Board did
not have a policy concerning diversity of Board members but the
Board is actively considering the adoption of the relevant policy.

In respect of Code Provision C.1.2 of the CG Code, the Company
has not provided all members of the Board with monthly updates
to enable the Board as a whole and each director to discharge
their duties. However, the Company has based on business
situation, provided to the Board from time to time, updated
business information to enable the Board as a whole and each
director to discharge their duties.
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In respect of Code Provision D.1.4 of the CG Code, the
Company did not have formal letters of appointment for
directors. However, the directors are subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years in accordance with
the Articles of Association of the Company. In addition, the
directors are required to refer to the guidelines set out in “A
Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued by the Companies Registry
and “Guidelines for Directors”, and, if applicable, “Guide for
Independent Non-Executive Directors” published by the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors in performing their duties and
responsibilities as directors of the Company. Besides, the
directors are required to comply with the requirements under
the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements.

In respect of Code Provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, Mr. Chen Lang,
the Chairman could not attend the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 25 May 2017 due to business appointments.

In addition to meet the requirements of the Listing Rules, the
inclusion of the Corporate Governance Report in this Annual
Report is intended to keep our shareholders abreast of the
corporate governance practices of the Company and their
development throughout the reporting year and to invite our
shareholders’ views thereon.

THE BOARD

The Board represents shareholders in managing the Company’s
affairs. The directors recognise their responsibilities to enhance
shareholder value and to conduct themselves in accordance
with their duty of care and integrity.

The major issues which are brought before the Board for their
decisions include:

1. direction of the operational strategies of the Group;

2. setting the policies relating to key business and financial
objectives of the Company;

3. monitoring the performance of the management;

4. approval of material acquisitions, investments,
divestments, disposal of assets or any significant capital
expenditure of the Group;

5. ensuring a prudent and effective risk management and
internal control systems;

6. review of the financial performance and results of the
Company; and

7. recommendation to shareholders of the Company on final
dividend and the declaration of any interim or special
dividends.
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The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties set out in paragraph D.3.1 of the CG Code, and
in this regard the duties of the Board shall include:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to
the Board;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and the senior
management;

3.  toreview and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors of the Company; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report as referred
to in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the Board considered the following
corporate governance matters:

. approval of the Corporate Governance Report of the
Company; and

. review of the results of the internal audit work on the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements of each financial period which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flows for that period. The financial statements are prepared
and presented to enable a clear and balanced assessment of the
financial position of the Group. Regular management reports on
the financial position and prospects of the Group are reviewed
by the Executive Committee to enable the Board to make an
informed assessment of the performance of the Company.

In the financial year ended 31 December 2017, and up to the
date of this Report, there was no change to the membership of
the Board.
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As at the date of this Report, the Board comprises 10 directors,
including three executive directors (which contain the Chairman,
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer), two
non-executive directors and five independent non-executive
directors. The biographical details of the directors are set out on
pages 30 to 35 of this Annual Report and can also be found on
the Company’s website. The relationships (including financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationships)
if any, among members of the Board are disclosed. There is
no such relationship as between the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules, the Company
has received written confirmation from each of the independent
non-executive directors confirming his independence from the
Company, and considers all of the independent non-executive
directors to be independent.

The experience and views of our independent non-executive
directors are held in high regard and contribute to the effective
direction of the Group. Throughout the year of 2017, the Company
complied with the requirements under the Listing Rules by
maintaining the proportion of its independent non-executive
directors to at least one third of the total members of the Board.

The Company has put in place a tailored induction programme
for its newly appointed directors. Continuing development and
information are provided to the directors to keep them abreast
of the latest developments involving the Group’s business and
operations.

The structure, size and composition of the Board are reviewed
from time to time to ensure that the Board has a balanced
composition of skills and expertise appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company. Appointments
are first considered by the Nomination Committee. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee are then put to
the full Board for decision.
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All directors (including executive and non-executive directors)
are not appointed for a fixed term. The Board does not believe
in any arbitrary term of office and would like to retain sufficient
flexibility to organise the composition of the Board to serve the
needs of the Group. All directors are subject to re-election by
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting
following their appointment and at least once every three years
on a rotation basis. The Articles of Association of the Company
require that one-third of the directors (including executive and
non-executive directors) shall retire each year. The directors who
are required to retire each year shall be those appointed by the
Board during the year and those who have been longest in office
since their election or re-election. A retiring director is eligible
for re-election.

During the year of 2017, the positions of the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer were held separately. The role of
Chairman was held by Mr. Chen Lang and Mr. Hou Xiaohai held
the position of Chief Executive Officer. The segregation of duties
of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer ensures a clear
distinction in the Chairman’s responsibility to manage the Board
and the Chief Executive Officer’s responsibility to manage the
Company’s business. The respective responsibilities of the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are more fully set out
in the CG Manual.

Mr. Chen Lang, the Chairman could not attend the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 25 May 2017 due to
business appointments. The Chief Executive Officer and either
the chairman or at least one member of the Audit Committee,
Compensation Committee and Nomination Committee attended
the annual general meeting to ensure effective communication
with the shareholders of the Company. Separate resolution was
proposed at the annual general meeting on each substantially
separate issue, including re-election of each retiring director
and was put to vote at the meeting by way of poll. Detailed
procedures for conducting a poll were explained at the meeting.

The Board meets regularly and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Between these regular
meetings, the Board meets to discuss and consider major issues
(whether or not required by the Listing Rules) and also on other
occasions when Board decisions are required. With respect
to regular meetings of the Board, directors usually receive at
least 14 days prior written notice of the meeting and an agenda
with supporting Board papers no less than 3 days prior to the
meeting. With respect to other meetings called, directors are
given as much notice as is reasonable and practicable in the
circumstances. The directors have full access to information
on the Group and independent professional advice whenever
deemed necessary by the directors.
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EEEN t¢ tARM6REE (2¥EZ  During the year of 2017, 6 meetings (including meetings by
H] 7R 58 52 ) ER-T— ’tﬁﬂjfﬂxﬁ way of circulation of written resolutions) were held by the
=l §$E E.E3é EZZEEEH  FM  Board. The attendance of the directors at general meeting(s),
ZEgeRMIRREESEENFER %ZE/Q\T Board meeting(s), Audit Committee meeting(s), Compensation
= Committee meeting(s) and Nomination Committee meeting(s)
held in 2017 is set out in the table below:
RRBEEAE 3 ERZE® FMERE REZEE
Annual Board Audit Compensation Nomination
General Meeting (BRHERY Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee
(BERERERY Meeting(s) (BRERERY (SRHERY (FELERE
Meeting attended // Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s)
attended // E{T R #held) attended /'  attended,/  attended
£17XHheld) R S W HTRHheld) BT R Hheld) £TXHheld)
#{TEE Executive Directors
BRBAsE Mr. Chen Lang 0/1 4/4 0/0 22
REBRE Mr. Hou Xiaohai Al 44 0/0 2/2
REZLE Mr. Lai Po Sing, Tomakin 11 4/4 0/0 2/2 11
FHTEE Non-Executive Directors
Bz E Mr. Chen Rong 0/1 b4 0/0 2/2
b3 g/ Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank 0/1 44 0/0 2/2
B H{TEZS Independent Non-Executive Directors
ERERE Mr. Houang Tai Ninh 11 4/4 0/0 22 212 212 17 A
)
FREAL Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric 11 414 0/0 2/2 2/2 2/2 11 3
! X
BRBEL Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses 0/1 44 0/0 2/2 2/2 2/2 =
REBEE Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan Al b4 0/0 2/2 2/2 il Q f&f
B Mr. Siu Kwing Chus, Gordon 11 Wh 00 2/2 212 11 3 O
s
=z
“E-tFENBEERY (-
Total number of meetings held in 2017 1 6 2 20 1
i
Notes:
R: TFEH® % Regular Meeting
S R & Special Meeting
W: EMRFEZ Written Resolutions
(1) FMZEEgRE - ER—AUERFRET - AR —RUEERAERE RS -

Among the Compensation Committee resolutions, one was passed by way of physical meeting and one was passed by way of written

resolutions.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Pursuant to Code A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

The Company has put in place an on-going training and
professional development program for directors.

Each newly appointed director would receive an induction
package covering the statutory and regulatory obligations of
a director of a listed company. The Company also provides
briefings and other training to develop and refresh the directors’
knowledge and skill.

All directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has sent reading materials
to directors on regulatory updates or information relevant to the
Company or its business.

In 2017, a majority of the independent non-executive directors,
together with executive director and Chief Financial Officer and
accompanied by the management, have been arranged a site
visit to a brewery in Beijing to discuss about risk management at
operational level.
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The Company has received from all directors records of their
continuous professional development trainings during the year.
Details of which are set out in below table:

BESERRZER
Type of Continuous Professional Development

B HEWSE REREAARAR

kR/BEBER S RwE HEB 2B
FRAAHE KRR EEEMRER
23K RREHA Reading regulatory
Receiving training, updates or
attending and/or giving information relevant to
talks at seminar and/or the Company
conference and/or forums or its business
$1TE = Executive Directors
BREASE A& Mr. Chen Lang v v/
REZEBTE Mr. Hou Xiaohai v v
REBLA Mr. Lai Po Sing, Tomakin v v
JE#1TE = Non-Executive Directors
e Mr. Chen Rong v v/
RoL ke Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank v v
B I ITESE Independent Non-Executive Directors
BAELA Mr. Houang Tai Ninh v v/
FRE-T Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric v v
BIREH L Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses v v/
FRE B4 Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan v v/
AT ST AE Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon v v

ExERE

HAEEENEMNREYABAEIINER
ARRWMEE  ERARATIAEETE
ETm:

b

(a) %EM—EEAE&ITTWI@LEE’Ji
BERTARRETHERE - £
MEZEBERENTZES ﬁﬂ%?é-\
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(b) BRATE —ARAEBHBEEER
THEXHEFATERE  MEEH
TERIARNESEEAE -

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

While the Board retains at all times full responsibility for guiding
and monitoring the Company, certain responsibilities of the
Board are delegated as follows:

(a) Committees — various committees have been established
by the Board to administer certain specified functions
of the Company’s affairs. The main committees include:
the Executive Committee, the Finance Committee, the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Compensation Committee. The terms of reference of the
Executive Committee, the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Compensation Committee which
set out, among other things, the duties, functions and
composition of these committees are set out in the CG
Manual and available on the Company’s website; and

(b) Chief Executive Officer — the day-to-day management of
the Company’s business is delegated to the Chief Executive
Officer who is accountable to the Board.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Chairman:  Mr. Houang Tai Ninh (Independent Non-Executive
Director)
Members:  Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric, Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan,

Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon (all are Independent
Non-Executive Directors) and Mr. Lai Po Sing,
Tomakin (Executive Director)

The duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board and to make
recommendation after such review and to assess the suitability
and qualification of any proposed director candidate. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee are then put
forward for consideration and adoption, where appropriate, by
the Board. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
setting out its duties and procedures was revised on 21 March
2012 and 7 December 2015, and are available on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Chairman: Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon (Independent Non-
Executive Director)
Members:  Mr. Houang Tai Ninh, Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric and Dr.

Cheng Mo Chi, Moses (all are Independent Non-
Executive Directors)

The duties of the Compensation Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure of remuneration of directors and senior management,
establishing a formal and transparent procedure for developing
policy on remuneration and determining the specific
remuneration packages for all directors and senior management.
The terms of reference of the Compensation Committee setting
out its duties and procedures was revised on 21 March 2012 and
7 December 2015, and are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The remuneration of the directors and senior executives
is determined with reference to the performance and
responsibilities of the individual, the performance of the Group,
prevailing market conditions and remuneration benchmarks
from comparable companies. Directors and employees also
participate in bonus arrangements based on the performance of
the Group and the individual.
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During the year under review, the Compensation Committee met
once and passed one written resolutions on matters including:

. recommendations on the directors fees to the Board.

. approval of the remuneration packages of the directors of
the Company.

. review of the incentive award to the senior management of
the subsidiary of the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Chairman:  Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric (Independent Non-Executive

Director)
Members:  Mr. Houang Tai Ninh, Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses and
Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan (all are Independent
Non-Executive Directors)

One of the members of the Audit Committee has appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. No member of this Committee is a
member of the former or existing auditors of the Company. The
membership of the Audit Committee has complied with the
Listing Rules requirement that the majority of its members
must be independent and one of whom must have appropriate
professional qualification. The existing terms of reference of the
Audit Committee which was revised on 18 November 2010, are
modeled on “A Guide for Effective Audit Committee” issued by
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and have
also adopted the principles set out in the CG Code for the time
being in force. Pursuant to the amendments to Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules, the terms of reference of the Audit Committee
was further revised on 21 March 2012 and 7 December 2015,
and are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The duties of the Audit Committee include considering and
making recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditors, review of the
Company’s financial information and oversight of the Company’s
financial report system and internal control procedures.
During the year under review, the Audit Committee met on two
occasions. The work of the Audit Committee in 2017 included
reviews of:

. the external auditor’s report to the Audit Committee in
respect of 2016 audit;

. the 2016 annual report and annual results announcement;
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. audit strategy memorandum in respect of the 2017 audit
by the external auditor;

. connected party transactions;
. the 2017 interim report and interim results announcement;
. the reports of internal audit activities;

. the staffing and resources of the Group’s Internal Audit
Department; and

. the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
functions.

During the reporting year, the Audit Committee met with the
external auditor on two occasions.

The Audit Committee has considered the performance and
independence of the external auditor of the Company. The Audit
Committee concludes that the independence of the external
auditor of the Company has not been compromised by non-audit
services performed for the Group. The statement by the external
auditor about its reporting responsibilities relating to the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 is
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 81 to 92.
During the year under review, audit fees paid and payable to the
Company’s external auditor amount to approximately RMB11
million (2016: approximately RMB11 million); no fees related to
non-audit services was paid (2016: approximately RMB1 million).

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The interests held by the directors in the Company’s securities
as at 31 December 2017 are disclosed in the Directors’ Report
on pages 68 to 70 of this Annual Report. On 8 April 2005,
the Company has adopted a Code of Ethics and Securities
Transactions (“Code of Ethics”) which incorporates the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. The
Code of Ethics has been amended, approved and reconfirmed
by the Board on 6 April 2006, 4 April 2007, 31 March 2008 and
further revised on 31 March 2009, 18 November 2010, and 7
December 2015 respectively. The prohibitions on securities
dealing and disclosure requirements in the Code of Ethics also
apply to specified individuals who include the Group’s senior
management and persons who are privy to inside information of
the Group. The Code of Ethics is on terms no less exacting than
the required standard set out in the Model Code. Having made
specific enquiry with the directors, all directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2017.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board assumes overall responsibility to establish and
maintain sound systems in risk management, internal control
and governance to provide reasonable, though not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives. The Board confirms that it is the overall responsibility
of the Board to establish and effectively implement the risk
management and internal control systems to ensure the
smooth operation of business, safeguard the Group’s assets
and shareholders’ interests as well as ensure the reliability of
financial statements.

The Group adopts the control framework consistent with the
frameworks recommended by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organisations of the Treadway Commission in the United States
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
as the standards in establishing risk management and
control systems among our Group companies. The Group’s
risk management and internal control systems include five
key elements, namely the existence of an effective control
environment, risk management, communication and information
system, cost effective control activities and monitoring
mechanism.

The Group requires its business unit to identify and assess
the risks and impact at least once every year. The executive
management team of the business unit is accountable for the
conduct and performance of each operation in the business unit
within the agreed strategies and similarly the management of
each operation is accountable for its conduct and performance.
Policies and procedures are designed for safeguarding corporate
assets, maintaining proper accounting records and ensuring
transactions are executed in accordance with management
authorisation. Monthly management reports on the financial
results and key operation indicators are reviewed by the
Executive Committee of the Board. Regular meetings are held
with the executive management team of the business unit to
review the actual performance against budget.

Our Internal Audit Function, reporting to the Audit Committee
and Chairman of the Board respectively, is responsible for
assessing the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems, formulating an impartial opinion on the effectiveness
and efficiency of the systems, and reporting its findings to
the Executive Committee and the Audit Committee. Follow-up
review will be conducted in due course to ensure that audit
recommendations are being properly implemented. The Internal
Audit conducts independent reviews on the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems on an on-going basis.
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Depending on the nature and risk exposure of the Group’s
business, the scope of work performed by the internal audit
function covers all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions.

Results of internal audit activities are reported to the Audit
Committee at least once semi-annually and the corrective
actions are taken by the business unit. The Board conducts
regular reviews of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems through the Internal Audit Function and the
Audit Committee.

With respect to internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Company shall assess
the circumstances under which inside information may arise
from time to time and disclose inside information as soon
as reasonably practicable in accordance with the Securities
and Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules. The Company
conducts its business affairs with close regard to the “Guidelines
on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the Securities
and Futures Commission and imposes a strict prohibition on
the unauthorised use of confidential or inside information
by directors, employees and other relevant persons (such as
external service providers and project working team members).

Based on the assessment for the year ended 31 December
2017, the Board and the Audit Committee believe that the risk
management and internal control systems provide reasonable
assurance that the Group’s assets are safeguarded and there is
no significant area of concerns that may affect shareholders.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

No change has been made to the Company’s Articles of
Association during the year.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

CONVENING EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING AND
PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

In accordance with Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance,
the directors are required to call a general meeting if the
Company has received requests to do so from members of the
Company representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of
all the members having a right to vote at general meeting. Such
requests must (a) state the general nature of the business to
be dealt with at the meeting; and (b) may include the text of a
resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to be
moved at the meeting. Such requests (a) may be sent to the
Company in hard copy form (by depositing at the registered
office of the Company for the attention of the Board) or in
electronic form (by email: ir@cre.com.hk); and (b) must be
authenticated by the person or persons making it. In accordance
with Section 567 of the Companies Ordinance, the directors
must call a meeting within 21 days after the date on which they
become subject to the requirement under Section 566 of the
Companies Ordinance and such meeting must be held on a date
not more than 28 days after the date of the notice convening the
meeting.

Besides, Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance provides that
the Company must give notice of a resolution if it has received
requests that it do so from (a) the members of the Company
representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the
members who have a right to vote on the resolution at the
annual general meeting to which the requests relate; or (b) at
least 50 members who have a right to vote on the resolution at
the annual general meeting to which the requests relate. Such
requests (a) may be sent to the Company in hard copy form
(by depositing at the registered office of the Company for the
attention of the Board) or in electronic form (by email: ir@cre.
com.hk); (b) must identify the resolution of which notice is to
be given; (c) must be authenticated by the person or persons
making it; and (d) must be received by the Company not later
than (i) 6 weeks before the annual general meeting to which
the requests relate; or (ii) if later, the time at which notice is
given of that meeting. Section 616 of the Companies Ordinance
provides that the Company that is required under Section 615
of the Companies Ordinance to give notice of a resolution must
send a copy of it at the Company’s own expense to each member
of the Company entitled to receive notice of the annual general
meeting (a) in the same manner as the notice of the meeting;
and (b) at the same time as, or as soon as reasonably practicable
after, it gives notice of the meeting.
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PROCEDURE FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE A
PERSON FOR ELECTION AS DIRECTOR

Pursuant to Articles 112 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, no person other than a director retiring at a meeting
shall, unless recommended by the directors, be appointed
a director at a general meeting unless at least seven days’
previous notice in writing (to be lodged no earlier than the day
after the despatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for
such election and no later than seven days prior to the date
of such meeting) shall have been given to the Company of the
intention of any member qualified to vote at the meeting to
propose any person other than a retiring director for election to
the office of director with notice executed by that person of his
willingness to be appointed.

Not less than three nor more than twenty-eight days before the
date appointed for holding a general meeting notice shall be
given to all who are entitled to receive notice of the meeting of
any person in respect of whom notice has been duly given to the
Company under Article 112.1 of the Articles of Association of the
Company.

The aforesaid procedures is available on the website of the
Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular
communication and fair disclosure of information to its
shareholders. Accurate and fair disclosure is necessary for
shareholders to form their own judgement on the operation and
performance of the Group.

The Company has established a Shareholder’s Communication
Policy and the said policy is available on the website of the
Company.

Based on this policy, legitimate questions arising from generally
disclosed information deserves a reasonable reply. The Investor
Relations Department is responsible for managing investor
relations and will respond to such shareholders’ and analysts’
enquiries.

The Company’s website provides shareholders, investors,
existing and prospective partners and counterparties with
information on the Company’s corporate governance practices.
Copies of such information can be obtained from the Company
Secretary upon written request.
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Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board by addressing them to the Investor Relations
Department of the Company. The contact details are as follows:

Investor Relations Department

China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
39th Floor, China Resources Building

26 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Email: ir@cre.com.hk

Tel No.: 852-2829 9889

Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Registrar.

By order of the Board
CHEN LANG
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2018
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The directors have pleasure in presenting to the shareholders
their report and the audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group has been principally engaged in the manufacturing,
sales and distribution of beer products. The principal activity of
the Company is investment holding. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries are shown on pages 153 to 157. An analysis of the
Group’s performance for the year by regional segments is set out
in Note 6 to the financial statements.

GROUP PROFIT

The consolidated profit and loss account is set out on page 93
and shows the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December
2017.

DIVIDENDS

The Board recommends a final dividend of RMBO0.07 per share
for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: RMBO0.08 per share)
payable on or around 15 June 2018 to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on
30 May 2018. The final dividend, if approved, is to be payable in
cash in Hong Kong dollars which will be converted from RMB at
the average CNY Central Parity Rate announced by the People’s
Bank of China for the five business days prior to and including
the date of the Annual General Meeting (as defined in the below
section headed “Closure of Register of Members”). Together with
the interim dividend of RMBO0.07 per share, the total dividend
for 2017 will amount to RMBO0.14 per share (2016: RMB0.08 per
share).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 17 May 2018 to Thursday, 24 May 2018, both days
inclusive, during which no transfer of shares of the Company will
be registered. In order to determine the identity of members who
are entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting
to be held on 24 May 2018 (the “Annual General Meeting”),
all share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Share
Registrar, Tricor Standard Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 16 May 2018 for registration.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS (Continued)

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting, the proposed final dividend will be payable to
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company after the close of business at 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 30 May 2018, and the register of members of the
Company will be closed on Wednesday, 30 May 2018, during
which no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In
order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all share transfer
documents, accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Standard
Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 29 May 2018 for
registration.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2017 is set out in the sections headed “Financial
Highlights”, “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion
and Analysis”, “Corporate Risk Management”, “Corporate Social
Responsibility” and “Corporate Governance Report” from pages
10 to 11, pages 16 to 19, pages 23 to 26, pages 36 to 37, pages 38
to 46 and pages 47 to 63 respectively of this Annual Report.

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations in particular, those having
significant impact on the Group. Any changes in the applicable
laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention of
relevant employees and business unit from time to time. As far
as the Company is aware, it has complied in material respects
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Company.

FIXED ASSETS

Movements in the fixed assets of the Group during the year are
set out in Note 16 to the financial statements.

SHARES ISSUED

Details of the shares issued by the Company during the year are
set out in Note 28 to the financial statements.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
approximately RMB2,000,000.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date
of this report were as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Lang (Chairman)
Mr. Hou Xiaohai (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lai Po Sing, Tomakin (Chief Financial Officer)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Rong
Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Houang Tai Ninh

Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric

Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses
Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan
Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon

In accordance with Article 110 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Hou Xiaohai, Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric, Dr. Cheng Mo
Chi, Moses, Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan shall retire by rotation
at the Annual General Meeting and are eligible for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors has a service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
employing company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
which the Company, its subsidiaries, its parent company or the
subsidiaries of its parent company were a party and in which a
director of the Company or his connected entities had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of directors are set out on pages 30 to 35.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The name of directors and alternate director who have served
on the board of the subsidiaries of the Company during the year
and up to the date of this report is available on the Company’s
website at www.crbeer.com.hk under “Investor Relations -
Corporate Governance”

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association of the Company provide that every
director shall be indemnified out of the funds of the Company
against all liability incurred by him as such director in defending
any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgement is
given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liability
and costs associated with defending any proceedings which
may be brought against the directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2017, the interests and short positions of
the directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong (“SFQ”), which have been notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO, including interests and short positions which
the directors and chief executive of the Company are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO, or which are
required to be and are recorded in the register required to be
kept pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules were as follows:

(A) INTERESTS IN ISSUED ORDINARY SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

HEERF AL

RHEE Aggregate
EEpgE BE KRR Number of percentage of
Name of director Long position/Short position shares interest’ (%)
PREA e 400,000 0.01
Chen Lang Long position
xZ8 e 768,000 0.02
Hou Xiaohai Long position
B R 149,498 0.01
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position
FRIF E 271,817 0.01
Li Ka Cheung, Eric Long position
B sE Notes:
1. BARARMPOFREEERRRNR 1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in

E—tF+-A=+—-BEBTROHEH
B -

2. EXFBEESAREESUERABA
ZEMEA -

shares of the Company to the total issued shares of the Company as
at 31 December 2017.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by each director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (Continued)

(B) INTERESTS IN ISSUED ORDINARY SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at the same date, certain directors had interests in the
issued ordinary shares of associated corporations (within
the meaning of the SFO):

(i)  Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated
corporation, China Resources Land Limited (“CR

Iz s Land”):
HiGEEF AL
R EE Aggregate

BEEpgs HR /KR Number of percentage of

Name of director Long position/Short position shares interest’ (%)

BRIk WA 10,000 0.01

Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position

PR A 50,000 0.0

Li Ka Cheung, Eric Long position

B3 Notes:

14 ?EQ}Eﬁﬁiﬁ&ﬁ’qiifﬁ%iﬁ@@ﬁ@%ﬂﬁii&? 1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in
BN T —tE&+-_A=+—RACHHT shares of CR Land to the total issued shares of CR Land as at 31
RDBEHE DL © December 2017.

% EXFBBE e HES AT SES 2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the director in his
AZEDFEE - capacity as beneficial owner.

(i) R—EEBEE — EBRRER (i) Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated
BRAR (TEBRR]) 2817 corporation, China Resources Gas Group Limited (“CR
TR Gas”):

HibEZEF DL
R&HOEE Aggregate

EEnE "R/ RR Number of percentage of

Name of director Long position/Short position shares interest’ (%)

BOL g 10,000 0.01

Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position

Bt 5T Notes:

1. BB TS REOEBRRR D BEEER 1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions
MEAR_ZT—tF+_A=+—HBE®T in shares of CR Gas to the total issued shares of CR Gas as at 31
RN BEH B DL © December 2017.

2. EXFBEBRs e BEEEUERES 2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the director in his

AZENHE -

capacity as beneficial owner.
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EECoESER @)

(2) REBEEERTEBERKAERBER  (B)
DHREFNER (&)

(i) M—RBEEEE — FEE TR
BERAA ([EFHEAN]) D#T

INTERESTS IN

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (Continued)
ISSUED ORDINARY SHARES

AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF ASSOCIATED

CORPORATIONS (Continued)

(iii) Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated
corporation, China Resources Power Holdings

Ll s Company Limited (“CR Power”):
LR F AL

BRHEHE Aggregate
EERE HE SRR Number of percentage of
Name of director Long position/Short position shares interest’ (%)
B HaE 10,000 0.01
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position
BisE Notes:
1. EHRMMP RHNERENRNDERLER 1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in

BAR_T—+F+-A=+—A2EH
ARHRBNESL -

2. EXFBBE s REREHESTUNESESR
AZBDEHE -

(iv) RM—RHEBEEEE — FEAOBER
BERAT (TFEBHKED 2317

shares of CR Power to the total issued shares of CR Power as at 31

December 2017.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the director in his

capacity as beneficial owner.

(iv) Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated
corporation, China Resources Cement Holdings

LM s Limited (“CR Cement”):
HibEZF DL
Aggregate

EEnE "R/ KR BRDEE percentage of
Name of director Long position/Short position Number of shares interest' (%)
A A 40,000 0.01
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position
BiRE - Notes:
1. AT B P8 R BV EE BRI B BE 1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in

KERZZE—+FE+_A=+—HBHT
B BB B DL -

2. EXmEBE G MmERAERER
AZENHE -

shares of CR Cement to the total issued shares of CR Cement as at

31 December 2017.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the director in his

capacity as beneficial owner.

P (k) AMAE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
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BEAABESNRKRR SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE INTERESTS

RCZE-—tF+_RA=+—H KBREXF# As at 31 December 2017, other than the interests and short
ERER AR - LT ALTRARQAIHA  positions as disclosed above, the following persons have
HRBERNPHEBERE(ERFRLRHBEMR  interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares
B EXVHBE_RE=DEHMAAGHEENX of the Company as they fall to be disclosed to the Company

ELHERANRIAFENELMANEERS  under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in

KRB the register required to be kept by the Company:
BERRAERA
RERZHRABE
Number of
shares in which
BE/ K& the interested EREAM
Long position/ party is deemed Percentage of
BEREHEH Name of interested party Short position to have interests shareholding (%)
HEEEER A China Resources Company e 1,684,077,366 51.91
(ThEzER]) (k1) Limited (“CRC”) (Note 1) Long position
EBROHERRA China Resources Co., Limited e 1,684,077,366 51.91
(TR, 1) (fET) (“CRCQ”) (Note 1) Long position
CRC Bluesky Limited (Fi#zF1)  CRC Bluesky Limited (Note 1) 55) 1,684,077,366 51.91
Long position
28 (58) BRA China Resources (Holdings) e 1,684,077,366 51.91
([Z=EEE)) (I‘ﬁaﬂ) Company Limited Long position
(“CRH") (Note 1)
EHEE (F8) ARA CRH (CRE) Limited (Note 1) HE 1,676,338,664 51.67
(BzE1) Long position
ERAIZARRA (M) China Resources Enterprise, 18 1,676,338,664 51.67
Limited (Note 1) Long position
EHEE (BF) RO CRH (Beer) Limited (Note 1) e 1,676,338,664 51.67
(BzE1) Long position
Gaoling Fund, L.P. (Ffz£2) Gaoling Fund, L.P (Note 2) HAE 167,773,767 5.17
Long position
Hillhouse Capital Hillhouse Capital Management,  #7& 163,771,399 5.05

Management, Ltd. (Fi33)

Ltd. (Note 3) Long position
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BEEEAEHRERNRE @)

1. EHER (BB ARAFREEER QRS A
B E ¥ A AR A1,676,338,6648% 7,738,702
BRAR 1D - ZEEERE (B) AR AR AEHAIZE
BRATIMNZEAMB AT - MEHEERAA
REBEE (F8) ARARNEZEMNBAR -
EHEE (FR) ERAFDREGEERAAYA
EHEENERE2ENB AR - EHEEACRC
Bluesky Limitedt) B 25 2 & ff & 2 &) - MCRC
Bluesky Limited HEMRMNEZEHE - EHKRMD
RPEEN (MIEPEEBERR) NEKRER
2EWB AR - At - #EHEE - CRC Bluesky
Limited « EHRH RPEEBER RS HLRAEAR
71,684,077,366 B8 X1H P HEH R o

2. Gaoling Fund, L.P. BIRMHNEZEFAA °

3. Hillhouse Capital Management, Ltd. A & &
KB GHFARD - & F148,667,7678 7 &
Gaoling Fund, L.P.fA%HE + 12,863,632/ 11 H
YHG Investment, L.P.f#E#4G + 2,240,0008% 1%
fiHillhouse InRe Fund, L.P.fE#E#HA

iR SR 89 165 R

AR BN A FE R4 B 3F N E B E
FISAE R AR e

FEBREXS

FA-AEEEBABALETETRS %
EXFREBLETRUBK [FERS] 2 [+
BRER S| BERSHHBTEARTHR
EWME=ZFT=ZTEABERXS ] ARFID
RHEZXZET ETRUEVUVATHREE
Ko BRZEABT ETRAF14AT1RR
AR EMNBER S ZFRMARN T

SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE INTERESTS
(Continued)

Notes:

1. CRH (Beer) Limited and Commotra Company Limited directly held
1,676,338,664 shares and 7,738,702 shares in the Company respectively.
CRH (Beer) Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Resources
Enterprise, Limited, which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH (CRE)
Limited. CRH (CRE) Limited and Commotra Company Limited are beneficially
wholly-owned subsidiaries of CRH. CRH is a beneficially wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRC Bluesky Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by CRCO.
CRCO is an ultimately beneficially wholly-owned subsidiary of CRC (formerly
known as China Resources National Corporation). Thus, CRH, CRC Bluesky
Limited, CRCO and CRC are deemed to be interested in an aggregate of
1,684,077,366 shares in the Company.

2. Gaoling Fund, L.P. is the beneficial owner of the shares.

3. Hillhouse Capital Management, Ltd. held the shares in the capacity of
investment manager. 148,667,767 shares of which were indirectly held by
Gaoling Fund, L.P.. 12,863,632 shares of which were indirectly held by YHG
Investment, L.P. 2,240,000 shares of which were indirectly held by Hillhouse
InRe Fund, L.P.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year
or subsisted at the end of the year.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group conducted certain transactions with
connected persons which constituted “connected transactions”
or “continuing connected transactions” under the Listing Rules.
Particulars of these transactions are also set out in Note 33
to the financial statements headed “Material Related Party
Transactions”, with respect to which the Company has complied
with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. Details of those transactions which are
subject to the reporting requirements under Rule 14A.71 of the
Listing Rules are summarised as follows:

FWRW ) AMR2AE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED

4R 2017 ANNUAL REPORT
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS PURSUANT

TO FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2016 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2015

On 20 December 20183, the Company issued an
announcement in connection with, among others, (i)
the intra-group lending arrangement with members of
the group of CRCO, CRH and their respective subsidiary
companies (“Framework Loan Agreements 2013”); (ii) the
provision of general banking services including deposits
services by China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (“CR
Bank”, a subsidiary of CRCO) and (iii) financial services and
products by China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. (“CR
Trust”, a subsidiary of CRCO) ((ii) and (iii) collectively the
“Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2013”). By virtue of
CRCO being the controlling shareholder of CRH, which in
turn holds a controlling interest in the Company, CRCO and
CRH are connected persons to the Company as defined
under the Listing Rules. In addition, CRCO holds more
than 50% of the registered capital of CR Bank and CR
Trust respectively, CR Bank and CR Trust are connected
persons of the Company under the Listing Rules, and any
transactions under the aforesaid agreements constituted
continuing connected transactions.

Each of the Framework Loan Agreements 2013 was for a
term of three years from 1 January 2014 to 31 December
2016.

The Framework Loan Agreements 2013 have been renewed
on substantially similar terms as the existing terms under
new framework loan agreements between the same parties
on 22 December 2016 (“Framework Loan Agreements
2016”) as set out in the announcement issued by the
Company on 22 December 2016. Each of the Framework
Loan Agreements 2016 was for a term of three years from 1
January 2017 to 31 December 2019.
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BEREXS @) CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(F)ER-ZE—XREFEEEFHZENR= (A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS PURSUANT

E-LFERSFEHR2SMUE
MEZ 5 (&)

BB NS AREBREMRG =
E-AFERERBER —FHH
THERANELNESBELR
(@%E%&ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂg)ﬁﬁﬁ
1,700,000,0007T * Fxim & B & %88 A
REEFENET— E mMEa&8E €
HeRHBEFESHERBEE —THE
ErAEESE ﬁTaﬂmeEE
MEBRASEAHTE

BE_Z—tHF+-_A=1T—BL#F
EABRAEEREN RERHRN
T—tF+TA=+t—BzZ&HB W

TO FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2016 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2015
(Continued)

As set out in the aforesaid announcement, the annual
lending cap which can be lent by the Group on any single
day (inclusive of interest received and anticipated to be
received) under both of the Framework Loan Agreements
2016 is HK$1,700,000,000. Such maximum daily amount is
applicable for each day during the relevant year, and such
maximum daily amount is calculated on an individual basis
as outstanding at the end of each day during the relevant
year without aggregating with the daily amount incurred on
the days before.

Information on all the above-mentioned lending made
by the Group during the year ended or balance as at 31
December 2017 (if any) were as follows:

B) MERIDT

RN RZB-t%
HEERAR Ef%E +ZA=t-H
Borrower’s Interest B#E
E¥A EE N immediate BRA b HIR  rate per Balance
Lender Borrower holding company Guarantor  Principal amount Duration annum  at31/12/2017
EESREE (vE) EESHREBRAR EACEARAA EHEEH  ARY 300,000,000  07/08/2017- £.35% -
BRAT] China Resources Full Best CRLand  RMB 05/09/2017
Land Investment Enterprises
Limited Limited

HEZZ—+F+=ZA=+— Emi
EAR AEBER-_T— A NFEZR
KI5 R IJE’\J%IJ,%\,%@%EE%,%’JAE%
1,000,0007T (FEE R 4975 1,000,000
TT) °

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the aggregate
amount of interest received by the Group under Framework
Loan Agreements 2016 was approximately RMB1,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,000,000).

_f——i@iﬁ BEBEIRARA

Each of the Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2013 was for

ZT—NF-—A—HEZZ—R1F+ a term of two years from 1 January 2014 to 31 December
“A=t—HBIOMEFE - 2015.

P (k) AMAE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
4R 2017 ANNUAL REPORT
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS PURSUANT

TO FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2016 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2015
(Continued)

The Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2013 have been
renewed on substantially similar terms as the existing
terms under new strategic cooperation agreements
between the same parties dated 9 December 2015
(“Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2015”) as set out in
the announcements issued by the Company on 9 December
2015 and 23 December 2015 respectively. Each of the
Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2015 was for a term of
three years from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018.

CR Bank provides deposit and other commercial banking
services on normal commercial terms which apply to
other customers of CR Bank. Any deposit made with CR
Bank under the Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2015
will bear the same interest and be on the same terms and
conditions as would apply to a similar deposit made by any
other customer of CR Bank which rates are determined
with reference to that published by the People’s Bank of
China or such other preferential rates.

From time to time, the Group may use the commercial
banking services of CR Bank including, but not limited to,
letter of credit, letter of guarantee, granting of loans with
collaterals, bill acceptance and discount services, account
receivable factoring services, Renminbi and foreign
currency settlements, provision of entrustment loans and
security, wealth and cash management services, financial
consulting service and other financial services as agreed
by the parties. These services will be provided on normal
commercial terms which apply to other customers of CR
Bank.
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BEREXS @) CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(F)ER-ZE—XREFEEEFHZENR= (A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS PURSUANT

7

E-LFERSFEHR2SMUE
MEZ 5 (&)

EBEREAANRERHENRERSEE
FETRRRSER BEETRE £
AERRY - RESF  BREALRKR
% BMERRE EARERKAE
B RS N A EFE RS - L FEIRIEH
BRESRBEEGRREMR  IBERTE
REBERATAEBEFEEEN
RISERNERGTE -

BEARINR_-_ZT-—HF+-ANHA
PRz g HE_T - DFEE
BEHE AR AANEE A T RN E
BRITHWEZREEFRESE (B
ERAE  WEBERBONAEM) B
7##1,300,000,0007T °

HEz-_Z—+F+-_A=+—HI1:
FEARN AEBTFTHREBRITN
GTRZEARIAE2EAOAR
¥405,000,0007T (8 & M 4 & &
476,000,0007T) © ZEFHH REHF
B A A% A R%8,000,0007T (HE
RH##9,000,0007T) °

BEARANR _ZE—RHF+_A -+
“HRBEHm RS ERHRTERE
BEARNAEEBREFRRIEAING
TR EERNE IR ETE
REE_ZT—RF - ZZE—tFE=
E-NF+-A=+—HBIH=E4F
E&F T 2B E%1,300,000,000
5T e

BE Tttt _-_A=1t—HILF
BR - NEE W EERERRTHRE
BEERMERNENSBRE RE
o RSB AR A% M dn B AR
ERLAE -

TO FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2016 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2015
(Continued)

CR Trust provides financial services including, but not
limited to, cash management, asset management,
custodian trust loan services, equity cooperation, shares
nominee services, account receivable factoring services,
buying and resale services consulting services and other
trust services to the Group. These services will be provided
on normal commercial terms and will be charged at a
rate no less favourable as would apply to similar services
provided to any other customers of CR Trust.

As set out in the announcement issued by the Company on
9 December 2015, the proposed maximum daily deposit
amount, inclusive of interest payable rounded to the
nearest million, which may be placed by the Group with
CR Bank for the term of the relevant Strategic Cooperation
Agreements 2015 is HK$1,300,000,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the maximum daily
aggregate amount of outstanding deposits placed by the
Group with CR Bank was approximately RMB405,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$476,000,000), and the
aggregate interest income arising from such deposits was
approximately RMB8,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$9,000,000).

As set out in the announcement issued by the Company
on 23 December 2015, the maximum daily amount of
the financial services and products (other than deposit
services) provided by CR Bank together with CR Trust to the
Group is not expected to exceed HK$1,300,000,000 for each
of the three years ended/ending 31 December 2016, 2017
and 2018.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group did not
use any financial services and products provided by CR
Bank or CR Trust, nor incurred any fees and commissions
therefor.

P (k) AMAE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(A)

(B)

FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS PURSUANT
TO FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2016 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2015
(Continued)

The Framework Loan Agreements 2016 and the Strategic
Cooperation Agreements 2015 constituted non-exempt
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules
and are subject to annual review by the independent non-
executive directors and the auditors of the Company.

BEER SUPPLY FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

On 1 September 2015, China Resources Snow Breweries
Limited (“CRSB”, currently wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, together with its subsidiaries, “CRSB Group”),
entered into a beer supply framework agreement (“Beer
Supply Framework Agreement 2015”) with Gain Land
Limited (“Gain Land”, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of
CRH, together with its subsidiaries, “Gain Land Group”)
with a term commencing from 1 September 2015 to 31
December 2017, pursuant to which the CRSB Group agreed
to supply its beer products to the Gain Land Group from
time to time for the purposes of retail and distribution
of the same by the Gain Land Group. The transactions
shall be conducted on normal commercial terms and the
terms, as a whole, shall be no more favourable than those
terms offered to independent third party retailers and
distributors of the CRSB Group in relation to the supply of
beer products of similar nature and quality. It is estimated
that the maximum amount of purchases to be made by
the Gain Land Group under the Beer Supply Framework
Agreement 2015 will not exceed HK$85,000,000,
HK$345,000,000 and HK$415,000,000 respectively for
the four months ended 31 December 2015 and the two
years ended 31 December 2016 and 2017. As Gain Land
is an indirect subsidiary of CRH which is in turn holds
a controlling interest in the Company, Gain Land is an
associate of a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules, and any transactions under the Beer
Supply Framework Agreement 2015 constitute continuing
connected transactions.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
(B) BEER SUPPLY FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the aggregate
amount of purchases made by the Gain Land Group
from the CRSB Group under the Beer Supply Framework
Agreement 2015 was approximately RMB89,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$102,000,000).

The aforesaid agreement has been renewed by a new
framework agreement (“Beer Supply Framework Agreement
20177) dated 21 December 2017 for a period commencing
from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020 as announced
by the Company on 21 December 2017 and 23 January 2018
on substantially the same terms as the existing framework
terms. The proposed annual caps for the maximum amount
of purchases to be made by the Gain Land Group under the
Beer Supply Framework Agreement 2017 will not exceed
RMB297,000,000, RMB323,000,000 and RMB348,000,000
respectively for the three years ending 31 December 2020.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the directors
engaged the auditor of the Company to perform certain work on
continuing connected transactions of the Group in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has
provided a letter to the directors of the Company and confirmed
that, for the year ended 31 December 2017:

(a) nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe
that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have
not been approved by the Company’s board of directors;

FWRW ) AMR2AE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b) for transactions involving the provision of goods or services
by the Group, nothing has come to its attention that causes
it to believe that the transactions were not, in all material
respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the
Group;

(c) nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing such transactions;

(d) with respect to the aggregate amount/daily balance of each
of the relevant continuing connected transactions, nothing
has come to its attention that causes it to believe that
such continuing connected transactions have exceeded the
annual cap/maximum daily balance as set and disclosed
by the Company.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed these transactions and confirmed that the continuing
connected transactions have been entered into:

(a) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(b) onnormal commercial terms or better; and

(c) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars regarding the principal subsidiaries at 31 December
2017 are set out on pages 153 to 157.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, the subsidiaries of its parent company, or its parent
company a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its directors, as at the
date of this report, there is sufficient public float of not less
than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under the
Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the respective percentage of the aggregate
purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers and
the aggregate turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers was less than 30% of the Group’s total value of
purchases and total turnover.

AUDITOR

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 25 May
2017, Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers was re-appointed as the
auditor of the Company.

Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board
CHEN LANG
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2018
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To the Members of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION
WHAT WE HAVE AUDITED

The consolidated financial statements of China Resources Beer
(Holdings) Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 93 to 152, which comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2017;

. the consolidated profit and loss account for the year then
ended;

. the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

. the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended:;

. the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then
ended;and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

OUR OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2017, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
responsibilities under those standards are further descri
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consorgated
Financial Statements section of our report. -

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficie_nf
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENCE

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

. Impairment assessment of goodwill

. Recognition of promotion and marketing expenses
. Impairment assessment of fixed assets

. Deferred tax on tax losses

M (k) AMAE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
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Key Audit Matter
8RR E R A

Impairment assessment of goodwill

AR EMBRENTE= (F) [EE2F5H AT — A&t
RERE ] MME -t [HE]

Refer to Note 3A “Critical Accounting Estimates
- estimated impairment of goodwill” and Note 17
“Goodwill” to the consolidated financial statements

RIZ—tF+A=+—H ESERBEFEHR
W E RS  HEN D HEERBEEARKS318
BETHRE -

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had goodwill of
RMB8,318 million which arose from acquisitions of
businesses engaging in the manufacture, sales and
distribution of beer products in previous years.

HERAES I REXEHDBNEBRERELE
i BRERPHEHARE22818ET - FEHEL
AR¥B828F & TMmE BRI ARKS 20988 T °
EIREEITRER S REEBEEGRERENAIKE
TR VEHREEETHR - EERSRETRAF
FERARTEE M AF AR ROBHRRAERER
& TR E ) B SR R AR AN 2 i

The carrying amount of goodwill was allocated
to the relevant cash generating units (“CGU”) in
various regional segments including eastern region
of RMB2,281 million, central region of RMB828
million and southern region of RMB5,209 million.
Management conducted an impairment review by
comparing the recoverable amounts of the goodwill,
estimated based on value in use calculation, with
their carrying amounts. The key assumptions and
judgements adopted by management in the relevant
discounted cash flow forecasts included discount
rates and expected revenue growth rates beyond the
five-year projection period.

35 S % BOhT

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BB NAEERRENSE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

EFREEEMER RMEEIEEH YR ERT
EMEGNFTERERERBIATTATEF:
In addressing this matter, we had performed the
following procedures on the discounted cash flow
forecasts prepared by management that supported
the impairment assessment:

- BBRTHNERSBENEEEAMENTEEETL
B AMEReRERATNHERBABBEEESS
LN
assessed the reasonableness of key input data
in the cash flow forecasts by comparing them
with the historical actual information and
management’s approved budget;

. W FFERIHR 2 B ey TR BRI A R R B AR R Y T
HTEER - LLINFTEER - EITHE
compared the expected revenue growth rates
beyond the five-year projection period to
relevant market expectations such as industry
information;

BREHRFPEEBOHIZEBNTHNBERN - WEAM
MU RRETEE  KARSERBESRESL
BRI

. tested the discount rates assigned to the
CGUs with reference to our understanding of
the business, compared to those used by other
similar companies, and our broader market
considerations;

- SMETKREESERAMEANTAEERERZE
FRERREET HE B EREN &

. evaluated the methodologies adopted and
checked the mathematical accuracy of the
value in use calculation used to estimate the
recoverable amounts; and
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RMREESEE (F)

Key Audit Matter (Continued)

EE R ER ()

Impairment assessment of goodwill (Continued)

HRRZZE—+tF+ A=+ ABRENEEERR
1B - ARG BRI E R A4 @ A5 e B A A
BfR e EBRNETFE -

Because of the significance of the carrying amounts
of goodwill as at 31 December 2017, together with
the use of significant judgements in estimating the
recoverability of such carrying amounts, we had
identified this matter as a key audit matter.

R8I i R B A AR

Recognition of promotion and marketing expenses

F2HReMBmENT= (2) [EZ2g5Hhst — B
RIERHEER | KMEF-1+= B REtENFIE]
Refer to Note 3B “Critical Accounting Estimates -
accruals on promotion and marketing expenses”
and Note 23 “Trade and Other Payables” to the
consolidated financial statements

HE_Z—tH+-_A=+T—HLFE  BEEEFX
HEHREMEEER  HRINGEBERRTHERARIEE
BN (EHAERR/EETRD) JHERSHER - A
B R-ZE—tF+-A=1+—HtBAENHEARR
BH -

The Group had significant amounts of promotion
and marketing expenses and recognised in the
consolidated profit and loss account as sales
rebates (accounted for as a reduction of revenue) or
selling and distribution expenses for the year ended
31 December 2017. Meanwhile, the related accruals
were also significant as at 31 December 2017.

BMWETNETEERRENSE (8)
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
(Continued)

- HREFEHERGABBNRIETHRED
- AEMBREFRNEEEE eI E &8
T E -
performed sensitivity analysis on the key input
data and assumptions to the impairment
assessment, to understand the impact of
reasonable alternative assumptions that
would have on the estimated recoverable
amounts.

FRrEEERER - BT TATER
In addressing this matter, we had performed the
following procedures:

- BRNTEERERR - MEAEREHERERE
ERMERERBIEMEBNRIE  LHERED
ZHETTRIH
understood, evaluated and selectively
tested the key controls associated with
management’s process of identification,
estimation and recognition of promotion and
marketing expenses and accruals;

. ERBMEREN —H5 - HMY FEME
REMAEAERET TG BEFNEREER
HRERAFEEREANSEETHLE - LT
EREEGABRETEEFERE

. as part of our risk assessment, evaluated
the outcome of the prior year accruals by
comparing the historical accruals to the
actual amounts utilised in the current year to
ascertain if management bias existed in the
estimation process;
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HeFTSEE (8 BMWETNEEERRENSE (8)
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

(Continued)

Key Audit Matter (Continued)

Rk HEEEANER (5)

Recognition of promotion and marketing expenses (Continued)

BEERBEBERSNTE AU S EN D HREEK
BB S G R E BEMEH R B IEE - fInEER
OREL  HTHSE  FHRERHEAEEEAMNERESE -
Management records accruals for promotion and
marketing expenses according to the relevant
terms in the agreements with a large number
of distributors in various regions in Mainland
China, taking into consideration of the nature of
the promotion activities such as volume rebates,
allowances, discounts, etc.

RBHERARIEEENRY - AEEKAERRR
SRR o M —MITHBEIEENBRBKARRHED
BRHERDHERTHRHNRERER -

If the promotion activities are related to future sales
volume, the related costs are treated as a reduction
of revenue. The costs related to general marketing
activities are classified as promotion and marketing
expenses in selling and distribution expenses.

BEMAERRNBRIRER UM EXBRDAHE
EROHERNIBETERMAENSE  FTEMERBHN
EREEHRA ERFREANERE LA -

Determining and calculating the accruals as at
period ends and the respective classification
as either a reduction of revenue or selling and
distribution expenses requires application
of various accounting principles relating to
classification, measurement and recognition, which
involved significant management estimates and
judgements.

HRPERNDHEBBERS  MBEE-_T—tF+_-H
_+*EJL¢J*E?K§E%E¥E{E$¢J&TEF‘T§% A R 3R
D EFHEESRMERNBEAHE - HARRER—
fl%@@kﬁﬁ%:ﬁr%lﬁ °
Because of the large number of distributors involved
and the significance of the accruals for promotion
and marketing expenses for the year ended 31
December 2017, together with the significant
judgements involved in determining the amounts to
be recognised and classified, we had identified this
matter as a key audit matter.

BREEBRBHEHNEARE  BE2ZHY
BERGR RFFHHUEEMNBFIENS
B ORBHBERITNARMOHEEELNESR
FALAEEENEREARER &

based on input data prepared by management
that included references to the underlying
contracts with distributors, nature of
promotion activities provided and amounts
of expected expenses to be incurred, tested
the key accruals made by management by
comparing them with signed contracts with
distributors and issued invoices; and

D 55

BRESHBRITNARMBLNHESR
HTRIAAREEE R RERM DR
tested the recognition and classification of
expenses during the year by comparing them
with signed contracts with distributors and
issued invoices.

ETHR
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RMREESEE (F)

Key Audit Matter (Continued)

B & &= MR E G

Impairment assessment of fixed assets

B2RFEaMBREANT= (R) [EEG5H AT — &5t
BEE&ERE] KTt TEEEE]

Refer to Note 3C “Critical Accounting Estimates -
estimated impairment of fixed assets” and Note
16 “Fixed Assets” to the consolidated financial
statements

RZEBE—+F+ZRA=+—H EBEXENETEER
HEAE/ARE20,449BETT °

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had fixed assets
with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB20,449
million.

MRREMELEUNEEFERENR - EBESE
BEEREERSRELBMNAKRE SR AETRER
it BEEENARESEAEREENQLEBERL
EXAHNRSE - EHEENIRSRETRAPPAERAIT
BEMPARREERETEE BRI -

If impairment indicators exist on the cash
generating units (“CGUs”) to which the assets
belong, management conducted an impairment
review by estimating the recoverable amounts of
the relevant CGUs, using the higher of value in use
calculation and fair value less costs of disposal.
The key assumptions and judgements adopted by
management in the relevant discounted cash flow
forecasts included discount rates and revenue
growth rates, etc.

BMWETNETEERRENSE (8)
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
(Continued)

FrEEERER - BT TATER
In addressing this matter, we had performed the
following procedures:

AHEREUReRNELEUEKNETEER
FEREIR R HI B TTRT A

tested management’s assessment as to
which groups of fixed assets have indicators
of impairment, together with management’s
grouping of such assets in the relevant CGUs;

HRBREFRNRERELSLNETFEE -
AHBEREEREINEETERSRERA B
ECE

for those CGUs that included fixed assets with
impairment indicators, tested the relevant
discounted cash flow forecasts prepared by
management, including:

- BRENERSUEMEEBIENTREET
L8 - FHEIR R 8 TR T eV RR R I A BUR
o B

. assessed the reasonableness of key
input data in the cash flow forecasts by
comparing them with historical actual
information and management’s approved
budget;

- BEHRARERXEEBOTSEN -
TEEM - EITHE

. compared the expected revenue growth
rates to relevant market expectations
such as industry information;
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HeFTSEE (8 BMWETNEEERRENSE (8)
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

(Continued)

Key Audit Matter (Continued)

BElE & & AR E G ()

Impairment assessment of fixed assets (Continued)

REFEER  HARB4BEETDHOBRRER
A MRS REEEEENEIEEATIRE SR -
Based on the result of assessment, an impairment
charge of RMB415 million was recorded to reduce
the carrying amounts of certain fixed assets to their
recoverable amounts.

HRRZZE—+FT_A=+—BAERENETEER
HE(ETERAEARETRNETEEE)  AREMR
AR EEN A WA SRS RNEAHE - RAFBR/E
e ErEg R ETFE -

Because of the significance of the carrying amounts
of fixed assets as at 31 December 2017 (including
those with impairment indicators), together with
the use of significant judgements in estimating the
recoverable amounts of the relevant assets, we had
identified this matter as a key audit matter.

RERFIHEBNER  SEERRSRE
H B EREFTBIMTISNIER - WHEE
B A RREITEEE - HOBIFITEE
tested the discount rates with reference
to our understanding of the business
including the future business plans of
the relevant CGUs, comparisons to other
similar companies and broader market
considerations;

FHE R E SR AERARNEREERER
REEANGTERNERTE &

evaluated the methodologies adopted
and checked the mathematical accuracy
of the value in use calculation used to
estimate the recoverable amounts; and

HRERT () B R i A BUR AR EREI TR
Mo NERERPEIBECE A
WEEENTE

performed sensitivity analysis on the
key input data and assumptions to the
impairment assessment, to understand
the impact of reasonable alternative
assumptions that would have on the
estimated recoverable amounts.
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RMREESEE (F)

Key Audit Matter (Continued)

ERRBERNELFEHR
Deferred tax on tax losses
B2RFEaMBREAOMT= (T)[EEgsthEt —
JEPTIS LB ERHER | RIFE =78 DEERIA
Refer to Note 3D “Critical Accounting Estimates
- recognition of deferred tax assets” and Note 26
“Deferred Taxation” to the consolidated financial
statements.

RZZE—tF+ZA=+—H  ESEHWRKEEM
EENREHEEEAARKIONBETT « R - HEAp
B P 3 P /B 8 R 8 B RO R FERR IR IE TR IR B EE O I IS 5 18
BARE2,859BETT °

At 31 December 2017, the Group had deferred tax
assets attributable to tax losses of RMB101 million.
Meanwhile, there were tax losses relating to certain
subsidiaries in Mainland China of RMB2,859 million
that were not recognised as deferred tax assets as
at the same date.

Tﬂﬁ%LLMEQFE T BURR B 12 fE 5T (4 AR R R
NRAINARIREF NR B FIE T I8 FE 49T 7 B LA 62 A8
ES%E%%%%ﬁ%ﬁ%°
The recognition of tax losses as deferred tax
assets depends on management’s assessment as
to whether the relevant subsidiaries would have
adequate future taxable profits to utilise these tax
losses within a period of five years from the year of
occurrence.

AERREATAEETE R  BRHRERBCHAENE
5T B 3% 2 ) ORI 4 R 28 4 B M B 0 & B 2 B M O /T
iy o LFRE T REBBHE XL RHE -

Determining the adequacy of future taxable profits
requires assessment of projection of both the
amounts and timing of future taxable profits which
are based on approved business plans or profit
forecasts, and such assessments involve significant
management estimates and judgements.

BMWETNETEERRENSE (8)
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
(Continued)

FrEEERER - BT TATER
In addressing this matter, we had performed the
following procedures:

- AREERER _ZE—t+F+ZA=1+—HERY
WIS E1E - B IR AR RA BT R 15 S 48 A B B
BN Gt ER MG ERIE RS — B

. tested and agreed the selected tax losses at
31 December 2017, including the respective
expiry periods, to the tax computations and tax
correspondences for the relevant subsidiaries;

HEEBHENTEE  BENBERBIENAEREL

MISTER - LT B - ETHE - FFEEE
MEBARRARNE ﬂﬁ“$%ﬁﬂ%k%ﬁ&ﬁ“

(BRERREMARFNENER) 24061

assessed the reasonableness of key input data
and underlying assumptions adopted in the
profit forecasts (including the timing of future
taxable profits) for the relevant subsidiaries by
comparing them with management’s approved
budget, historical actual information and
relevant market expectations such as industry

information;
REEEEHRNBAMKANERERNT
54

. checked the mathematical accuracy of

the forecasts profit or loss prepared by
management; and

IR R BRE MRS R AT R TT LR - ORI
IR ey 2 A TEOR R A A Y A
EisR o

. tested management’s reconciliation of the
above profit forecasts to taxable profit
calculations by comparing with management’s
book-to-tax reconciliation schedules
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HeFTSEE (8 BMWETNEEERRENSE (8)
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

(Continued)

Key Audit Matter (Continued)

BRBBERNIELEREHR (&)

Deferred tax on tax losses (Continued)

HRRIZ—tF+ - A=+—HREHRBER - A
N AEMER R AERRELERIAMY REXHE - M
RiEe— [ERERNETEE -

Because of the significance of the amounts of tax
losses as at 31 December 2017, together with the
significant judgements involved in determining the
amounts of respective recognised and unrecognised
deferred tax, we had identified this matter as a key

audit matter.

HifE 8

BERAREFAHEMEREAR - HMEEE
BEBRANMEREES BETBERKEMBR
K MRPIZBEN RS -

BPHREMBHREANERL TREEME
B BAIRTH RS EAME R ER ALK
HEERE 4E am

FARMEFAMBRERNET - RANE
TRHEEEMES @ FLBERT  EEEM
EREEDEGAMBHRRARMEREER
T T ENBERTEEABBEREUTFE
BEARHERBRAHEDR

EREMEATHIIE  RERMZBSEM
EEFEERHERRL  HMAFTEREZXS
B-#HESHE  RFAREEMHRS -

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.
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EERERREERGREVBER
REAEENER

BERREZARARBEEBEAMAGRM
BB B HREER) REE (AREHD
BEEEMHRENEAMBHRE - UHER
BREFEVBHRRNOEE T FEHRKE

ok #5 R T 28 B ) B8 K 8 AR BRI P 7R 0 R BB 42
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regar
financial information of the entities or business activ

within the Group to express an opinion on the conéﬁﬁ'date‘a-- 7 "

financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Liao Weining.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 21 March 2018
(If there is any inconsistency between the English and Chinese

version of this independent auditor’s report, the English version
shall prevail)

M (k) AMAE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

+&+=HA=+—H1LFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2017

—=—+tF ZTE—RF
2017 2016
B 5E ARBEETR ARBEEETT
Notes RMB million RMB million
S| Turnover 6 29,732 28,694
SHE AN Cost of sales (19,703) (19,021)
E 75 Gross profit 10,029 9,673
E AU A Other income 7 903 723
SHE kD HER Selling and distribution expenses (5,012) (5,033)
—RITHE R General and administrative expenses (3,976) (3,535)
B TSR 25 Finance costs 8 (128) (89)
BB Bl ) Profit before taxation 1,816 1,739
I8 Taxation 13 (630) (320)
REEEF Profit for the year 9 1,186 1,419
DER Attributable to:

ARAFRRE Shareholders of the Company 1,175 629
FERE AR R A = Non-controlling interests 11 790
1,186 1,419

BRER Earnings per share 15
HAK Basic RMBO0.36 RMB 0.22
i3 Diluted RMBO0.36 RMB 0.22
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HEZZ—tF+=-A=+—HILFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2017
—=—+tF
2017
ARBEHER
RMB million RMB million
26 BRI Profit for the year 1,186 1,419
Hih2ms (EH) : Other comprehensive income/(expenses):
BEARTESEEER Items that may be reclassified
ZIER : subsequently to profit or loss:
BINERZ ERER Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations 135 (114)
AEEHMEEmKE Other comprehensive income/(expenses)

(BA) (BRHE) for the year, net of tax 135 (114)
AEERHENFHATE Total comprehensive income for the year 1,321 1,305
DER Attributable to:

ZA/NSI S Shareholders of the Company 1,309 531

R HIR R R Non-controlling interests 12 774

1,321 1,305

M (k) AMAE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

MR-ZZT—+%F+=-H=+—H At31 December 2017
—=—+tF ZTE—RF
2017 2016
B 5E ARBEETR ARBEEETT
Notes RMB million RMB million
FRBEE Non-current assets
BEE&EE Fixed assets
—BIEERAMmEE — Interests in leasehold land
FHL) b AERS held for own use under
operating leases 16 3,253 3,324
— HibE - Other property, plant and
Hees KR equipment 16 17,196 17,5676
BES Goodwill 17 8,318 8,422
HAth & = Other intangible assets 18 147 171
AERE Available for sale investments 19 9 9
SELNE L Prepayments 20 81 89
FAEN I & = Deferred taxation assets 26 2,261 2,011
31,265 31,602
REBEE Current assets
"rE Stocks 21 5,826 6,110
B 5 kEH MR8 Trade and other receivables 22 1,006 1,253
AR B I8 Taxation recoverable 114 75
BHERIRITAETT Pledged bank deposits 79 103
REeRBREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 2,361 3,487
9,386 11,028
REBAE Current liabilities
B 5 REA R FRIE Trade and other payables 23 (16,605) (16,411)
B —EER AR ER Loans from a holding company 24 - (2,722)
REIE Short term loans 25A (2,383) (1,592)
FEFIIR Taxation payable (207) (80)
(19,195) (20,805)
REBEETFE Net current liabilities (9,809) (9,777)
HWEERRBER Total assets less current liabilities 21,456 21,825
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

—=—+tF
2017
FiaE ARBEHET
Notes RMB million
FREBEE Non-current liabilities
RHEIER Long term loans 25B (1,087)
RIERIAE & Deferred taxation liabilities 26 (255)
HEM3EnBaE Other non-current liabilities 27 (1,629)
(2,971)
18,485
B G#EE Capital and reserves
& A Share capital 28 14,090 14,090
& Reserves 4,331 3,511
AT RRELER Equity attributable to
shareholders of the Company 18,421 17,601
I HI R R E R Non-controlling interests 64 66
R Total equity 18,485 17,667
BRE§ CHEN LANG FER LAl PO SING, TOMAKIN
ZEHDirector ZEHDirector

96 M (k) AMAE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

HE-_T—+F+=-A=+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2017

—=—+tF ZTE—RF
2017 2016
B 5E ARBEER ARBBEET
Notes RMB million RMB million
REFPHRETRE Cash flows from operating activities
LS 2R Cash generated from operations 29A 5,053 5,089
B A TSR Chinese Mainland income tax paid (812) (783)
BB A TSR Chinese Mainland income tax
refunded 14 14
KESTE) 2 HERAEH Net cash from operating activities 4,255 4,320
REFDH2HERE Cash flows from investing activities
& BlE B E TS Proceeds from disposal of fixed
assets 200 280
EUF S Interest received 95 71
B2 X BUR B Receipt of government grants 433 462
QI = i A RS /N Repayment of loan to a fellow
EEMfBARIMNER subsidiary 300 -
BT —HSAREER Loan to a fellow subsidiary
M B N RIEYE R (300) -
BABETEE Purchase of fixed assets (1,915) (1,863)
SHARTEEUEENE  Settlement of consideration payable
NAIKEREE for acquisition of subsidiaries in
prior year - (536)
EHERRITEFE Changes in pledged bank deposits 24 22
REZEFEHA2EEE  Netcash used in investing activities (1,163) (1,564)
METB2HERE Cash flows from financing activities
ERRE Dividends paid (487) -
BB BI FE 2 Dividends paid to non-controlling
PR 2 BB shareholders of subsidiaries (16) (15)
ERFLE Interest paid (117) (106)
BT RRFTIS NI Net proceeds from issue of ordinary
R shares - 8,149
HIRTTREMEES  Proceeds from bank and other
B borrowings 29B 3,059 2,284
BERITIEMEE Repayment of bank and other
borrowings 29B (3,894) (3,594)
BN AR Purchase of additional interests in
BREZSHA (M) subsidiaries, including transaction
cost (Note) - (11,092)
RE—EERA R Loans from a holding company
E R - 3,030
BE MR AR Repayment of loan from a holding
HE R company 29B (2,715) (341)
EE—HEARER Repayment of loan from a fellow
MEBATBNER subsidiary - (500)
BMETEMFEAZFEESE  Netcash used in financing activities (4,170) (2,185)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

—=—+tF
2017
ARBEER
RMB million
FRERESEE Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
CR2),/ #hn cash equivalents (1,078)
fERRE B Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (48)
R—A—BzR&k Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Re%EE 3,487
W+-—A=+—H82 Cash and cash equivalents at
ReERkBEEE 31 December 2,361
ReRASEELER Analysis of the balances of cash
20 and cash equivalents
Be RIRTTER Cash and bank balances 2,361 3,487

Mzt : 2016 FEBEMBEBARIRE T ERENBERMSIE  Note: Purchase of additional interest in subsidiaries for 2016 mainly includes the
) 49% MAE (ME=+=) - purchase of additional 49% equity interest in CRSB (Note 32).
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ol REREHR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

HEZ_ZT—+F+ZA=1T—HILFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2017

FEH
RRER
Non- ags
RARREELER controlling Total
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company interests equity
Rt
LR
skt
Shares held
e fhERE ERFE  forrestricted REER
Share  Valuation  Exchange incentive  Retained At
capital reserve reserve award scheme profits Total

ARBEER ARYEER ARYEER ARYEER ARYEER ARYEER AR¥EER ARKEER
RMB million  RMBmillion RMBmillion ~ RMBmillion RMBmillion ~RMBmillion ~ RMB million  RMB million

N S g e At 1"January 2017 14,090 3 (2,651) (19) 5,978 17,601 66 17,667
AEH ERER Exchange differences

on translating foreign

operations - - 134 - - 134 1 135
AEEEH Profit for the year - - - - 1,175 1,175 11 1,186
TEERENRES Total comprehensive

income for the year - - 134 - 1,175 1,309 12 1,321
HREARS Transactions with owners:
ER-FNBAMER Purchase of additional interest

in a subsidiary - - - - (2) (2 2 -
&) Dividends - - - - (487) (487) (16) (503)
HBREARSER Total transactions with owners - - - - (489) (489) (14) (503)
RZE—+tE+=-A=1+—H At31December 2017 14,090 3 (2,317) (19) 6,664 18,421 64 18,485
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

s
hREs

Non-

ARARRELER controlling
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company interests
it
#ta
FrEiRin
Shares held
R fhERE ERGHR  forrestricted REER
Share  Valuation  Exchange incentive  Retained At
capital reserve reserve  award scheme profits Total

AREBERL ARYEER ARYEER AREEER ARKEET ARMEET AREEET AREEER
RMB million  RMBmillion ~ RMBmillion ~ RMBmillion ~ RMBmillion ~ RMBmillion ~ RMBmillion ~ RMB million

R=E-7~%-A-H At 1 January 2016 5,941 3 (2,353) (19) 0,484 10,056 9,264 19,320
BB ERER Exchange differences on

translating foreign operations - - (98) - - (98) (16) (114)
RERET Profit for the year - - - - 629 629 790 1419
FEE2ANEEE Total comprehensive income

for the year - - (98) - 629 531 774 1,305
HBREARS Transactions with owners:
EENBAGES (M) Purchase of additional interest

in subsidiaries (Note) - - - - (1,135) (1,135) (9,957) (11,092)
) Dividends - - - - - - (15) (15)
SRR IRR Issue of new shares under

(MBRETRN EBR) rights issue (net of share

issue expenses) 8,149 - - - - 8,149 - 8,149
HREARHBE Total transactions with owners 8,149 - - - (1,135) 7,014 (9,972) (2,958)
W=E-"F+-A=1—H At31December 2016 14,090 3 (2,451) (19) 5978 17,601 66 17,667

Mzt WHENBAR R T ERFEEBEMSEMEN  Note: Purchase of additional interest in subsidiaries mainly includes the purchase
49% MR8 (MTE=+=) - of additional 49% equity interest in CRSB (Note 32).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL
ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

The Company is a public company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liabilities and its shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The directors regard the ultimate holding
company to be China Resources Company Limited (“CRC”),
a company established in the Chinese Mainland. The
address of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company is 39/F, China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing,
sales and distribution of beer products. The principal
activity of the Company is investment holding. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries are shown on pages 153 to 157.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2017 have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
Save as specified in the principal accounting policies as
set out in Note 2, the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—. —REB1E @) 1. GENERAL (Continued)

T (i) RARIERT D (i) ADOPTION OF AMENDMENTS
BEGHMAG ((ABEGTMAE]) The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Acco
MHETZHEE_E—+F— A —H#E (“HKICPA”) has issued a number of new and
MBEEERSAIHRZFERER standards, amendments and interpretations on Hong |
MEEBGER (S5t ER]) REE Accounting Standards (“HKAS”) and Hong Kong Finat
B RS R A 2R ([ MEERI]) 230 Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) that are effectiv
KASERT LR - BT 2B - KEE available for early adoption for the financial year beginn
A REBEDN T THIRER] - 1 January 2017. In the current year, the Group has adopted

the following amendments.

SRTERIF 75 WS HKAS 7 (Amendment) Disclosure initiative
(1&7])
SEHERE 1257 FriSHi HKAS 12 (Amendment) Income Taxes
(1&837)
B 7 & 22 Al HitvEBER HKFRS 12 (Amendment) Disclosure of interests
125 (I&3]) T in other entities
HALSETEANER R LB SETE The adoption of the amendments has had no material
MRATEEEER R BRI effect on the results or financial positions of the Group for
RIEKRERZE  WHAELEMAA the current and prior accounting periods. Accordingly, no
AR - prior period adjustments are required.

1 O M (b)) B /A S CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL (Continued)

D(ii) ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND
INTERPRETATIONS THAT ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised standards, amendments and interpretations that
have been issued but are not yet effective.

HKAS 28 (Amendment) Long-term Interests in
an Associate or Joint
Venture?
HKAS 40 (Amendment) Transfers of investment
property’
HKFRSs (Amendment) Annual Improvements
to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle'
HKFRSs (Amendment) Annual Improvements
to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle?
HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Classification and
measurement of
share-based payment
transactions’
HKFRS 4 (Amendment) Applying HKFRS 9
“Financial instruments”
with HKFRS 4
“Insurance contracts” '

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments’

HKFRS 9 (Amendment) Repayment Features with
Negative Compensation?

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts

with Customers'’
HKFRS 15 (Amendment) Clarifications to HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16 Leases?
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®
HK(IFRIC) 22 Foreign Currency

Transactions and
Advance Consideration’

HK(IFRIC) 23 Uncertainty over Income
Tax Treatments?
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

T (ii)

—MREE @)
MAEMNE LR - STRRE

(&)

B 7E
1. 201851 A1 Bz &R 2 FEER4E
% e

2. R20M9F1 AR 2 ARGz FERRE
R

3. 202161 B1 Bz ERB 2 FEERE
% e

AEECRAE LAFHER - BFT
LRaBREAEREBZEE 29
AEEE BB ENNE T TEA
RHAKBEKRTE FRBMZE
MY — R ER T Xt -

MBHRELENESFREMTRI(RZ
E-NF-A-RAZERABRZFE
BN

AEETEMFESIeHESREE
MAOBMAEEERTE  EREA
DRANERENBRETA  A&E
EBARNABEFAEREZHIA
Hip#r A Uas o

HRMAEEZEREEREAAE
Bt A ABZNEREENSTREE
MARBEYEBERNZERE  EHT
SHAKENERABHETINEE -

REBTRAEERR - HiREHK
RO EMEERBNERERR
KAETTRIE » PTERARBETEBUR
RIERRBREESAEEM -

1.
D(ii) ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMEN

GENERAL (Continued)

INTERPRETATIONS THAT ARE NOT YET EF
(Continued)

Notes: ]

1. Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
2. Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
3. Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

The Group has already commenced an assessment of
the impact of these new standards, amendments and
interpretations in the period of initial application. So
far the Group has identified some aspects of the new
standards which may have an impact on the Group. Further
details of the expected impacts are discussed below.

HKFRS 9 “FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS” (EFFECTIVE FOR
ANNUAL PERIOD BEGINNING ON OR AFTER 1 JANUARY
2018)

The Group does not expect the new guidance to have a
significant impact on the classification and measurement
of its financial assets because a fair value through other
comprehensive income election is available for the equity
instruments which are currently classified as available for
sale investments.

There will be no impact on the Group’s accounting for
financial liabilities, as the new requirements only affect
the accounting for financial liabilities that are designated
at fair value through profit or loss and the Group does not
have any such liabilities.

The Group has also assessed on a forward looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its financial assets
carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.
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INTERPRETATIONS THAT ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE
(Continued)

The new hedge accounting rules will align the accounting
for hedging instruments more closely with the Group’s risk
management practices. However, at this stage the Group
does not expect to adopt any hedge accounting in near
periods and therefore, it may not have any impact on the
Group upon the adoption of HKFRS 9.

The new standard also introduces expanded disclosure
requirements and changes in presentation. These are
expected to change the nature and extent of the Group’s
disclosures about its financial instruments particularly in
the year of the adoption of the new standard.

HKFRS 15 “REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS” (EFFECTIVE FOR ANNUAL PERIOD
BEGINNING ON OR AFTER 1 JANUARY 2018)

The HKICPA has issued a new standard for the recognition
of revenue. This will replace HKAS 18 which covers
contracts for goods and services and HKAS 11 which covers
construction contracts. The new standard is based on the
principle that revenue is recognised when control of a good
or service transfers to a customer. The standard permits
either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective
approach for the adoption.

The Group has assessed the effects of the applying the new
standard on the consolidated financial statements and has
not identified any material impact to the Group.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Groupi]}ﬁcldae’:
the financial statements of the Company and of all its
direct and indirect subsidiaries. The results of subsidiaries
acquired or disposed of during the year are included from
the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective
date of disposal, as appropriate. All material intra-group
transactions and balances have been eliminated on
consolidation.

Prior to 1 January 2010, increases in interests in existing
subsidiaries were treated in the same manner as the
acquisition of subsidiaries, with goodwill or a bargain
purchase gain being recognised where appropriate. For
decreases in interests in subsidiaries, regardless of
whether the disposals would result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries, the difference between the
consideration received and the carrying amount of the
share of net assets disposed of was recognised in the
consolidated profit and loss account.

From 1 January 2010 onward, changes in the Group’s
ownership interests in existing subsidiaries that do not
involve a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, with no impact on goodwill or profit or
loss. When control of subsidiary is lost as a result of
a transaction, event or other circumstance, the Group
derecognises all assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests at their carrying amount. Any retained interest
in the former subsidiary is recognised at its fair value at
the date the control is lost, with the gain or loss arising
recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
SUBSIDIARIES

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity)
over which the group has control. The group controls
an entity when the group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. In
the Company’s balance sheet, investments in subsidiaries
are carried at cost less any impairment loss. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable.

GOODWILL

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary prior to
1 January 2010 represents the excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair value of
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary on or after
1 January 2010 represents the excess of the aggregate
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree, and the fair value of
the previously held equity interest in the acquiree over
the net fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed. Goodwill is tested for impairment
at the reporting date and whenever there is an indication
that the cash generating unit to which the goodwill relates
may be impaired. Such goodwill is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. An impairment loss
for goodwill is recognised in the consolidated profit and
loss account and is not reversed in a subsequent period.
On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable
amount of goodwill capitalised is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
GOODWILL (Continued) \ O |

Prior to 1 January 2010, a discount on acquisition
arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary represents the
excess of the Group’s interest in the fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition over
the cost of acquisition. Gain on bargain purchase arising
on an acquisition of a subsidiary on or after 1 January
2010 represents the excess of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed
over the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the fair value of the previously held equity interest in
the acquiree. Discount on acquisition or gain on bargain
purchase arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary is
recognised immediately in the consolidated profit and loss
account.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The Group’s financial assets are classified as “financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss”, “loans and
receivables” and “available for sale investments” dependent
on the purpose for which the assets are acquired. Financial
liabilities are classified as “financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss” and “financial liabilities other
than financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(other financial liabilities)” Details of classifications and
measurements are as follows:

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are initially measured at fair value and have two sub-
categories: financial assets held for trading and those
designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial
recognition. At each balance sheet date subsequent to
initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are measured at fair value, with changes in
fair value recognised directly in the profit and loss account
in the period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued)
LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market which are initially measured at fair
value. At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the original effective interest
rate. Objective evidence of impairment includes significant
financial difficulty of the debtors, the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, and observable changes
in national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods
when an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount
can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, subject to a restriction
that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the
impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.‘;.7 [ :
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued)
AVAILABLE FOR SALE INVESTMENTS |\

Available for sale investments are non-derivatives that are
either designated in this category or not classified in‘any of
the other categories.

Investments in equity securities that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be measured reliably are stated at cost less
impairment losses. Apart from this, available for sale
investments are initially recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs. At each balance sheet date the fair
value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being
recognised directly in equity, until the financial asset is
disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time,
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity
is removed from equity and recognised in the profit and
loss account.

An impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss
account when there is objective evidence that the equity
investment is impaired.

Objective evidence of impairment includes significant
financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty and
observable changes in national or local economic
conditions that correlate with the operations of the
investment.

For those investments carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
carrying amount of the equity investment and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
Such impairment losses will not reverse in subsequent
periods. For those investments carried at fair value, any
subsequent increase in the fair value of such equity
investments is recognised directly in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in valuation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
initially measured at fair value. At each balance sheet date
subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised directly in the profit and
loss account in the period in which they arise.

OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

DERECOGNITION

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset in
its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in
the profit and loss account.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in the profit and loss
account.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Co
FIXED ASSETS
CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

Properties, plant and equipment in the course of
construction for production or administrative purposes, are
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Cost includes all construction expenditure, professional
fees, borrowing costs capitalised and other relevant
expenses directly attributable to such projects.

No provision for depreciation is made on construction
in progress until such time when construction work is
complete and the costs of construction are transferred to
the appropriate category of fixed assets when available for
use.

OTHER PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Fixed assets other than construction in progress are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation of other fixed assets is provided to write off
the cost of the assets over their estimated useful lives and
after taking into account their estimated residual values,
using the straight line method. The residual values and
useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at
each balance sheet date. The estimated useful lives are as
follows:

- Interests in leasehold land held for own use under
operating leases are amortised on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease term

- Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and
their estimated useful lives, being 20 to 40 years

- Leasehold improvements 3 to 10 years or over the

unexpired term of lease,

whichever is shorter
5to 25 years

3 to 10 years

5to 6 years

- Plant and machinery
- Furniture and equipment
- Motor vehicles
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FIXED ASSETS (Continued)

LEASED ASSETS

Assets acquired under finance leases

Assets acquired pursuant to finance leases that transfer to
the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership are classified as being held under finance
leases and are accounted for as if purchased whereby
an amount equivalent to cost is recorded as fixed assets
and as obligations under finance leases. Depreciation
is provided in accordance with the Group’s depreciation
policy. Payments to the lessor are treated as consisting
of capital and interest elements. The interest element is
charged to the profit and loss account.

Operating lease charges

All leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the Group are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income or expense arising from operating leases
(net of any benefits received and receivable as an incentive
to enter into an operating lease) is recognised in the profit
and loss account on a straight line basis over the periods
of the respective leases except where an alternative basis
is more representative of the time pattern of the user’s
benefit.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease
is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease term except where the property is classified as an
investment property.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contir
FIXED ASSETS (Continued) -y
IMPAIRMENT OF FIXED ASSETS

At each balance sheet date, both internal and e‘><"'t'erhal -

sources of information are considered to assess whether
there is any indication that fixed asset are impairé_d. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated and where relevant, an impairmént
loss is recognised to reduce the asset to its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of value in
use and fair value less costs of disposal. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Such impairment losses are
recognised in the profit and loss account.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the assets is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount. Such reversal of
impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to the profit and loss account in the
year in which the reversals are recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal or retirement of an item
of fixed asset is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in the profit and loss account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

On initial recognition, other intangible assets acquired
separately and from business combinations are recognised
at cost and at fair value respectively. After initial
recognition, other intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives are carried at cost less subsequent accumulated
impairment losses. Other intangible assets with finite
useful lives are stated at cost and are amortised on
the straight line method over their useful lives with
amortisation commences when the asset is available for
use. The estimated useful lives of other intangible assets
with finite useful lives are as follows:
Brand names 10 to 20 years
These intangible assets are assessed for impairment
at each balance sheet date by comparing their carrying
amounts with their recoverable amounts. Where indication
of impairment exists, an impairment loss is charged
to the profit and loss account to reduce the assets
to its recoverable amount. Where an impairment loss
subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the assets
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount. Such reversal of impairment loss is limited to the
asset’s carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred taxation is provided in full on temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial
statements, with limited exceptions. Deferred taxation
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the
temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred taxation is
calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cor
STOCKS

Stocks which comprise raw materials, consumables and
packing materials, work-in-progress and finished goods
are stated at the lower of cost (Include those costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of finished goods. Purchase
rebates are deducted in determining the cost of purchase)
and net realisable value or amortised into expense based
upon periods of usage.

Cost of work-in-progress and finished goods comprise
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads.

Cost is determined on the weighted average method.

Net realisable value is determined as the estimated net
selling price less all further costs of production and the
related costs of marketing, selling and distribution.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income over the periods necessary to match the grant
on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to
compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the
fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is
released to the profit and loss account over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset.

RECOGNITION OF REVENUE

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods and services provided in the normal course of
business and net of discounts.

Sales are recognised upon delivery of goods and provision
of services; and interest income is recognised in the profit
and loss account as it accrues.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.

M (k) AMAE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
4] 2017 ANNUAL REPORT



FTESTEEX @)
BHRERERE

M REREERLBETA (AERA) R
R E B ARBERRER TAGRIZ
HACHAR AT - R R E R ARR B PR IR
Xm A ([BAAD BRONEH - FH
TTRED WA EKERRE - ZRE
[EIRER AR AR S BA KRB o

EERA

EEMRANREFEEAR  YREE
FEZHmRME EEEFRK
B ERUEEVALE -BRERF
Az &7 BEEMIAEERE BB
EZEEZKRARBTEN  fFRZ
FEEZHIRA BEEAMEERK
HEARAERERZIHERL °

RREFREERERBEREEE SN
XHMERRELER - KAERM
EORREE AR ©

SNEE

ERINEREEBER 2GRN BRE
B UZBRBZMEEBEANEME
B ONE)ET R TIERHABZ
EXFMAEEY (AARERER
PIEXELEBERRZER) IR - N&
BEB DIINERBENZEBRER
REBZEXBHNHE -UINERE
AR BEIIRZIFEEABRE
EANBEEAZERENRE - %
R AGTEMNAINE REML ZIFE
KRR HAEHNBRE -

5B IS W N

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments to
reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”)
for a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payment when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument. Where consideration is received
or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is amortised to the consolidated profit and
loss account over the guarantee period.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs are accounted for on the accrual basis
and charged to the profit and loss account in the year
incurred, except for costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of that assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Fees paid for the arrangement of syndicated loan facilities
and debt securities are deferred, and are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of
each individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign
currencies) are recorded in its functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet
date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance
sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (co
FOREIGN EXCHANGE (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in the profit and loss account
in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences arising on a monetary item that forms part
of the Group’s net investment in a foreign operation, in
which case, such exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income in the consolidated
financial statements. Exchange differences arising on
the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of
which gains and losses are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Renminbi) at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the balance sheet date, and their income and expenses
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the Group’s exchange
reserve. Such exchange differences are recognised in the
consolidated profit and loss account in the period which
the foreign operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on
or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities
of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the translation
reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
ESTIMATED IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy
stated in Note 2C. The Group conducted an impairment
review by comparing the recoverable amounts of the
goodwill, estimated based on value in use calculation,
with their carrying amounts. The key assumptions and
judgements adopted by management in the relevant
discounted cash flow forecasts included discount rates
and expected revenue growth rates beyond the five-year
projection period. Details of the key assumptions are
disclosed in Note 17.

ACCRUALS ON PROMOTION AND MARKETING
EXPENSES

Management records accruals for promotion and
marketing expenses according to the relevant terms in the
agreements with a large number of distributors in various
regions in Mainland China. If the promotion activities
are related to future sales volume, the related costs are
treated as a reduction of revenue. The costs related to
general marketing activities are classified as promotion
and marketing expenses in selling and distribution
expenses. Determining and calculating the accruals as at
period ends and the respective classification as either a
reduction of revenue or selling and distribution expenses
requires application of various accounting principles
relating to classification, measurement and recognition,
which involved significant management estimates and
judgements. The estimation basis is reviewed on an on
going basis and revised where appropriate.

ESTIMATED IMPAIRMENT OF FIXED ASSETS

According to the accounting policies stated in Note 2E(D),
if impairment indicators exist on the cash generating
units (“CGUs”) to which the assets belong, management
conducted an impairment review by estimating the
recoverable amounts of the relevant CGUs, using the
higher of value in use calculation and fair value less
costs of disposal. The key assumptions and judgements
adopted by management in the relevant discounted cash
flow forecasts included discount rates and revenue growth
rates, etc.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(Continued)

RECOGNITION OF DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

The recognition of tax losses as deferred tax assets
depends on management’s assessment as to whether
the relevant subsidiaries would have adequate future
taxable profits to utilise these tax losses within a period
of five years from the year of occurrence. Determining the
adequacy of future taxable profits requires assessment of
projection of both the amounts and timing of future taxable
profits which are based on approved business plans or
profit forecasts, and such assessments involve significant
management estimates and judgements. The outcome of
their actual utilisation may be different.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and
currency risk. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

CREDIT RISK

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated balance sheet.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables and bank balances.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk
to trade and other receivables as its customer bases are
widely spread across diverse geographical locations. The
Group has policies in place to ensure that open account
customers are financially viable and with an appropriate
credit history. To minimise its credit risk exposure, credit
evaluations are performed for the determination and
approval of credit limits granted and other monitoring
procedures are implemented to ensure that follow-up
actions are taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
regular reviews on aging and recoverability are performed
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Hio EERR (&) CREDIT RISK (Continued)
ERRITER ARBEEETEFK In respect of bank deposits, the Group has procedures and
BE - MRR S ZIEEFRRL ° policies in place to ensure they are made to counterparties
with good credit rating.
" RBEZRER LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient
cash and the availability of adequate committed credit
facilities to fund capital, prospective investment
opportunities, debt servicing obligations and dividend
payments. Management also closely monitors the Group’s
rolling forecast and actual cash flows and maturity profiles
of financial liabilities.

The following table details the outstanding contractual
maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group’s
borrowings, which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at
the balance sheet date) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay.

FUELE

EHEES 3]
ReRBEE
R-EZF R-Z1F Total
—FR prd | 28 BBEF  contractual EHE
Within 1 Between 1 Between 2 Over undiscounted Carrying
year  and2years to 5 years 5 years cash flow Amount
AREBEL ARBEER ARKEET AR¥EER AREKEER AREKBER
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million
—E-tF 2017
FBNREE Variable rate borrowings
RITEH Bank loans (2,425) (1,095) - (1) (3,521) (3,470)
It B2 2016 =
=z
EENEEE Fixed rate borrowings a
B—MABRAFER  Loans from a holding b
company (1748) - - - (1,748) (1,700) 2
=
FEHAEREE Variable rate borrowings z
RITER Bank loans (1,723) (2,530) (451) (1) (4,705) (4,545) 7
B—RRIRARER  Loans from a holding
company (1,034) - - - (1,034) (1,022)
(2,757) (2,530) (451) M (5,739) (5,567)
(4,505) (2,530) (457) M (7,487) (7,267)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJE
AND POLICIES (Continued)

INTEREST RATE RISK

[ i SR
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk mainly _ﬁom .

its long term and short term borrowings. Borrowings at
fixed and floating interest rates expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk
respectively. To cover interest rate risk, the Group maintains
the loan portfolio in a preferred fixed/floating interest rate
mix and review regularly.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for both derivatives and
non-derivative instruments at the balance sheet date. For
floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming
the amount of liability outstanding at the balance sheet
date was outstanding for the whole year.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
profit for the year ended 31 December 2017 would
decrease/increase by RMB31 million (2016: decrease/
increase by RMB48 million).

This analysis is prepared by using certain assumptions on
a hypothetical situation. In reality, market interest rates
would not change in isolation. In management’s opinion,
the analysis is used for reference purpose and should not
be considered a projection of the future profits or losses.
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BREMREEEZERBE @)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (Continued)

&k CURRENCY RISK
AEBERERAEEEREIEEEUIINE The following table details the Group’s exposure at the
MEKFENEEREEXBEME balance sheet date to currency risk arising from recognised
ERMEERR  REFEBBREFLN assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than
e the functional currency of the entity to which they relate.
—E—tF —ZE—REF
2017 2016
BE 8E BE At
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
AREEERT ARBEER AREKEET AREBAEET
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million
AR Renminbi 3 3 45 1,720
S US Dollars 42 - 125 -

TRFMARE BT RETHEY
HASENTE BRAETLETH
MBEREIZTZE FEFGRAED
MEBFBUIINEFTENERKIEE - F
EE%EHWE{E VA I B 1B e 3R 59 5%
gy o AARBKHABIRETRE
5% - $im Ak EE B EERERER
& o

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
strengthen in Renminbi against Hong Kong Dollars and
US Dollars, assuming the pegged rate between Hong Kong
dollar and US dollar would be unaffected. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation
at year end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. For a
5% weakening of Renminbi against Hong Kong Dollars and
US Dollars, there would be an equal and opposite impact
on the profit or loss.

——tf —T it

2017 2016

ARBBEETR ARBBEET

RMB million RMB million

HERRMEE Effect on profit after tax (1) (85)
S AT Th IR R R e R &Tﬁx_n’ixﬂﬁﬁ This analysis is prepared by using certain assumptions on
ET - RERBRAT  MHEERSL a hypothetical situation. In reality, market exchange rates
BENE - %ﬁﬁiﬁ%lﬁtﬁm?\ﬁm’ﬁ would not change in isolation. In management’s opinion,

2E  FRFEFERKENHEED
TR o

the analysis is used for reference purpose and should not
be considered a projection of the future profits or losses.
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EXRERIBER

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that ,3::1 i

in the Group will be able to continue as a going‘c::‘bnce'r_‘ﬁ'.
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes the borrowings disclosed in Note 24 and Note
25, cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable
to equity holders of the Company, comprising issued
capital, reserves and retained profits as disclosed in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
regularly. The Group considers the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital, and will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues as well as the raise of bank
borrowings or the redemption of existing debt.

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

S N
2017 2016
ARBBEETR AREBETT
RMB million RMB million
BHEAERE THEB WA : Turnover comprises revenue from:
HEEM® Sales of goods 29,732 28,694
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N BRERDBER @) 6. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
2 & K SEGMENTS INFORMATION
AGEE
5E B 5B T
Eastern Central Southern Corporate/ ait
region region region Elimination Total
AREEERT ARKEER AR¥BEER ARMEBEER AR%BEER
RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMBmillion ~ RMB million ~ RMB million
B2-Z—tF+=A For the year ended
St-HLEE 31 December 2017
EXE TURNOVER
MRS External sales 15,154 6,930 7,648 - 29,732
AEEEE Inter-segment sales’ 451 41 245 (737) -
At Total 15,605 6,971 7,893 (737) 29,732
IR Segment result? 877 63 1,014 1,954
RENER AR BT Unallocated corporate expenses (103)
IENON Interest income 93
BTSN Finance costs (128)
BRBLADER Profit before taxation 1,816
B Taxation (630)
REERF Profit for the year 1,186
R=Z—+tF+=HA=1+—H Asat31December 2017
13 ASSETS
NEEE Segment assets 18,859 7,413 11,979 38,251
ERERIEEE Deferred taxation assets 2,261
AREFIE Taxation recoverable 114
AENBEARFBHEE Unallocated corporate assets 25
SRBEMAE Consolidated total assets 40,651
af& LIABILITIES
NEBE Segment liabilities 12,137 3,877 4,520 20,534
FEFIREIE Taxation payable 207
EEREAR Deferred taxation liabilities 255
RESBNARIBHEE Unallocated corporate liabilities 1,170
RAAELE Consolidated total liabilities 22,166
Hit &R OTHER INFORMATION
REFRBEE Additions to non-current assets 554 508 690 - 1,752
& R Depreciation and amortisation 906 393 406 1 1,706
BRRRESRE Impairment loss recognised 383 256 100 - 739
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N BEERIIER @) 6. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATI
(Continued) \
DEHER (& SEGMENTS INFORMATION (Continued)
AT :
RE & 212 /HH ,
Eastern Central Southern Corporate/ A&t
region region region Elimination Total
AREEELT ARKBEERL ARKBEERT AR®BERT AREEER
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMBmillion RMB million
BE-Z-REF For the year ended
+ZA=+—-BLEE 31 December 2016
EXE TURNOVER
HIMEE External sales 15,016 6,588 7,090 - 28,694
HEBREEE Inter-segment sales’ 429 48 284 (761) -
&t Total 15,445 6,636 7,374 (761) 28,694
DR Segment result? 1,007 73 772 1,852
FEHBHDREL T Unallocated corporate expenses (95)
FIEHA Interest income 71
BT Finance costs (89)
BREANER Profit before taxation 1,739
A Taxation (320)
KEERF Profit for the year 1419
RZZE—x"E+ZH=1+—H Asat31December2016
{3 ASSETS
NEEE Segment assets 19,932 7,724 12,181 39,837
ERRBEE Deferred taxation assets 2,011
WREFE Taxation recoverable 75
REDBNARBHEE Unallocated corporate assets 707
REEESRE Consolidated total assets 42,630
aff LIABILITIES
NEEE Segment liabilities 13,756 3,614 4,254 21,624
ERTRIE Taxation payable 80
EEREEE Deferred taxation liabilities 271
REDENRRBEEE Unallocated corporate liabilities 2,988
ReAELE Consolidated total liabilities 24,963
HithgH OTHER INFORMATION
REFRYEE Additions to non-current assets 592 422 731 - 1,745
TEREH Depreciation and amortisation 921 402 396 2 1,721
ERARESR Impairment loss recognised 163 169 132 - 484
B 5E Notes:
1. AEHEHENREROTISERKE - 1. Inter-segment sales were charged at prevailing market rates.
2. DEEBERRTFEWA - MK RBHEA R 2. Segment result represents earnings before interest income, finance
F o costs and taxation.
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. HlA 7. OTHER INCOME
—E—+tF —E—RF
2017 2016
ARBEER ARBBET
RMB million RMB million
Hith M ABFETHIEIE : Other income includes the following:
AEYA Interest income 93 71
ERBTHED Government grants recognised 206 146
& BT & EMS 5 Profit on disposal of fixed assets 101 32
. BFR A 8. FINANCE COSTS
—E—+tF —T—RF
2017 2016
ARBBEER ARBBEET
RMB million RMB million
RITERREMEFRFE Interests on bank loans and other loans 99 124
A Financing charges 19 17
P& H E51E () Exchange loss/(gain) 26 (32)
144 109
B BAMER B * Less: Interest capitalised* (16) (20)
128 89

g R-F—LFAR - —REK
MM ERBFREI34% (ZT—RF -

1:57.%).

Copiik: S k=N

*

During 2017, the weighted average capitalisation rate on funds
borrowed generally is 1.34% (2016: 1.57%) per annum.
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. NEERF 9. PROFIT FORTHE YEAR

—e-tf z
2017 W
ARMEET ARKEET
RMB million RMB million
AEEBEFNSHMBRTHKIE : Profit for the year has been arrived at
after charging:
ZEEN £ Auditors' remuneration
— KFE - current year 10 3
BIKA Staff costs
(BRESHE) (including directors' emoluments) 6,061 5,714
e Depreciation
—-BEEE - Owned assets 1,683 1,697
HmEmpa g Amortisation of other intangible
(BREE—METEREMAA) assets (included in general
and administrative expenses) 23 24
ERERAEEE Impairment loss recognised on
(BEE—MEITEERA) (included in general and
administrative expenses)
—BEEE - Fixed assets 415 297
—-FE - Stocks 324 173
T REF 2 AEMOER  Operating leases charges on land
and buildings 120 120
EEEMKA Cost of goods sold 19,703 19,021

+T. EBzEARERE 10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

EEME DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
S S
2017 2016
ARBEET AREBET
RMB million RMB million
e Fees 0.87 0.84
AEARE S N2, Basic salaries and allowances 2.61 3.88
NIESHR Provident fund contributions 0.18 0.18
TE4T Bonus' 6.52 4.45
10.18 9.35

1 28 M (k) AMAE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
4] 2017 ANNUAL REPORT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

EEME (&) DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
ok Hitti ¢
Fees Other Emoluments
BEXFe
)53: 4 DESHEK —T-RF
Basic Provident A&t
Salaries and Fund AN &t 2016
Allowances Contributions Bonus' Total Total
—E—tF 2017 ARBEBEET ARBEERT ARKEET ARBEER AREEEL ARKBER
EERZ Name of director RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million
BRER? Chen Lang® =2 - - - -
B2 Hou Xiaohai = 172 014 5.29 745 3.34
RER Lai Po Sing, Tomakin -2 0.89 0.04 0.77 170 0.71
X Chen Rong = - - - -
Pk Lai Ni Hium, Frank 0.07 - - 0.46 0.53 2.9
BAE Houang Tai Ninh 0.16 - - - 0.16 0.16
EX S Li Ka Cheung, Eric 016 - - - 0.16 0.16
g5%8 Cheng Mo Chi, Moses 0.16 - - - 0.16 0.16
REE Bernard Charnwut Chan 0.16 - - - 0.16 0.16
0 Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon 0.16 - - - 0.16 0.16
AR Hong Jie - - - - - 0.01
T Wang Qun - - - - - 2.20
At Total 0.87 2.61 0.18 6.52 1018 -
“ERE 2016 0.84 3.88 018 445 - 9.35
BiaE - Notes:
i TEADSEMFRE 2 LLEE - BRIAL 1. The bonus is determined with reference to the operating results,
THERRERRETISATHTEE individual performance and comparable market statistics during
both years.
2 AEEZHBAESHEEERE - 2. Director fee for the year had been waived by respective directors.
&) EEMWE B REBEAE - 3. The director’s emoluments were borne by CRC.
4. T LFERREEEREUEELH 4. During 2017, no retirement benefits, payments or benefits in

BEXNSERRARER - Bleskfsm b
EEMBNER (ZT—RF &) RER
REEERBNE = FRUAEERR
(ZF—RF:8E)- /xﬁﬁfﬁ‘EA§$ H
ZHEEAEE R BEEEL CEE
REEMR S (ZF— K5 fﬂi)

respect of termination of directors’ services were paid or made,
directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor are any payable (2016:
Nil). No consideration was provided to or receivable by third parties
for making available directors’ services (2016: Nil). There are no
loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of the directors, their
controlled body corporate and connected entities (2016: Nil).
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- AUBEHES
BE-T—+&+-A=+—AI%
g nEBSHESRE - REF (=
TNF ) BEMS R RRH
S+ EM (ZF— A% AR
BE AR AFEL 2 M RENT

paid employees included one (2016: nil) Director, details of
whose remunerations are set out in Note 10. The details
of the remunerations paid to the other four (2016: five)
highest paid employees are as follows:

—e-tf —EA%
2017 2016
AREEET ARETEIL
RMB million RMB million
HEAR e MOER Basic salaries and allowances 2.70 6.25
NESHR Provident fund contributions 0.18 0.48
TE4L Bonus 28.25 12.52
31.13 19.25
B (ZF—R%F : Afi7) &= The emoluments of these four (2016: five) highest paid
NFTIEE : individuals were within the following band:
AE
No. of person
S S i
2017 2016
AR#2,993,001 08 RMB2,993,001 to RMB3,420,000
AER#3,420,0007T (HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000)
(7#3,500,001 0%
785 #4,000,0007T) - 2
AR¥3,420,0017T RMB3,420,001 to RMB3,848,000
Z= AR#£3,848,0007T (HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000)
(75#4,000,0017T
Z#%4,500,0007T) - 1
AR#3,848,0017C RMB3,848,001 to RMB4,276,000
= ANR#4,276,0007T (HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000)
(##4,500,0017C
27 #5,000,0007T) = 1
AR¥5,131,0017C RMB5,131,001 to RMB5,558,000
Z= AR#5,558,0007T (HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000)
(7#%6,000,0017T
Z7#6,500,0007T) - 1
AR #6,498,0017C RMB6,498,001 to RMB6,932,000
2= AR¥6,932,0007T (HK$7,500,001 to HK$8,000,000)
(7%%7,500,0017C
Z7&18,000,0007T) 2 -

ARIE7,798,0017T
T ARKS,232,0007T
(7#%9,000,0017T
Z7619,500,0007T)

AR#9,098,0017T
Z= ARKQ9,532,0007T
(7%10,500,0017T
Z7%11,000,0007T)

RMB7,798,001 to RMB8,232,000
(HK$9,000,001 to HK$9,500,000)

RMB9,098,001 to RMB9,532,000
(HK$10,500,001 to HK$11,000,000)

1 3 M (k) AMAE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. STAFF PROVIDENT FUND

A

HONG KONG

The Group operates various defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all Hong Kong
employees. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The amount of contributions is based on a specified
percentage of the basic salary of employees and any
forfeited contributions in respect of unvested benefits of
staff leavers are used to reduce the Group’s contributions.

—g—tf i
2017 2016
ARBEER AREEET
RMB million RMB million

AEBHBEANTES ZMHI - Group contributions to staff provident

BiRaBmR kR fund, charged to consolidated profit
and loss account - -
A 3t B CHINESE MAINLAND

AEBEFERENEESBERAM
BT BT EENBERERRIRE
METBIMACE - AEBARZE 81X
NETEREBALLNEF - (ERRE
NMES - AEBEENEAENHE—F
ERERRFEMRRK -

AR B AMIRRAEIMELS
Bmk TR RRK AL EAR K528
BEL(ZE—AF: ARESI14EE
JT) °

JRIE

The employees of the Group in the Chinese Mainland are
members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the respective local government in the Chinese
Mainland. The Group is required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll costs to the schemes to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
these schemes is to make the specified contributions.

The total cost charged to the consolidated profit and loss
account in respect of the above-mentioned schemes in the
Chinese Mainland amounted to approximately RMB528
million (2016: RMB514 million).

13. TAXATION

—E—+tF ZTE—RF
2017 2016
ARBEET AREBET
RMB million RMB million

R A it FT B Chinese Mainland income tax
RFERIE Current taxation 889 674
IRAEF IR Deferred taxation (259) (354)
630 320

BENGSRIBREARFE 2 (AT ER
B R IR B R16.5% (Z T — N F -
16.5%) &t % °

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2016: 16.5%)
on the estimated assessable profits for the year.
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= HIE @)

R A B AR Z TSR iR
BB A B IR 5T FE R B a B 8
H-HEZT—tF+=ZRA=1T—H
IFFEMBEAMEHER25% (ZF—
JNEE 25%) °

A5 B A BARR BATE M 2 IR A IR
REFABRBEZARREFE 2B

13. TAXATION (Continued)

Chinese Mainland income tax has been provided for based
on the estimated assessable profits in accordance with
the relevant tax laws applicable to the subsidiaries in the
Chinese Mainland. The applicable principal income tax rate
for the year ended 31 December 2017 is 25% (2016: 25%).

The taxation on the Group’s profit before taxation differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the

B - FEIT domestic rates applicable to the country concerned as
follows:
S N
2017 2016
ARBEET ARBBHET
RMB million RMB million
B 25 A1 5 Profit before taxation 1,816 1,739
NEBBESEAMERAE Y  Taxcalculated at the domestic rates
g applicable in the country concerned 456 409
EYEE Sl VN Income not subject to taxation (18) (25)
AR 2 2 i Expenses not deductible for taxation
purposes 51 50
FRRRIAREHER Utilisation of previously unrecognised
YR ER temporary difference (265) (371)
REERZTIE Tax losses not recognised 319 293
KFELEBHE 2 FIIA Over provision on taxation
in previous year (6) (45)
ROBFE 2 FBHTEH Withholding tax on undistributed profits 93 9
TIASE Taxation charge 630 320
THRE 14. DIVIDENDS
—e—t% N
2017 2016
ARBEER ARBBEET
RMB million RMB million
T —FEHEIREPEAE 2017 interim dividend paid of
BiRERKRARK0.07T RMBO0.07 per ordinary share
—E-RFE) (2016: Nil) 227 -
T FENERE KBS 2017 proposed final dividend of
BiRERKRARK0.07T RMBO0.07 per ordinary share
(ZZT—"%F : AR¥0.087T) (2016: RMBO0.08) 227 260
454 260

BT -

Note:

EARAR-_ZBE-N\F=ZA-+—HETHNEH
b BRERERHARSFREBRARK.07T
(ZZ—RF : ARK0.087T) » BURBE TIZA
RANBTELEEGRE AN EBRREE
ZERSTERNMBREANEB/AME - NFE
BBREMRMRARBRNMRSEEEBE=
E-REENRARE R T —tFENTHRK
B BERARBTABIL (ZE—RF 8-

At the meeting held on 21 March 2018, the directors proposed final dividend
of RMBO0.07 (2016: RMBO0.08) per ordinary share. This proposed dividend,
which is calculated on the Company’s number of ordinary shares as at the
date of the board meeting, is not recognised as a liability in these financial
statements. The total dividends paid by the Company, including the final
dividend for the year 2016 and the interim dividend for the year 2017,
amounting to RMB487 million (2016: Nil) are reflected in the current year
financial statements.

M (k) AMAE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
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TH.ERER 15. EARNINGS PER SHARE
—=—+tF ZE—RF
2017 2016
ARBEHER ARBEET
RMB million RMB million
EREANEERF TIEE  The calculation of the basic and diluted
RHEIREE earnings per share is based on the
following data:
B F Earnings
AU ESRER R EE Profit attributable to shareholders
AFHARRFRRE of the Company for the purposes of
FEAE A calculating basic and diluted
earnings per share 1,175 629
—E-+tF —T—RF
2017 2016
igvig 4= Number of shares
RUGTEERERR Weighted average number of ordinary
e R AT ER shares for the purpose of calculating
hnHE 2R basic and diluted earnings per share 3,244,176,905 2,873,592,085
ZE—tF —E-RF
2017 2016
AR¥ T AR
RMB RMB
SREARBEER Basic and diluted earnings per share 0.36 0.22

AU EEE=_Z—
—Etirtk%ﬂm
HEEMH=
&%ﬁ%fk¢m
(FIsE=+\)

BEREABN NG REE RN E G

B FXPTRE—E -

NETZA=+
3B P N
—RNENATNEDE
XA EERE -

The weighted average numbers of ordinary shares used in
the calculation of earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2016 has been adjusted for the bonus element
of the rights issue following the allotment and issuance of

the rights shares on 18 August 2016 (Note 28).

The denominators used are the same as those detailed

above for both basic and diluted earnings per share.
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+
[
filt
i
[

16. FIXED ASSETS

13

BERA Hit¥ - BERRE
wEERY Other property, plant and equipment
TR
Interests in
leasehold EpE: &3 Hib
land held for Buildings BEEE e
own use under held for Other fixed gt it
operating leases own use assets Sub-total Total
ARBEERT  ARKBEERT  AR¥AER  AR¥BEET  AREEER
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million
KA Cost
m=ZE- F-HA-H At 1 January 2016 3,695 9,150 20,763 29,913 33,608
E Additions 256 41 1,448 1,489 1,745
ik Disposals (19) (189) (737) (926) (945)
ELipr] Reclassifications 30 445 (490) (45) (15)
5 EH Exchange difference W) (17) (49) (66) (67)
RZE—R"ETZA=F+—H At31December 2016
e S and 1 January 2017 3,961 9,430 20,935 30,365 34,326
AE Additions 36 131 1,585 1,716 1,752
HE Disposals (25) (18) (487) (505) (530)
BN Reclassifications - 145 (145) - -
EXER Exchange difference 1 18 49 67 68
RZZ—+F+ZA=+—H At31 December 2017 3,973 9,706 21,937 31,643 35,616
ZARERAE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment
RZE- E-A-H At 1 January 2016 561 2,555 9,103 11,658 12,219
TEERE Charge for the year 83 374 1,240 1,614 1,697
HERE Written back on disposals ) (106) (582) (688) (694)
BRRAEER Impairment loss recognised - 53 238 291 291
ENHE Reclassifications - - (15) (15) (15)
ERES Exchange difference (1 (18) (53) (71 (72)
RZF-AF+=A=1—H At31 December 2016 and
kZE—+F-A—H 1 January 2017 637 2,858 9,931 12,789 13,426
TEEFE Charge for the year 87 372 1,204 1,596 1,683
HERE Written back on disposals (5) (14) (410) (424) (429)
ERAZRESE Impairment loss recognised - 135 280 415 415
EiER Exchange difference 1 18 53 71 72
RZE—+F+ZA=+—H At31 December 2017 720 3,369 11,078 14,447 15,167
REFE Net book values
RZE—tF+ZA=F+—H At31December 2017 3,253 6,337 10,859 17,196 20,449
RZZ—R$TZA=+—H At31 December 2016 3,324 6,572 11,004 17,576 20,900

M (k) AMAE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
4] 2017 ANNUAL REPORT
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TREEEE @) 16. FIXED ASSETS (Continued)
HMETEETEZREEETIR  # Other fixed assets mainly comprise construction in
B HEMERE  BRMEERE progress, plant and machinery, leasehold improvements,
RRE - furniture and equipment and motor vehicles.

ERIE BERE  EEUERE
Construction Plant and Leasehold At CEl
in progress machinery  improvements Others Total
AREREL  AR¥EEL  ARWEER  AREEER  ARMEER
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million

SINIWILVLS TVIDNVNIA

S Cost
RZE-~E—A—H At 1January 2016 1,210 18,500 5 1,048 20,763
WE Additions 1,311 113 - 24 1,448
HeE Disposals (1) (673) - (63) (737)
EX ] Reclassifications (1743) 1,198 - 55 (490)
EXEE Exchange difference 3 (52) - - (49)
RIB—E+ZA=t-BK At 31 December 2016
“5-t+%5-f-H and 1 January 2017 780 19,086 5 1,064 20,935
AE Additions 1,218 342 - 26 1,585
irkS Disposals - (393) - (94) (487)
EE ] Reclassifications (889) 700 - b (145)
EREE Exchange difference (5) B4 - - 49
RIE-t4rZA=t-A At 31 December 2017 1,104 19,789 5 1,039 21937
ZHHEREE Accumulated depreciation and impairment
RZZ-~E-R-H At 1 January 2016 2 8,416 5 680 9,108
REEME Charge for the year - 1147 - 9 1,240
HERR Written back on disposals - (529) - (53) (582)
BERZRESR Impairment loss recognised - 233 - 5 238
i Reclassifications - (17) - 2 (15)
EXZE Exchange difference - (53) - - (5)
i e At 31 December 2016
“2-t%-A-A and 1 January 2017 2 9,197 5 727 9,931
TERHE Charge for the year - 1135 - 89 122
HERM Written back on disposals - (327) - (83) (410)
ERER IEER Impairment loss recognised - 275 - 5 280
ERES Exchange difference - 53 - - 53
RZB—+E+A=T-F At 31 December 2017 2 10,333 5 738 11,078
FERE Net book values
RZE—+E+ZA=1-H At 31 December 2017 1,102 9,456 - 301 10,859
RZE-~E+ZA=1-H At 31 December 2016 778 9,889 - 337 11,004
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TtEHE 17. GOODWILL
RMB million

A Cost '

RZE—RF—H—H At 1 January 2016 18,326

PE 3 ZHE Exchange difference - 96

R-F—RE+-A=1+—H At 31 December 2016

T—t+tF—H—H and 1 January 2017 8,422

ME =5 Exchange difference (104)

R-T—tF+-_A=1t—H At 31 December 2017 8,318
IREE Carrying values

RZE—+F+_A=+—H At 31 December 2017 8,318

R-T—RE+-A=1+—H At 31 December 2016 8,422
HERAEIEERSRELEMN The carrying amount of goodwill was allocated to the
(fCGUD) » kM AR E B R #E T H IR cash generating units (“CGU”), each of which represent an
ERMEATAREESEMBZEESR operating entity within the operating segments identified
B UTARE R 2 EME by the Group for the purpose of segment reporting. A

segment level summary of the goodwill allocation is
presented below:

—E—tF ZE—REF

2017 2016

ARBEER AREBET

RMB million RMB million

H® Eastern region 2,281 2,334
& Central region 828 829
= Southern region 5,209 5,259
CGUz Al Bl & %8 Th i A (B B &t The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined
HEBT ZEERERAREE based on a value in use calculation. These calculations use
BE®ABs AFHVBBBEMIEL cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
EHReRE BEAFH RSN by management covering a five-year period, cash flows
SERANTHANEFTFRAERER beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the
9N% (ZE—R"F :87%) ZFIE key assumptions including expected revenue growth rates
REBARZSIFE - stated below and a discount rate of 9.1% (2016: 8.7%) per

annum.

1 3 M (k) AMAE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
4] 2017 ANNUAL REPORT
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TLEE @ 17. GOODWILL (Continued)
BHEAFHRBERE 2
BB ER
Expected revenue growth rate
beyond the five years'
financial budget
(%)
—E—tF —E-RF
2017 2016
R@ Fastern region 2% 2%-3%
Rl Central region 2%-3% 2%-3%
F @ Southern region 2%-3% 2%-3%
TANEMELEE 18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
[
Brand names
ARBEET
RMB million
(D@ Cost
RZE—RF—H—H At 1 January 2016 475
e Disposals (2)
PE H =58 Exchange difference (4)
R-_ZB—A"F+-_A=+—A8Kk At 31 December 2016
e e U H e and 1 January 2017 469
bE W =%8 Exchange difference 4
e e O = o — At 31 December 2017 473
Rt RORE Accumulated amortisation and impairment
ROB—NF—H—H At 1 January 2016 281
RS HEH Charge for the year 24
& #EEl Written back on disposals (2)
PE 5 =R Exchange difference (5)
RZE-—ARE+HA=1t—HRK At 31 December 2016
—T—+%—H—H and 1 January 2017 298
NEEHEEH Charge for the year 23
ME =50 Exchange difference 5
RZE—+F+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2017 326
REFE Net book values
RZZE—+F+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2017 147
RZT—A"F+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2016 171
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Th.AERE 19. AVAILABLE FOR SALE |NVESTMENT :
Bt o
2017 Mz
ARMEET EEET
RMB million RMB million
HR A E TR Listed equity shares in Chinese L
ArBE Mainland, at fair value 9 9

EEERENAAEE
WEMEE -

-t ENRE

= e

The fair values of investment in listed equity shares are

determined with reference to quoted market bid prices.

20. PREPAYMENTS

S S
2017 2016
ARBEET AREBET
RMB million RMB million

BERETEECZFSRIA Deposit payment for purchase
of fixed assets 81 89

- EFE 21. STOCKS

—e—t% S
2017 2016
ARBEHET AREBET
RMB million RMB million
R Raw materials 659 571
SFEm M BEME Consumables and packing materials 4,069 4,464
& Work-in-progress 244 265
K Finished goods 854 810
5,826 6,110

M (k) AMAE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
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ItLESREMERRRE 22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
—B—tF —EREF
2017 2016
ARBEER ARBEEETT
RMB million RMB million
EWE=FEFHENR Trade receivables from third parties 609 688
FEW SN R EE KB A A Trade receivables from fellow
RN subsidairies 33 41
AR Provision for doubtful debts (35) (40)
607 689
Al Y Bl L EFH Value-added tax recoverable 125 190
SN Prepayments 154 196
[EANE & Deposits paid 7 5
Hoh eI IR Other receivables 112 172
JEW — AR A RIGRIE Amount due from a holding company
(PrHE) (Note) - 1
e SNCI =Sy =N Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
I8 (MEE) (Note) 1 -
1,006 1,253
BEE - Note:
Rl — TR AR RE R EARREASEIK Amounts due from a holding company and fellow subsidiaries were
- 2R RERRE - unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
AEB—RETEFPUATZEER The Group normally trades with its customers under the

following credit terms:

SINIWILVLS TVIDNVNIA

(R) BRF3 5k (a) cash upon delivery; or
(Z) Z+EATRKE (b) open credit from 30 to 90 days
REEBNERE=F K AGIEE The following is the aging analysis of trade receivables
WEBARE SRR ZERDITOT from third parties and fellow subsidiaries at the balance
sheet date:
—=—+tF ZTE—RF
2017 2016
ARBEET ARBBEET
RMB million RMB million
rEER The Group
0-30k 0-30 days 78 96
31-60K 31-60 days 58 58
61-90K 61-90 days 34 57
> 90K > 90 days 437 478
607 689
REBRGEEBNE S K H gk The fair value of the Group’s trade and other receivables at
HAnBEAAKRRERS balance sheet date was approximate to the corresponding

carrying amount.
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L ESREMBWRIE @) 22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (co
RRERZ22H MOVEMENT IN THE PROVISION FOR DOUI
DEBTS
=E—tF
2017 . : :
ARMERT ~ ARNEER
RMB million RMB v
R—HA—H At 1 January 40 39
B R AEEE Impairment losses recognised 6 21
AeErR e mEEs 8 Amounts written off as uncollectible (11) (20)
W+ZA=+—H At 31 December 35 40
BB KB E R A BRiR AGING OF PAST DUE BUT NOT IMPAIRED
S S
2017 2016
AR¥EEBT AREBET
RMB million RMB million
B 230H Less than 30 days past due 124 56
#HA31-60H 31-60 days past due 6
#1H161-90H 61-90 days past due 4 5
BHER90 B M | Over 90 days past due 76 66
210 131
mAREH - IR E R E W RIE - Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
RARBEMNNER - o F19 8 to a wide range of customers for whom there was no recent
RECEE history of default.

14 M (b)) B /A S CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
4] 2017 ANNUAL REPORT
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

—E—tF ZE-RF
2017 2016
ARBEER ARBBET
RMB million RMB million
BNE=FESHER Trade payables to third parties 1,616 1,583
AR EENB AR Trade payables to fellow
H Z 8RR subsidiaries 1 -
1,617 1,583
TEWFRIE Receipt in advance 654 613
TRIZEM (FE1) Accruals (Note 1) 8,734 8,091
BEiiEe Deposit received 4,243 4,404
EAth R 3K Other payables 1,329 1,670
e AR & B K Amounts due to holding companies
(KizE2) (Note 2) 28 50
16,605 16,411
B 5 Notes:
1@ BREAEEARKS77568T (ZF— 1. Including accruals on promotion and marketing expenses of

NE ARM6,363B8TT) MTEREHER
HEER -

o

A NEE NG|
5iEg o

RIBREEA - %8 KR

REZEAHENE SRR ZREDT

RMB®6,775 million (2016: RMB6,363 million).

2. Amounts due to holding companies were unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables at the
balance sheet date:

—E—+tF S AS

2017 2016

ARBEER ARBBET

RMB million RMB million

0-30k 0-30 days 1,535 1,461
31-60K 31-60 days 17 22
61-90K 61-90 days 8 12
> 90K > 90 days 57 88
1,617 1,583

PN EA m%ﬁ%&ﬁm%ﬁ% The fair value of the Group’s trade and other payables at
HAABEAERAERS balance sheet date was approximate to the corresponding

carrying amount.
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IR B —EERQFERK

RZE—XRF B HERAGTER
BIEARE1,7008 8 T LB 1,143
BETHBERARE, ozzﬁ%ﬁ)
MNER UREERASEERRT - 25
BERNKRIBN N EBIERIT H%Tﬁ%\

24. LOANS FROM A HOLDING COMPANY |

Loans from a holding company in 2016 included loans
of RMB1,700 million and HK$1,143 million (equivalent to
RMB1,022 million) which are unsecured, bear interest at
3.8% and Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) +
0.8% per annum, respectively, and were fully repaid during

([HIBORJ) + 0.8%itBRR=_T—+ 2017.
FREREEE -
TIHREHER 25A. SHORT TERM LOANS
—E—+tF ZTE—RF
2017 2016
ARBEHER ARBBEET
RMB million RMB million
RESEHRITER Current portion of long term
BVEAER 5> unsecured bank loans 84 -
RHERIRTTE K Short term unsecured bank loans 2,299 1,592
2,383 1,592
L RER 25B. LONG TERM LOANS
et S
2017 2016
ARBEER ARBEET
RMB million RMB million
EARIRIRITER Unsecured bank loans 1,171 2,953
IR E) B E 2 BN EE Current portion included in current
liabilities (84) -
1,087 2,953
S e
2017 2016
ARBEET AREBEET
RMB million RMB million
EES@EEZ#EHHH‘B o e The non-current portion of long term
WATFHER liabilities are repayable as follows:
RITER Bank Loans
—FUEEMEFR After 1 year, but within 2 years 1,086 2,505
MEALEEZERFR After 2 years, but within 5 years - 447
HFi& After 5 years 1 1
1,087 2,953
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TILREER &
$’EIT§NHE’JE7¥K AEERE AT
RARMEIIET (ZE—RF - AR
ko9 5EIT) c RZE—EF+=-A=

T-B EBAFER/ARMKI0.1E
ST —RF : AR¥29.5(87T) °

FEBEUBBRAREREMZF
BER . B DRI EHIBOREHE A
ERERTTARRE 2 R R bl

AEEZBERZER
1.09%%E2.80% (= T —
1.02%%3.92%) 75 -

4 % X Bl
NEBF

A IR SER IR

FRELEHBEEERABEZEHUWT

25B. LONG TERM LOANS (continued)

The aggregate amount of committed bank borrowing
facilities available to the Group is RMB3.01 billion (2016:
RMB2.95 billion). As at 31 December 2017, a sum of
RMB3.01 billion (2016: RMB2.95 billion) has been drawn
down.

The Group has floating rate borrowings denominated in
Hong Kong Dollars and Renminbi with interest rates linked
to HIBOR and the lending rate stipulated by the People’s
Bank of China respectively.

The effective annual interest rates on the Group’s floating
rate borrowings range from mainly 1.09% to 2.80% (2016:
from 1.02% to 3.92%) per annum.

26. DEFERRED TAXATION

The movement in deferred taxation assets and liabilities
recognised during the year is as follows:

HE BEREM
BiE Impairment, provision /it
Tax losses and others Total
“E-tf ZEF  ZB-t§f CTF ZEB-t§ 2%
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
AREEER AREEEL AR¥EER AREEEL AREERT AREAER
RMB million  RMB million  RMBmillion  RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million
EERAEE Deferred taxation assets
R—A—H At 1 January 81 12 1,930 1,643 2,011 1,655
ERABRRTA Credited to consolidated
profit and loss account 20 69 230 287 250 356
T o e ] At 31 December 101 81 2,160 1,930 2,261 2,011

RIERHIBEENEBEOBEEN S5 E
ARARERRBFNER B LR A
BMEEBEERR R —tF+
ZA=T—H ASBRERZHB
EEAEARK298FET (T —X

F:AR®E3 71288 ) MAKE
REEETE A DB MAEFHERLD

FERBUALEE  HeBRENRNAF
WEIR 2 RER B EEEEARE
289 BN (ZE—AF: ARK
3,673EE&TT) °

Deferred taxation assets are recognised for tax losses
carried forward to the extent that realisation of the related
tax benefit through the future taxable profits is probable.
At 31 December 2017, the Group has unrecognised tax
losses of RMB2,998 million (2016: RMB3,712 million)
which is uncertain as to whether it can be utilised to set
off against future taxable income. Out of this amount,
the unrecognised tax loss of RMB2,859 million (2016:
RMB3,673 million) will expire within 5 years.
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A IREERL IR (@)
DT AR EGABERBRETRRY

26. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

The components of deferred taxation liabilities rec

BELERBEABEKRS D MRFAZE

in the consolidated balance sheet and the move

g : during the year are as follows:
ROTFEZ
ENFREH
IEEFIEHE  Withholding
Accelerated tax on
tax undistributed a3
depreciation profits Total
AREBET ARBEHETL AREGER
RMB million RMB million RMB million
RZZE—X"F—HF—H At 1 January 2016 145 113 258
e BER (FTA)#k  (Credited)/charged to
consolidated profit
and loss account (7) 9 2
[ = Exchange rate adjustment 1 10 11
RZZ—RE+ZA=+—H At31 December 2016
;EZ_ET—+F—H—H and 1 January 2017 139 132 271
EiREBERATA Credited to consolidated profit
and loss account 7) (2) (9)
[E R Exchange rate adjustment (1) (6) (7)
RZZE—+tF+=ZA=+—H At31 December 2017 131 124 255

RIBFEARKMBES - HIERG
MEHPEMBARA T N\F—
A — B BREUR A B P E M i B B
U o RAEFL IR A K 2 B A B R A
AERMNKREMOKE S LRIER
e

Under the Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred
taxation has been provided for undistributed profits to the
extent that declarations of dividends are anticipated in the
foreseeable future.

M (k) AMAE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
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Ittt HMERBERS 27. OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
R-E—+tF+_-_A=+—H &b At 31 December 2017, other non-current liabilities
FRBDEERECERAEEREN included government grants of RMB1,487 million (2016:
B #EMARK1,487A 8T (2T — RMB881 million) recognised as deferred revenue. The
NE ARMS81HEETT) - BB government grants mainly represent subsidies granted by
FE2RPFEAR LN B BATHE E B PRC governmental authorities towards the purchases of
BEHE A mHAL - leasehold land.

s I N 28. SHARE CAPITAL

e i .
2017 2016
RHOEE HE & &R HE
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
AER ARWEER BER AREBET
million RMB million million RMB million
BETRERERA  Issued and fully paid
AT At 1 January 3,244 14,090 2,433 5,941
MEEREITZ Issue of new shares
ARt (kR under rights issue
IR ZER) (net of share issue
(P E) expenses) (Note) - - 811 8,149
R, e st At 31 December 3,244 14,090 3,244 14,090
B E Note:

REBEZZT—A"F+-A=+—HLFER " K
AREBRER =T —A"FLAZ+-AEHE=
A& AR D 7 B — AR L AR AR 1 ) EL2E LA AR B 611,73
T (FBERARK10.057T) MREEHITRAER
811,044,226 A% ) - HRFHER =T —F
NA+NBZEK °

During the year ended 31 December 2016, 811,044,226 new shares were
issued and allotted by the Company pursuant to a rights issue at the
subscription price of HK$11.73 (equivalent to RMB10.05) per share, on the
basis of one rights share for every three shares held by its shareholders on
22 July 2016. The rights issue was completed on 18 August 2016.
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thERERERERMTE 29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CAS
STATEMENT _
B RETHZRESARE A CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
—E—-+tF
2017
ARBBEER
RMB million RMB million -
R 25 A& A Profit before taxation 1,816 1,789,
FE Adjustments for: !
P H W Exchange gain (10) (32)
FBUA Interest income (93) 71)
MEZH Interest expenses 83 104
HEBTEEEF G Net gain on disposal of fixed assets (101) (28)
EHRZETEE Impairment loss recognised
RIERE on fixed assets 415 291
ERRZFERERR Impairment loss recognised on stocks 324 173
e Depreciation 1,683 1,697
HEt|mpEEs Amortisation of other intangible
assets 23 24
EHERBTHE Government grants recognised (28) (146)
EEESEHAIZ Operating cash inflows before
KEEEN working capital changes 4,112 3,751
GFEZEE Changes in stocks (40) 208
B NEMBWIEZ#E) Changes in trade and other
receivables 268 277
EHNEHMBEMNFHIABZEE) Changes in trade and other payables 713 853
KRS RS Cash generated from operations 5,053 5,089

14 M (b)) B /A S CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
4] 2017 ANNUAL REPORT
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IINWEGRERERERME @ 29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW
STATEMENT (Continued)
i mEEHELE2BERER B RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
H—EZER
ARERK
EHEX REER Loans from
Short-term Long-term a holding CEil
loans loans company Total

ARBBEET AR¥BET ARKEET ARKBEETRT
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million

RZE—tF At 1 January 2017
s R 1,692 2,953 2,722 7,267
WemE Cash flows 770 (1,605) (2,715) (3,550)
SN 2 Foreign exchange
movement (83) (177) (7) (247)
DR3BS Non-cash movements
K2 E) 84 (84) - -
RZZE-—+F At 31 December 2017
R Ay 2,383 1,087 - 3,470
=t BAREE 30. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
—E—tF —ET—RF
2017 2016
ARBEER ARBEETT
RMB million RMB million
REEBMATHRBEREE Capital commitments outstanding on
BEZERFEENT acquisition of fixed assets at the
balance sheet date are as follows:
B2 4B MR B Contracted but not provided for 2,055 5,017

SIN3WILYLS TYDONYNIS
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Zt-

B Anheuser-Busch InBev SA/NV
(TABI]) T3 B Effha LA 421K (81,600
BEELERZEAAN BERARE
11,001 B&ET) WIBEEBEEEESR
RAF([EBSIEEHE] 49%MK #
([WHE ) « KRR REIEEBEE (5
M) B AT ([SABMiller Asial) B
’“%IJ%E%?FEJ%?EDEEEM%&49%1&

o HBBEBR_FT—XR"Ft+tA+—H
TR > TERIE ﬁé/Fﬁ%?Eﬂi‘Ei@}iZZ%K
RANEENE AT

E/\_E NEAN > ARAEBERA

= %Lﬂxﬁxfﬁ%% P& £t B% f% 19 B9
CERBESRERBKG B
11 7375(7@ J‘ﬁA/\Eﬁ%m 057T) it
77811,044,2260% A% - EHE OB K
9,514%%7‘1(?%%5%%%@) Fr5 508
FTEREWERE - HRERZZT—
NENATNBORERET - Bt
BRAEF (BB EELAE - it
FEHTNEREZEEITET -

CEETHNRIE 31. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
ERABEA AS LESSEE
—E—+tF —~"F
2017 2016
ARBBEER AREBET
RMB million RMB million
REER - BETAIFEH At the balance sheet date, the total
BT ER T B future minimum lease payments
S HEBEKIELLE © under non-cancellable operating
leases are payable as follows:
—E—FR - Within one year 64 57
—EE_FEENLF - In the second to fifth year inclusive
(BEEREME) 30 20
—hFZIE& - After five years 37 2
131 79
EEMEFER—E2-THF2HEF Operating leases are negotiated for lease terms principally
HARER o ranged from 1 to 20 years.
EFEBIRR 2R S 32. TRANSACTION WITH NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS
RZE-—XRE=ZAZH' ARQdA On 2 March 2016, the Company and Anheuser-Busch InBev

SA/NV (“ABI”) entered into a sales and purchase agreement
to acquire the 49% equity interest in China Resources
Snow Breweries Limited (“CRSB”), a company previously
owned as to 51% by the Company and 49% by SABMiller
Asia Limited (“SABMiller Asia”), at a total consideration
of US$1,600 million and transaction cost (equivalent to
RMB11,001 million) (the “Acquisition”). The Acquisition was
completed on 11 October 2016 and CRSB become a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company upon completion.

During the year 2016, the Company raised approximately
HK$9,514 million, before expenses, by way of a rights issue
of 811,044,226 shares at a subscription price of HK$11.73
(equivalent to RMB10.05) per rights share, on the basis
of one rights share for every three ordinary shares. The
proceeds were mainly used for funding the Acquisition.
The rights shares were allotted and issued on 18 August
2016. As a result, the earnings/(losses) per share has
been adjusted and prior year comparative has also been
restated for such effect.

M (k) AMAE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
4] 2017 ANNUAL REPORT
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EFFEBIRR 25
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o R (RE) AR AR (TF#H
SH)R-_F-AFFERETER
BEReARE BIERERE K=
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AREEEMB AR (BRAREZEH
BAL) ETZRFENEAKRARY
35 WA AR EEF IR o BRAM T
ERATERBEZR S REHIIN A&
BHETT NIISREARMERS ¢

32.

33.

TRANSACTION WITH NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (Continued)

In addition, China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited
(“CRH”) provided shareholder’s loans to the Company
during the year 2016 for funding the Acquisition. As at 31
December 2016, RMB2,722 million was provided to the
Group (Note 24).

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries,
which are related parties of the Company, have been
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in
this Note. In addition to the transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the
Group entered into the following material related party
transactions:

—E—tF ZE—REF
2017 2016
ARBBEER ARBEET
RMB million RMB million
BEX TR aRM < IR Receipt of services from
—EERR AR (FiFE) A holding company (Note) 81 78
M TS ARHEEE M Sales of goods to
ISYNGIESE )= YN Fellow subsidiaries 89 149
FRI AR ZEEMLLTH  Operating lease expenses to
HRREE 2 HBAR] Fellow subsidiaries 24 22
KRB TIARZFEHA Interest income from
ISYNGIESE gl =YNG] Fellow subsidiaries 9 -
T3 RARLZFEZH Interest expenses to
i /NG Holding companies 32 22
ISYNSIESE I dln) =N A fellow subsidiary - 4

i
TR & A — IR A ARG - HARA Tl
Bl DERAFARHEEHE -

Note:
Administrative service is provided by a holding company, of which costs are
identifiable and are allocated on a fair and equitable basis.
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S ERKBERS @)

Z

REMPBERNEEREFERZX
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AEEAHAPEEBERAF ([
B ) (%A A heh ERAEH)
T EREALAEEZKE - B
MELAEEETI RPN KEE
R B R BIR ERE R E
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TEMETERAK EEAA K
SHEAREEN  RERBYEE
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BEE - ERSEBETIRP (B
BEWSRBY, REITERRIAH
ZIERAIR) TR R B — R TRl
e ARERA  REFRAEX
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AEEREERDEERTMERS
TEEEAR  BEFHERGA Y
BHEAMELT - AFERELBEXINT
BREERAUGRSHESINEIEE
BABZHME (ZZ—RF &) -

33. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSA

(Continued)
TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES WITH OTHER ‘ \
CONTROLLED ENTITIES IN CHINESE MAINLAMD '

The Group itself is a part of a larger group of companies
under China Resources Company Limited (“CRC”) which
is controlled by the People’s Republic of China (“PRC?)
government. Apart from the transactions with CRC group,
the Group also conducts businesses with entities directly
or indirectly controlled, jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by the PRC government in the ordinary course
of business. The directors are of the opinion that those
entities other than the CRC group do not have the power
to govern or participate in the financial and operating
policies of the Group. The transactions including sales
and purchases of goods and services and bank deposits
and corresponding interest income, with these entities are
conducted in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.
The Group believes that it has provided, at the best of its
knowledge, adequate and appropriate disclosure of related
party transactions as summarised above.

COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

The Group regards the directors and the five highest
paid employees are key management personnel and
the respective compensation is set out in Note 10
to consolidated financial statement. There was no
remuneration paid for key management personnel other
than directors or the five highest paid employees during
the year (2016: Nil).

M (k) AMAE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
4] 2017 ANNUAL REPORT
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NEEEBEBRRRAEED 34. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY
FoEEREX A BALANCE SHEET
m—-T—tF+-A=1t—8 At 31 December 2017
=Z—t&F —EREF
2017 2016
ARBEET AREBET
RMB million RMB million
FRBEE Non-current assets
BElE&E Fixed assets
— Hibz - #as N ERE - Other property, plant and equipment 2 3
NI NP Interests in subsidiaries 15,626 16,722
15,628 16,725
mEEE Current assets
B 5 KE b B FRIA Trade and other receivables 119 152
W& RIRTEF Cash and bank balances 19 698
138 850
REEE Current liabilities
Z 5 K H M ER TR Trade and other payables (36) 61)
B — R AR ER Loans from a holding company - (2,722)
MHIE Short term loans (460) (346)
(496) (3,129)
REBEEFE Net current liabilities (358) (2,279)
BEERARBER Total assets less current liabilities 15,270 14,446
FRBER Non-current liabilities
RHER Long term loans (669) -
FEEFIERE Deferred taxation liabilities - (1)
(669) (1)
14,601 14,445
AR Capital and reserves
&7 Share capital 14,090 14,090
i Reserves 511 355
14,601 14,445
BRBA CHEN LANG R E® LAI PO SING, TOMAKIN
EFDirector EFDirector

151

FUELE




B I 5 e 5

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IR EEEBREREEED @) 34. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVE

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
2 ARTRREEED B RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

BE_Z—+F+-A=+—H For the year ended 31 December 2017

PR 1
#ETE
R H
Shares held
ELf4HE for restricted RERER
Exchange incentive Retained &t
reserve award scheme profits Total
AREBETT ARKBEERT ARBEELT ARBEERT
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million
RZZE—RF At 1 January 2016
—H—H (2,973) (19) 2,967 (25)
[ERER Exchange differences
on translation 744 - - 744
KFEZRIE Loss for the year - - (364) (364)
RIZE—RF At 31 December 2016
+=-A=+—8 and 1 January 2017
M- —+4F
—H—H (2,229) (19) 2,603 355
ERER Exchange difference
on translation (989) - - (989)
KEEm 7 Profit for the year - - 1,632 1,632
f% 2 Dividend - - (487) (487)
RZZE—+tF At 31 December 2017
+=ZA=+—8 (3,218) (19) 3,748 511

ARBAIHSERTFREZHEBAR
BIb0bE B ZE—AF: AR®
431EBTT) °

L HEGRE MK ®RE

Reserves of the Company available for distribution to
the shareholders amounted to RMB1,505 million (2016:
RMB431 million).

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements set out on pages 93
to 152 were approved by the board of directors on 21 March
2018.

35.

FREEFI2EMH RN ]RSE
EEEFEN T \F=A=-+—
HELAE -

M (k) AMAE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
4] 2017 ANNUAL REPORT
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

MRZZT—+tF+=A=+—H At31 December 2017

RARDH
Percentage of capital
BRTEERRE /HRER ARERE  ADNEARE  WELEEE
KEAR Issued ordinary share capital/ Attributable  Held by the Heldby ¥EZ%%
Subsidiaries registered capital to the Group Company  subsidiaries Principal activities
RE R
Incorporated in Hong Kong
ZaRmEAARA 1RERR 100.0 - 1000 B
CRE Beverage Trading Limited 2 ordinary shares Financing
REBEZHEEMRL
Incorporated in British Virgin Islands
ERSEREARAR 42,800,400 R BRAE 1 E T2 ERRK 1000 1000 - REER
China Resources Snow Breweries Limited 42,800,400 ordinary shares Investment holding
of US$1 each
RoE R TR L
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland
o FRETEE (1)) BRARAT AR¥256,143,85370 1000 - 1000 BENHELEER
China Resources Snow Breweries RMB256,143,853 Manufacturing and distribution
(Sichuan) Co., Ltd of beer products
o FEEEWE (RR) ARARLAT AR%131,270,0007T 1000 - 1000 BEMHEREES
China Resoures Snow Breweries RMB131,270,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(Guangan) Co., Ltd. of beer products
o FREWE (B5) ARARAT ARH245,792,5017T 1000 - 1000 BENHEREESR
RMB245,792,501 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o ERTRRE (TH) BRAA 31,200,000% 7 100.0 - 1000 BEMHELEER
China Resources Snowflake Brewery US$31,200,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(Jilin) Co., Ltd. of beer products o
:
o ZRTRE (WER) BRAA AR%260,000,0007T 100.0 - 1000 BEMHEREER sa
RMB260,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution 4 %ﬁw
of beer products g off
z
A
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

RZT—+F+=A=+—H At 31 December 2017

RARD
Percentage of capital
BRTEERRA /ERER rEEEE  ARRBE  WEARRE
HWEAR Issued ordinary share capital/ Attributable  Held by the Heldby ¥EZ%%
Subsidiaries registered capital to the Group Company  subsidiaries Principal activities
R BT ()
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland (Continued)
w ZESTEE (Z8) ARAT ARE438,147 5007 100.0 - 1000 BENHERBER
China Resources Snow Breweries RMB438,147,500 Manufacturing and distribution
(Anhui) Co., Ltd. of beer products X o
o EEERBE (RE) BRAT ARE652,000,0007 100.0 - 1000 BEMHERLER
China Resources Snow Brewery RMB652,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(Wuhan) Co., Ltd. of beer products
o EESTEE (hE) BRAF 98,942,290.82% T 100.0 - 1000 AEHREER
US$98,942,290.82 Distribution of beer products
w EREREE (tR) BRAF 21,000,000%7 100.0 - 1000 BEMHEREER
US$21,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
w ERZREE (ER) BRAA 55,850,000 100.0 - 1000 RENHELEER
15$55,850,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
w ZRETWE (KE) ARAR 32,797 869% T 100.0 - 100.0 BEMHELEER
China Resources Snow Brewery US$32,797,869 Manufacturing and distribution
(Dalian) Co., Ltd. of beer products
w BEESERE (NI ARAF AR 264,400,007 100.0 - 1000 BENHEREER
RMB264,400,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o EREVERE (85) BRAT AR 95,000,007 100.0 - 1000 BEMHEREER
RMB95,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products

M (k) AMAE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
4] 2017 ANNUAL REPORT
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
M-Z—+F+=A=+—H At31 December 2017

REBA

Percentage of capital

BRTERRRE /2AMEA AREEE  ARARE  WELRRE
KEAR Issued ordinary share capital/ Attributable  Held by the Heldby TE%%
Subsidiaries registered capital to the Group Company  subsidiaries Principal activities
R ERERA L ()
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland (Continued)
O CERZREE (RF) BRAA ARE69,440,0007C 100.0 - 1000 BEMHEREER
China Resources Snow Breweries RMB69,440,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(Tianmen) Co., Ltd. of beer products
o ERSEBE(RRT) ARAT 29,166,116.38% T 100.0 - 100.0 REMHELEER
China Resources Snow Breweries US$29,166,116.38 Manufacturing and distribution
(Heilongjiang) Co., Ltd. of beer products
* EEZRWE (IF) ARAA 114,000,000 100.0 - 100.0 BEMHELEER
China Resources Snow Breweries US$114,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(Jiangsu) Limited of beer products
o ERTREE (M) BRAF ARE161,000,0007T 100.0 - 1000 BEMHEREER

*%

*x

*%

*%

ERZEE ORMN) BRAR
China Resources Snow Breweries
(Wenzhou) Co., Ltd.

FRSEWE (1) ARAT

FRERERE (BR) ARAT

ZRSEE (Lk) ARAA

RMB161,000,000

55,800,000% 7
15$55,800,000

58,020,000% 7
U5$58,020,000

88,710,000%
15$88,710,000

ABR#850,000,0007T
RMBB50,000,000

Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products

1000 - 1000 REMHELEER
Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products

100.0 - 1000 HENEEEEER
Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products

100.0 - 1000 BEMHEREER
Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products

100.0 - 1000 REMHELEER
Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

RZT—+F+=A=+—H At 31 December 2017

RARD
Percentage of capital
BRTEERRA /ERER rEEEE  ARRBE  WEARRE
HWEAR Issued ordinary share capital/ Attributable  Held by the Heldby ¥EZ%%
Subsidiaries registered capital to the Group Company  subsidiaries Principal activities
R BT ()
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland (Continued)
* ERZREE(8%) BRAA ARH282,040,0007T 95.73 - 9573 BENHEREER
RMB282,040,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o EEEREE (5) BRAT AR 285,000,0007 100.0 - 1000 BEMHERLER
RMB285,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
» EEETEE (BE) BREAAR ARE34,988,7977C 100.0 - 1000 BEMHEEREER
China Resources Snow Breweries RMB34,988,797 Manufacturing and distribution
(Zigong) Ca., Ltd. of beer products
w ERZREE (K8) BRAA 21,100,000%7 100.0 - 1000 BENHERBER
US$21,100,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o EESERE CBN) ARAA ARH180,000,0007T 100.0 - 1000 HENHELEER
RMB180,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
w EEZREE () BRAA ARE400,000,0007T 100.0 - 1000 RENHELEER
RMB400,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o FRSILEE (1) BAERAT ARE426,000,0007T 100.0 - 1000 BEMHEREER
RMB426,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products

M (k) AMAE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
4] 2017 ANNUAL REPORT
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
M-Z—+F+=A=+—H At31 December 2017

REBEDL
Percentage of capital
BRTERRRE /2AMEA rEEEE  ADIRE  WEARESA
KEAR Issued ordinary share capital/ Attributable  Held by the Heldby TE%%
Subsidiaries registered capital to the Group Company  subsidiaries Principal activities
RRERBERAL (8)
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland (Continued)
O CETEE (R ERAT 48,000,000%7% 100.0 - 1000 REREEREER
US$48,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
* RERENESEREARAR 30,000,000% 7t 100.0 - 1000 BENEEEEER
Tianjin Binhai New Area Snow Breweries  US$30,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
Co., Ltd. of beer products
M=
Notes:

@

*

*

KK

* K

EERA - 2EBIIFEMBARFESRFEREENIIE W EREHINEAEEEEXREEATEATE N ZMBRARFE -
The Directors are of the opinion that a complete list of the particulars of all subsidiaries will be of excessive length and therefore the
above list contains only the particulars of the subsidiaries which materially affect the results or assets of the Group.

BREIAEI  BRRZEREEMERK AL MK SLAEILE -

Unless otherwise stated, the principal country of operation of each company is the same as its place of incorporation.

EREAMEMAL AR - HENEBANS B ZHEEEER (10F) -
For companies incorporated in the Chinese Mainland, the English name is as shown in the Certificate of Approval of each company (if
any).

AELE
Equity Joint Venture

INEZE
Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprise

SINIWILVLS TVIDNVNIA
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B R R
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

et S e Sl —ZT-AfF
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
ARBET AREEET AREEERT AREEET ARMHEER
RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million RMB million
GA%E Consolidated results
HEH Turnover 116,939 133,757 106,872 28,694 29,732
MRS ET/(B#8B) Profit/(loss) attributable
to shareholders 1,524 (128) (4,118) 629 1175
FREMNREF /(EE) Basic earnings/(losses) per share  RMB0.58 ~ RMB(0.05)  RMB(1.56)  RMBO0.22 RMBO.36
IR E Dividend per share
A Interim HK$0.13 HK$0.11 - = RMBO0.07
(RMB0.10)  (RMBO0.09)
3 Special - - HK$12.30 = -
(RMB10.08)
RH Final HK$0.14 HK$0.16 - RMB0.08 RMB0.07
(RMB0.11)  (RMBO0.13)
HK$0.27 HK$0.27  HK$12.30  RMB0.08 RMBO0.14
(RMB0.21)  (RMB0.22) (RMB10.08)
GEEERBR Consolidated balance sheet
ETEE Fixed assets 54,342 69,468 21,389 20,900 20,449
i Goodwill 15,275 18,029 8,326 8,422 8,318
HEtEpEE Other intangible assets 442 402 194 171 147
RERAE Long term investments 417 1116 10 9 9
FERFUR Prepayments 688 801 158 89 81
ERERIEEE Deferred taxation assets 1,211 1,794 1,655 2,011 2,261
MEBAEFE Net current liabilities (8,219) (16,659) (7714) (9,777) (9,809)
EeiEH Employment of capital 64,156 74,957 24,018 21,825 21,456
A Share capital 2,409 15,691 5,941 14,090 14,090
& Reserves 32,243 22,764 4115 3,511 4,331
REXE Shareholders funds 34,652 38,455 10,056 17,6071 18,421
B R R Non-controlling interests 12,216 16,469 9,264 66 64
REER Long term loans 15,210 15,676 3,839 2,953 1,087
HinRHEE Other non-current liabilities 638 2,580 601 934 1,629
EIERIEAE Deferred taxation liabilities 1,440 1,771 258 271 255
BERES Capital employed 64,156 74,951 24,018 21,825 21,456

M (k) AMAE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
4] 2017 ANNUAL REPORT



FERHTES
Chairman and Executive Director
B BA Chen Lang

HEATERHITES
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
= Hou Xiaohai

BEFEVBEERNTES

Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director
LR |aj Po Sing, Tomakin

FHITES

Non-Executive Directors
BRER Chen Rong

Ei ok Lai Ni Hium, Frank

BYFHTES

Independent Non-Executive Directors
A%  HouangTai Ninh

R LiKaCheung, Eric

BIZE  Cheng Mo Chi, Moses
FRE®  Bernard Charnwut Chan
ML Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon

2 8 8 R
CORPORATE INFORMATION

NEAWE
Company Secretary
REE Lai Po Sing, Tomakin

B
Auditor
AR BE TR ER AT

PricewaterhouseCoopers

AfREER T EE KR

Registered Office and Principal Place of Business
BRETEZB265EHAEI918

39/F, China Resources Building

26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
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kEH AR

INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS

AR FHEE

Announcement of Annual Results
201843 H21H

21 March 2018

BERBRARYRSEF R 2 RERY
Last Day of Dealings in Shares with
Entitlement to Final Dividend
201845 H25H

25 May 2018

gEREROBFETTFE

Closure of Register Period

HEARHERRBFAGYNG LREZBRRSN :

2018 5H17HZE2018%5H 241
(EEMRBEEA )

To determine the identity of members
who are entitled to attend and vote at the
annual general meeting:

17 May 2018 to 24 May 2018

(both days inclusive)

BERRZEEZ I RARE 2R
2018458308

To ascertain the members' entitlement to
the proposed final dividend:

30 May 2018

RER BT B

Payment of Final Dividend
201846 A 15 AT

On or about 15 June 2018

R BRTE

Share Registrar
BEEEBRAR
EBERANBER1835

AR L2218

Tricor Standard Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen's Road East
Hong Kong

ERER
Depositary
BNY Mellon Shareowner Services
P.0. Box 30170
College Station
Tx 77842-3170

IR

Stock Codes
EABBERZ ST 00291
1§ : 291 HK

AL 1 0291.HK
ADRAEE © CRHKY
CUSIP: 16940R109
Hong Kong Stock Exchange : 00291
Bloomberg : 291 HK
Reuters : 0291.HK
ADR symbol : CRHKY
CUSIP : 16940R109

REEBE

Investor Relations
TE : ir@cre.com.hk
Email : ir@cre.com.hk

M (k) AMAE CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
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